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NOTICE TO MEMBERS

NOTICE is hereby given that the 57th Annual General MeeƟng of the Members of Assam Carbon Products Limited (‘the 
Company’), will be held on Tuesday, the 29th day of September, 2020 at 10:30 a.m. (IST), through Video Conferencing (“VC”) 
or Other Audio Visual Means (“OAVM”), to transact the following businesses:

ORDINARY BUSINESS:

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass, with or without modificaƟon(s), the following resoluƟons as ordinary resoluƟons: 

1. AdopƟon of Financial Statements:

 To consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the Financial Year ended 31st March, 2020, 
together with the Reports of the Board of Directors and the Auditors thereon. 

2. Re-Appointment of Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka as a Director, liable to reƟre by rotaƟon:

 To appoint Director, in place of Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka, (DIN: 00632156), who reƟres by rotaƟon and being eligible offers 
himself for reappointment. 

3. Re-Appointment of Mrs. Anita Himatsingka as a Director, liable to reƟre by rotaƟon:

 To appoint Director, in place of Mrs. Anita Himatsingka, (DIN: 01201879), who reƟres by rotaƟon and being eligible offers 
herself for reappointment. 

4. Re-appointment of Statutory Auditors for a Second Term of 5(Five) ConsecuƟve Years and to Fix their RemuneraƟon 
thereon and in this regard to Consider and if thought fit, to pass, with or without modificaƟon(s), the following 
resoluƟon as an Ordinary ResoluƟon:

 “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of SecƟon 139, 141, 142 and other applicable provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and the Rules made thereunder [including any statutory modificaƟon(s) or re-enactment thereof for the Ɵme 
being in force], M/s D Basu & Co, Chartered Accountants, (RegistraƟon No. 301111E), be and are hereby re-appointed as 
the Statutory Auditors of the Company for a second term of 5(Five) consecuƟve years to hold office from the conclusion of 
this meeƟng unƟl the conclusion of 62nd Annual General MeeƟng of the Company, at such remuneraƟon plus applicable 
taxes and reimbursement of out of pocket expenses as may be mutually agreed between the Board of Directors of the 
Company and the Statutory Auditors.”

SPECIAL BUSINESS:  

5. Appointment of Mr. Avinash Kumar Gupta (DIN: 08763153) as an Independent Director:

 To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modificaƟon(s) the following resoluƟon as an Ordinary ResoluƟon:

 “RESOLVED THAT Mr. Avinash Kumar Gupta (DIN: 08763153), who was appointed by the Board of Directors as an AddiƟonal 
Director of the Company with effect from 25th June, 2020  and who holds office up to the date of this Annual General 
MeeƟng of the Company in terms of SecƟon 161 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”) and ArƟcle 94 of the ArƟcles of 
AssociaƟon of the Company, being eligible for appointment and in respect of whom the Company has received a noƟce in 
wriƟng from a Member under SecƟon 160 of the Act proposing his candidature for the office of Director of the Company, 
be and is hereby appointed as a Non-ExecuƟve Director of the Company.”

 “RESOLVED FURTHER THAT pursuant to the provisions of SecƟons 149, 150 and 152 and other applicable provisions, if 
any, of the Act, the Companies (Appointment and QualificaƟons of Directors) Rules, 2014, read with Schedule IV to the Act 
and RegulaƟon 17 and other applicable regulaƟons of the SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (LisƟng ObligaƟons and 
Disclosure Requirements) RegulaƟons, 2015 (“SEBI LisƟng RegulaƟons”), as amended from Ɵme to Ɵme, the appointment 
of Mr. Avinash Kumar Gupta, who meets the criteria for independence as provided in SecƟon 149(6) of the Act along with 
the rules framed thereunder, and RegulaƟon 16(1)(b) of SEBI LisƟng RegulaƟons and who has submiƩed a declaraƟon to 
that effect, and who is eligible for appointment as an Independent Director of the Company, not liable to reƟre by rotaƟon, 
for a term of five years commencing from 25th June, 2020 to 24th June, 2025, be and is hereby approved.”

Notice
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6.   RaƟficaƟon of RemuneraƟon of the Cost Auditors:

 To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modificaƟon(s) the following resoluƟon as an Ordinary ResoluƟon:

 “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of SecƟon 148 read with SecƟon 141 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the 
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 [including any statutory modificaƟon(s) or re-enactment thereof for the Ɵme 
being in force], the remuneraƟon payable to M/s. A S & Associates, Cost Accountants (Firm Regd. No.: 000523), appointed 
by the Board of Directors, on the recommendaƟon of the Audit CommiƩee, as the Cost Auditors of the Company, to 
conduct the audit of the cost accounƟng records maintained by the Company for the Products(s) / Services(s) for the 
financial year ending on 31st March, 2021, at a remuneraƟon of Rs. 20,000/- (Rupees Twenty Thousand Only), plus 
applicable taxes and incidental expenses, if any, be and is hereby raƟfied and confirmed”. 

7.  Re-appointment of Mr K K BhaƩacharya, Managing Director: 

 To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modificaƟon(s) the following resoluƟon as a Special ResoluƟon:

 “RESOLVED THAT subject to the provisions of SecƟon 190, 196, 197, 198 and 203 read along with Schedule V and other 
applicable provisions and Rules, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 (including any statutory modificaƟons or re-enactment 
thereof), approval to the Board of Directors of the Company be and is hereby accorded by the shareholders of the Company, 
for the re-appointment of Mr. K K BhaƩacharya (DIN: 07011241) as the Managing Director of the Company for a period 
of 2 (two) years, from 9th October 2020 to 8th October, 2022, on the terms and condiƟons as menƟoned in the draŌ 
Agreement, placed before the meeƟng duly iniƟaled by the Chairman of the Company for the purpose of idenƟficaƟon, 
with an authority to the Board of Directors of the Company to vary, alter or modify the terms of appointment and 
remuneraƟon, as set out in the said draŌ Agreement, within the ceiling limit laid down in Schedule V of the Companies Act 
2013, as amended/revised/ altered/ modified and /or any other statutory modificaƟon or re-enactment thereof and/or 
any guidelines relaƟng to managerial remuneraƟon, as may be noƟfied by the Central Government/ Ministry of Corporate 
Affairs from Ɵme to Ɵme and as may be agreed to by the Board of Directors of the Company and Mr. K K BhaƩacharya, 
Managing Director, without any further approval of the Company in General MeeƟng”.

 “RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Company do hereby approves the appointment and terms of remuneraƟon of Mr. K K. 
BhaƩacharya, Managing Director of the Company in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, with 
effect from 9th October 2020, and the payment of remuneraƟon, as minimum remuneraƟon in case of no profits or 
inadequacy of profits for the period of his contract.”

 “RESOLVED FURTHER THAT any one Directors of the Company be and are hereby severally authorized to execute the 
Agreement with the Managing Director as approved by the Members of the Company and the Board of Directors of the 
Company be and are severally authorized to file the prescribed forms and returns with the Ministry of Corporate Affairs/ 
Registrar of Companies and to do all other acts, things and deeds as may be expedient and necessary in this regard.”

8.  To Approve the Payment of Commission to Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka, Non-ExecuƟve Chairman of the Company:

 To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modificaƟon(s) the following resoluƟon as a Special ResoluƟon:

 “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to SecƟons 197, 198, Schedule V and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and the rules framed thereunder and SEBI (LisƟng ObligaƟons and Disclosure Requirements) RegulaƟons, 
2015, including any statutory modificaƟon(s) or re-enactment(s) thereof for the Ɵme being in force, the consent of the 
Shareholders be and is hereby accorded for payment of commission upto 1% of the net profits of the Company, computed 
in the manner laid down in SecƟon 198 of the Companies Act, 2013, from the financial year 2019-2020 and onwards unƟl 
otherwise repudiated by the Board of Directors, to Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka, (DIN: 00632156) Non-ExecuƟve Chairman of 
the Board, in addiƟon to the siƫng fees for aƩending the meeƟng of the Board of Directors/CommiƩees thereof and any 
other expenses incurred for official/business purposes only.”

Registered Office: By Order of the Board
Birkuchi, GuwahaƟ, Assam- 781026 Sd/-
CIN: L23101AS1963PLC001206
Place:  Kolkata Rakesh Himatsingka
Date: 25th June 2020 Chairman

Notice (Contd.)



Assam Carbon Products Limited Annual Report 2019-20204

NOTES:

1. IN TERMS OF THE MCA CIRCULARS AND SEBI CIRCULAR NO. SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD1/CIR/P/2020/79 DATED MAY 12, 2020, 
THE REQUIREMENT OF SENDING PROXY FORMS TO HOLDERS OF SECURITIES AS PER PROVISIONS OF SECTION 105 OF 
THE ACT READ WITH REGULATION 44(4) OF THE LISTING REGULATIONS, HAS BEEN DISPENSED WITH. THEREFORE, THE 
FACILITY TO APPOINT PROXY BY THE MEMBERS WILL NOT BE AVAILABLE AND CONSEQUENTLY, THE PROXY FORM AND 
ATTENDANCE SLIP ARE NOT ANNEXED TO THIS NOTICE CONVENING THE 57TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (AGM) OF 
THE COMPANY (THE “NOTICE”). 

 However, in pursuance of Section 113 of the Act and Rules framed thereunder, the corporate members are entitled to 
appoint authorized representatives for the purpose of voting through remote e-Voting or for the participation and e-Voting 
during the AGM, through Video Conferencing (“VC”) or Other Audio Visual Means (“OAVM”). Institutional Shareholders 
(i.e., other than individuals, HUF, NRI, etc.) are required to send scanned copy (PDF / JPG Format) of the relevant Board 
Resolution / Power of Attorney / appropriate Authorization Letter together with attested specimen signature(s) of the 
duly authorized signatory(ies) who are authorized to vote, to the Scrutinizer through e-mail at kashliwalanant@yahoo.in 
with a copy marked to evoting@nsdl.co.in

2. Since the AGM will be held through VC or OAVM, no Route Map is being provided with the Notice.

3. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) vide General Circular No. 14/2020 dated 08.04.2020, 17/2020 dated 13.04.2020 
and 20/2020 dated 05.05.2020 and SEBI vide Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD1/CIR/P/2020/79 dated 12.05.2020 granted 
relaxation from dispatching physical copies of Annual Reports to the Shareholders by those listed entities who may 
conduct their Annual General Meetings (AGM) through electronic mode during the current year 2020, in view of COVID-19 
pandemic. Hence, kindly note that no physical copy of Annual Report 2019-20 will be sent to the members/shareholders.

 Therefore, the shareholders holding shares in physical form and who have not registered their Email addresses are 
requested to furnish their email address along with their mobile number and bank mandate in the following format to the 
Company / Registrar and Share Transfer Agents (RTA), in order to facilitate for sending the Notice of AGM, Annual Report, 
Dividend, if any, declared by the Company and other important communications in electronic mode:

Sl. No. Par culars Details
i. Full Name
ii. Address
iii. Email Address
iv. Mobile No.
v. No. of Shares held
vi. Folio No.
vii. CerƟficate No.
viii. DisƟncƟve No.
ix. Copy of PAN & Aadhar Card / Address Proof
x. Copy of cancelled Cheque or Passbook signed by Bank Manager with IFSC & MICR 

NO (For Bank Mandate)

 Shareholders are requested to please send the aforesaid details to Company’s Registrar and Transfer Agent (RTA), M/s. 
CB MANAGEMENT SERVICES PRIVATE LIMITED, P-22, Bondal Road, Kolkata- 700019, West Bengal, India, at their e-mail id 
rta@cbmsl.com or to the Company at subhendu@ascarbon.com

 Shareholders holding shares of the Company in de-materialized form but have not registered their email address and 
updated their Mobile Numbers., Bank Mandate are requested to approach their respective Depository through Depository 
Participant.

 Shareholders holding shares in physical form are requested to convert their holdings in demat form as transfer of shares 
in physical form has been prohibited by the Securities and Exchange Board of India. 

 For any clarification, please contact our RTA, M/s. CB MANAGEMENT SERVICES PRIVATE LIMITED, P-22, Bondal Road, 
Kolkata-  700019, West Bengal, India, at their e-mail id rta@cbmsl.com, Phone: (033) 40116700/17/18.

Notice (Contd.)
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 This public notice has also been published at page nuber 5 of “The Assam Rising” (English newspaper in Assam/ Guwahati)  
and “Dainandin Barta” (Assamese newspaper in Assam / Guwahati) on 22nd July, 2020 for your reference and doing the 
needful.

4. In case of joint holders attending the meeting only such joint holder who is higher in the order of names will be entitled 
to vote. 

5. The Register of Members and Share Transfer Registers of the Company will remain close from 23rd September, 2020 to 
29th September, 2020, both days inclusive.

6. Explanatory Statements pursuant to Section 102 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rules Framed thereunder relating to the 
Special Business to be transacted at the meeting and the recommendations of the Board of Directors are annexed hereto.

7. Details under the provisions of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, (as amended) 
and the mandatory applicable Secretarial Standards issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India (ICSI), in 
respect of Directors seeking appointment / re-appointment at the AGM are provided under a separate heading, which 
forms part of this Notice. 

8. Equity shares of the Company are listed with The Calcutta Stock Exchange Limited (CSE). There are no dues with regard to 
payment of Listing fees. The ISIN code of the Company is INE496C01018. The CSE Scrip Code of the Company is 011403.

9. The investors are requested to enroll their e-mail ids with the Company and can write to the Registrar & Share Transfer 
Agent at rta@cbmsl.com or to the Company Secretary at acpl.compliance@gmail.com

10. The Company has appointed the following Registrar & Share Transfer Agent (RTA) to deal with both Physical and Demat 
shares.

 C. B. Management Services (P) Limited
 P-22, Bondel Road, Kolkata - 700 019
 Phone No. 033 40116700/17/18
 Fax No. : 033 4011 6739              
 E-mail: rta@cbmsl.com

 Members are requested to send their queries relating to share transfer/transmission, change of address, etc. to the above 
address.

11. All documents referred to in the Notice and accompanying Explanatory Statement and copy of Audited Financial 
Statements, the Register of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel and their shareholdings, the Register of Contracts or 
Arrangements in which the Directors are interested and every other documents required by law to be annexed or attached 
to the Financial Statements as per the Companies Act, 2013/ the Listing Regulations, shall be made available for inspection 
by the Members of the Company, upto and including the date of AGM. Members desirous of inspecting the same may 
send their requests at acpl.compliance@gmail.com from their registered e-mail addresses mentioning their names and 
folio numbers / demat account numbers. 

12. This notice of Meeting and the Annual Report is also available on the Company’s website http://www.assamcarbon.in for 
download and also on the website of NSDL at www.evoting.nsdl.com.

13. The Notice of the Annual General Meeting along with the copy of Annual Report 2019-20 is being sent by electronic 
mode to those members whose e-mail addresses are registered with the Company/ Depositories, unless any Member has 
requested for a physical copy of the same. For members who have not registered their e-mail addresses, physical copies 
are being sent by the permitted mode.

14. Members are requested in their own interest:

 a) To notify the Company / Registrar and Share Transfer Agent about their PAN, any change in address/name with 
correct pin code, mandate/ bank details and their e-mail id, etc with supporting documents.

 b) To quote correct Folio No. / Client ID. No. and DP ID. No. in all correspondence with the Company/ Registrar and 
Share Transfer Agent to facilitate better service to the members.

 c) To dematerialize the Equity Shares of the Company held in physical mode.

Notice (Contd.)
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15. As per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, facility for making nominations is available to the members in respect 
of the shares held by them. Nomination forms can be obtained from the Company’s Registrars and Transfer Agents by 
Members holding shares in physical form. Members holding shares in electronic form may obtain Nomination forms from 
their respective Depository Participant.

16. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA), Government of India has introduced ‘Green Initiative in Corporate Governance’ 
by allowing paperless compliance by the Companies for service of documents to their Members through electronic mode. 
In case you have not registered / updated your e-mail address, please communicate the same to the Company or its RTA 
at their communication address given in the Annual Report in respect of the shares held in physical mode or communicate 
to your Depository Participants concerned in respect of shares held in demat / electronic mode. Although you are entitled 
to receive physical copy of the Notices, Annual Reports, etc. from the Company, we sincerely seek your support to enable 
us to forward these documents to you only by e-mail, which will help us to participate in the Green Initiative of the MCA 
and to protect our environment.

17. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) has mandated the submission of Permanent Account Number (PAN) 
by every participant in securities market. Members holding shares in electronic form are, therefore, requested to submit 
their PAN to their Depository participants with whom they are maintaining their demat accounts. Members holding shares 
in physical form can submit their PAN to the Company / Company’s Registrar & Share Transfer Agent.

18. SEBI Notification No. SEBI/LAD-NRO/GN/2018/24 dated 8th June 2018 and further amendment vide Notification No. 
SEBI/LAD-NRO/GN/2018/49 dated 30th November 2018 requests for effecting transfer of Securities (except incase of 
transmission or transposition of securities) shall not be processed from 1st April 2019 unless the securities are held in the 
dematerialized form with the depositories. Therefore, Members are requested to take action to dematerialize the Equity 
Shares of the Company, promptly.

19. Members are hereby further informed that pursuant to the provision of Section 124 (6) of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the 
Act”) read with the Investor Education and Protection Fund Authority (Accounting, Audit, Transfer and Refund) Rules, 
2016 (“the Rules”) notified by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (as amended from time to time) and Regulation 39(4) of 
the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, that all 
shares in respect of which dividends remain unclaimed/unpaid for seven consecutive years or more, shall be transferred 
by the Company to the Demat Account of Investor Education and Protection Fund (IEPF) Authority.

 Accordingly, all the shareholders whose dividend related to the financial year on or before 2004-05 (Last F.Y. in which 
dividend was declared by the Company till date) has remained unpaid / unclaimed, in respect of such shareholders, 
therefore will be due to be transferred to Demat Account of IEPF Authority in the following manner:

 • In case of shares held in Physical form, by issuance of New Share certificates and thereafter transferring the shares 
to Demat Account of IEPF Authority. Accordingly, the original share certificate(s), which stand registered in the 
Shareholders name would stand automatically cancelled and be deemed non-negotiable.

 • In case of shares held in Demat Form, by transfer of shares directly to Demat Account of IEPF Authority through the 
Depository participants as per Rules.

 Adhering to the various requirements set out in the Rules, the Company has communicated individually to the concerned 
shareholders whose shares are liable to be transferred to Demat Account of IEPF Authority at their last recorded address 
with the Company for taking appropriate action. The full details of such shareholders having unencashed dividends and 
shares due for transfer has been given on the website of the Company https://www.assamcarbon.in/

 The Shareholders may further note that the details uploaded by the Company on its website should be regarded and shall 
be deemed adequate notice in respect of issue of such certificate(s) by the Company for the purpose of transfer of shares 
to IEPF, pursuant to IEPF Rules.

 Concerned Shareholders may note that, any further dividend(s), including any other corporate benefits, on such shares 
shall be credited to the IEPF Account. Upon credit of such shares to the said Demat account, no claim shall lie against the 
Company in respect of the unclaimed dividend amount and such shares transferred to IEPF Account. 

 Any person, whose shares and unclaimed dividends have been transferred to the Fund, may claim the shares/dividends 
from the IEPF Authority by making online application in Form IEPF 5 for which details are available at www.iepf.gov.in and 

Notice (Contd.)
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on the website of the Company https://www.assamcarbon.in/

 In case any shareholders have any queries / objections on the subject matter and the Rules, they may contact the Nodal 
officer of the Company, Mr. Susheel Kumar Sharma, Director at the Registered Office of the Company or our Registrar & 
Share Transfer Agent (RTA), M/s.  CB Management Services (P) Ltd, P-22 Bondel Road, Kolkata- 700019 , West Bengal, Tel 
No. 033-4011-6700/16/17/23/28, Fax No. 033-4011-6739, E-mail: rta@cbmsl.com, within the timeframe as mentioned in 
the advertisement published in the newspaper.

 The advertisement of the same has been published on 18th June, 2020, in the Financial Express (All India Edition), Assam 
Rising & Dainandin Barta (both for Guwahati / Assam) and also uploaded at the website of the Company. 

20. Members seeking any information with regard to Accounts/ Financial Statements are requested to write to the Company 
at an early date, so as to enable the management to keep the information ready at the Meeting.

21. Conduct of AGM through VC/OAVM

 I. As you are aware, in view of the prevailing COVID-19 pandemic, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (the “MCA”) vide 
its General Circulars No. 14/2020, No. 17/2020 and No. 20/2020 dated April 8, 2020, April 13, 2020 and May 5, 2020 
respectively (hereinafter, collectively referred as the “MCA Circulars”) read with SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/
CMD1/CIR/P/2020/79 dated May 12, 2020, has allowed companies to conduct their annual general meetings through 
Video Conferencing (“VC”) or Other Audio Visual Means (“OAVM”), thereby, dispensing with the requirement of 
physical attendance of the members at their AGM and accordingly, the 57th Annual General Meeting (the “AGM” 
or the “Meeting”) of Assam Carbon Products Ltd (the “Company”) will be held through VC or OAVM in compliance 
with the said circulars and the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (as amended) (the “Act”) and Rules 
made thereunder and the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (as amended) 
(the “Listing Regulations”). Members attending the AGM through VC or OAVM shall be counted for the purpose of 
reckoning the quorum under Section 103 of the Act.

 II. Pursuant to the provisions of Section 108 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 20 of the Companies 
(Management and Administration) Rules, 2014 (as amended) and Regulation 44 of SEBI (Listing Obligations & 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations 2015 (as amended), and MCA Circulars dated April 08, 2020, April 13, 2020 
and May 05, 2020 the Company is providing facility of remote e-voting to its Members in respect of the business to 
be transacted at the AGM. For this purpose, the Company has entered into an agreement with National Securities 
Depository Limited (NSDL) for facilitating voting through electronic means, as the authorized e-Voting’s agency. The 
facility of casting votes by a member using remote e-voting as well as the e-voting system on the date of the AGM 
will be provided by NSDL.

 III. The Members can join the AGM in the VC/OAVM mode 15 minutes before and after the scheduled time of the 
commencement of the Meeting by following the procedure mentioned in the Notice. The facility of participation at 
the AGM through VC/OAVM will be made available to atleast 1000 members on first come first served basis. This will 
not include large Shareholders (Shareholders holding 2% or more shareholding), Promoters, Institutional Investors, 
Directors, Key Managerial Personnel, the Chairpersons of the Audit Committee, Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee and Stakeholders Relationship Committee, Auditors etc. who are allowed to attend the AGM without 
restriction on account of first come first served basis.

 IV. The attendance of the Members attending the AGM through VC/OAVM will be counted for the purpose of ascertaining 
the quorum under Section 103 of the Companies Act, 2013.

 V. Pursuant to MCA Circular No. 14/2020 dated April 08, 2020, the facility to appoint proxy to attend and cast vote for 
the members is not available for this AGM. However, in pursuance of Section 112 and Section 113 of the Companies 
Act, 2013, representatives of the members such as the President of India or the Governor of a State or body corporate 
can attend the AGM through VC/OAVM and cast their votes through e-voting.

 VI. In line with the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) Circular No. 17/2020 dated April 13, 2020, the Notice calling 
the AGM has been uploaded on the website of the Company at https://www.assamcarbon.in/. The Notice can also 
be accessed from the websites of The Calcutta Stock Exchange Ltd at www.cse-india.com. The AGM Notice is also 
disseminated on the website of NSDL (agency for providing the Remote e-Voting facility and e-voting system during 
the AGM) i.e. www.evoting.nsdl.com

Notice (Contd.)
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 VII. The AGM has been convened through VC/OAVM in compliance with applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013 read with MCA Circular No. 14/2020 dated April 8, 2020 and MCA Circular No. 17/2020 dated April 13, 2020 
and MCA Circular No. 20/2020 dated May 05, 2020.

22. Procedure of Voting through Electronic Means

 I. THE INSTRUCTIONS FOR MEMBERS FOR REMOTE E-VOTING ARE AS UNDER:-

  The remote e-voting period begins on 26th September, 2020 at 9:00 A.M. IST and ends on 28th September, 2020 
at 5:00 P.M. IST. The remote e-voting module shall be disabled by NSDL for voting thereafter.

  How do I vote electronically using NSDL e-Voting system?

  The way to vote electronically on NSDL e-Voting system consists of “Two Steps” which are mentioned below:

  Step 1 : Log-in to NSDL e-Voting system at https://www.evoting.nsdl.com/

  Step 2 : Cast your vote electronically on NSDL e-Voting system.

  Details on Step 1 is mentioned below:

How to Log-into NSDL e-VoƟng website?
1. Visit the e-VoƟng website of NSDL. Open web browser by typing the following URL: hƩps://www.evoƟng.nsdl.com/ 

either on a Personal Computer or on a mobile.
2. Once the home page of e-VoƟng system is launched, click on the icon “Login” which is available under ‘Shareholders’ 

secƟon.
3. A new screen will open. You will have to enter your User ID, your Password and a VerificaƟon Code as shown on the 

screen.
 AlternaƟvely, if you are registered for NSDL eservices i.e. IDEAS, you can log-in at hƩps://eservices.nsdl.com/ with your 

exisƟng IDEAS login. Once you log-in to NSDL eservices aŌer using your log-in credenƟals, click on e-VoƟng and you can 
proceed to Step 2 i.e. Cast your vote electronically.

4. Your User ID details are given below:

Manner of holding shares i.e. Demat 
(NSDL or CDSL) or Physical

 Your User ID is:

a) For Members who hold shares in 
demat account with NSDL.

8 Character DP ID followed by 8 Digit Client ID
For example if your DP ID is IN300*** and Client ID is 12****** then your 
user ID is IN300***12******.

b) For Members who hold shares in 
demat account with CDSL.

16 Digit Beneficiary ID
For example if your Beneficiary ID is 12************** then your user ID 
is 12**************

c) For Members holding shares in 
Physical Form.

EVEN Number followed by Folio Number registered with the company
For example if folio number is 001*** and EVEN is 101456 then user ID is 
101456001***

5. Your password details are given below:

 a) If you are already registered for e-VoƟng, then you can use your exisƟng password to login and cast your vote.

 b) If you are using NSDL e-VoƟng system for the first Ɵme, you will need to retrieve the ‘iniƟal password’ which was 
communicated to you. Once you retrieve your ‘iniƟal password’, you need to enter the ‘iniƟal password’ and the 
system will force you to change your password.

 c) How to retrieve your ‘iniƟal password’?

  (i) If your email ID is registered in your demat account or with the Company, your ‘iniƟal password’ is 
communicated to you on your email ID. Trace the email sent to you from NSDL from your mailbox. Open the 
email and open the aƩachment i.e. a .pdf file. Open the .pdf file. The password to open the .pdf file is your 
8 digit client ID for NSDL account, last 8 digits of client ID for CDSL account or folio number for shares held in 
physical form. The .pdf file contains your ‘User ID’ and your ‘iniƟal password’. 
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  (ii) If your email ID is not registered, please follow steps menƟoned below in process for those shareholders 
whose email ids are not registered.

6. If you are unable to retrieve or have not received the “IniƟal password” or have forgoƩen your password:

 a) Click on “Forgot User Details/Password ?”(If you are holding shares in your demat account with NSDL or CDSL) 
opƟon available on www.evoƟng.nsdl.com.

 b) Physical User Reset Password?” (If you are holding shares in physical mode) opƟon available on www.evoƟng.nsdl.
com.

 c) If you are sƟll unable to get the password by aforesaid two opƟons, you can send a request at evoƟng@nsdl.co.in 
menƟoning your demat account number/folio number, your PAN, your name and your registered address.

 d) Members can also use the OTP (One Time Password) based login for casƟng the votes on the e-voƟng system of 
NSDL.

7. AŌer entering your password, Ɵck on Agree to “Terms and CondiƟons” by selecƟng on the check box.

8. Now, you will have to click on “Login” buƩon.

9. AŌer you click on the “Login” buƩon, Home page of e-VoƟng will open.

Details on Step 2 are given below:

How to cast your vote electronically on NSDL e-Voting system?

1. After successful login at Step 1, you will be able to see the Home page of e-Voting. Click on e-Voting. Then, click on 
Active Voting Cycles.

2. After click on Active Voting Cycles, you will be able to see all the companies “EVEN” in which you are holding shares and 
whose voting cycle is in active status.

3. Select “EVEN” of company for which you wish to cast your vote.

4. Now you are ready for e-Voting as the Voting page opens.

5. Cast your vote by selecting appropriate options i.e. assent or dissent, verify/modify the number of shares for which you 
wish to cast your vote and click on “Submit” and also “Confirm” when prompted.

6. Upon confirmation, the message “Vote cast successfully” will be displayed. 

7. You can also take the printout of the votes cast by you by clicking on the print option on the confirmation page.

8. Once you confirm your vote on the resolution, you will not be allowed to modify your vote.

General Guidelines for shareholders

1 Institutional shareholders (i.e. other than individuals, HUF, NRI etc.) are required to send scanned copy (PDF/JPG Format) of 
the relevant Board Resolution/ Authority letter etc. with attested specimen signature of the duly authorized signatory(ies) 
who are authorized to vote, to the Scrutinizer by e-mail to kashliwalanant@yahoo.in with a copy marked to evoting@nsdl.
co.in.

2. It is strongly recommended not to share your password with any other person and take utmost care to keep your password 
confidential. Login to the e-voting website will be disabled upon five unsuccessful attempts to key in the correct password. 
In such an event, you will need to go through the “Forgot User Details/Password?” or “Physical User Reset Password?” 
option available on www.evoting.nsdl.com to reset the password. 

3. In case of any queries, you may refer the Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) for Shareholders and e-voting user manual 
for Shareholders available at the download section of www.evoting.nsdl.com or call on toll free no.: 1800-222-990 or 
send a request to or contact Mr. Amit Vishal, Senior Manager/Ms. Pallavi Mhatre,  Manager, NSDL, Trade World, ‘A’ Wing, 
4th Floor, Kamala Mills Compound, Lower Parel, Mumbai – 400013 at telephone no. 022- 24994360/ 022-24994545 or at 
E-mail id evoting@nsdl.co.in
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4. It is strongly recommended not to share your password with any other person and take utmost care to keep your password 
confidential. Login to the e-voting website will be disabled upon five unsuccessful attempts to key in the correct password. 
In such an event, you will need to go through the “Forgot User Details/Password?” or “Physical User Reset Password?” 
option available on www.evoting.nsdl.com to reset the password. 

5. The voting rights of the Members shall be in proportion to their shares of the paid up equity share capital of the Company 
as on the cut-off date of Tuesday, the 22nd day of September, 2020.

6. Any person, who acquires shares of the Company and becomes Member of the Company after dispatch of the Notice and 
holding shares as on the cut-off date i.e. Tuesday, the 22nd day of September, 2020 may obtain the login ID and password 
by sending a request at evoting@nsdl.co.in or rta@cbmsl.com  

7. However, if you are already registered with NSDL for remote e-voting then you can use your existing user ID and password 
for casting your vote. If you forgot your password, you can reset your password by using “Forgot User Details/Password” 
option available on www.evoting.nsdl.com or contact NSDL at the following toll free no.: 1800-222-990.

8. A person, whose name is recorded in the Register of Members or in the Register of Beneficial Owners maintained by the 
Depositories as on the cut-off date only shall be entitled to avail the facility of remote e-Voting or casting vote through 
e-Voting system during the Meeting.    

9. Pursuant to the provision of Section 108 of the Act read with rules thereof, Mr. Anant Kashliwal, Practicing Chartered 
Accountant, Guwahati, (Membership No.: 302972, Firm Regd. No.: 328654E) who has consented to act as the scrutinizer 
has been appointed as the Scrutinizer to scrutinize the Remote e-Voting process and casting vote through the e-Voting 
system during the Meeting in a fair and transparent manner.

10. The Scrutinizer shall after the conclusion of e-Voting at the AGM, first download the votes cast at the AGM and thereafter 
unblock the votes cast through remote e-Voting system and shall make a consolidated Scrutinizer’s Report.               

11. The Results of voting will be declared within 48 hours from the conclusion of AGM. The declared results along with the 
Scrutinizer’s Report will be available forthwith on the website of the Company https://www.assamcarbon.in/ and on the 
website of NSDL www.evoting.nsdl.com. Such results will also be displayed on the Notice Board at the Registered Office 
as well as the Corporate Office of the Company and shall be forwarded to the Calcutta Stock Exchange Limited.

Process for those shareholders whose email ids are not registered with the depositories for procuring user id and password 
and registration of e mail ids for e-voting for the resolutions set out in this notice:

1. In case shares are held in physical mode please provide Folio No., Name of shareholder, scanned copy of the share 
certificate (front and back), PAN (self attested scanned copy of PAN card), AADHAR (self attested scanned copy of Aadhar 
Card) by email to rta@cbmsl.com or acpl.compliance@gmail.com

2. In case shares are held in demat mode, please provide DPID-CLID (16 digit DPID + CLID or 16 digit beneficiary ID), Name, 
client master or copy of Consolidated Account statement, PAN (self attested scanned copy of PAN card), AADHAR (self 
attested scanned copy of Aadhar Card) to rta@cbmsl.com or acpl.compliance@gmail.com

3. Alternatively member may send an e-mail request to evoting@nsdl.co.infor obtaining User ID and Password by proving 
the details mentioned in Point (1) or (2) as the case may be.

THE INSTRUCTIONS FOR MEMBERS FOR e-VOTING ON THE DAY OF THE AGM ARE AS UNDER:-

1. The procedure for e-Voting on the day of the AGM is same as the instructions mentioned above for remote e-voting.

2. Only those Members/ shareholders, who will be present in the AGM through VC/OAVM facility and have not casted their 
vote on the Resolutions through remote e-Voting and are otherwise not barred from doing so, will be eligible to exercise 
their right to vote on such resolution(s) upon announcement by the Chairperson. 

3. Members who have voted through Remote e-Voting will be eligible to attend the AGM. However, they will not be eligible 
to vote at the AGM.

4. The remote e-voting module on the day of the AGM shall be disabled by NSDL for voting 15 minutes after the conclusion 
of the Meeting.
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5. The details of the person who may be contacted for any grievances connected with the facility for e-Voting on the day of 
the AGM shall be the same person mentioned for Remote e-voting.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR MEMBERS FOR ATTENDING THE AGM THROUGH VC/OAVM ARE AS UNDER:

1. Member will be provided with a facility to attend the AGM through VC/OAVM through the NSDL e-Voting system. 
Members may access the same at https://www.evoting.nsdl.com under shareholders/members login by using the remote 
e-voting credentials. The link for VC/OAVM will be available in shareholder/members login where the EVEN of Company 
will be displayed. Please note that the members who do not have the User ID and Password for e-Voting or have forgotten 
the User ID and Password may retrieve the same by following the remote e-Voting instructions mentioned in the notice to 
avoid last minute rush. Further members can also use the OTP based login for logging into the e-Voting system of NSDL.

2. Members are encouraged to join the Meeting through Laptops for better experience.

3. Further Members will be required to allow Camera and use Internet with a good speed to avoid any disturbance during 
the meeting.

4. Please note that Participants Connecting from Mobile Devices or Tablets or through Laptop connecting via Mobile Hotspot 
may experience Audio/Video loss due to Fluctuation in their respective network. It is therefore recommended to use 
Stable Wi-Fi or LAN Connection to mitigate any kind of aforesaid glitches.

5. As the AGM is being conducted through VC or OAVM, the Members are encouraged to express their views / send their 
queries well in advance for smooth conduct of the AGM but not later than 5:00 P.M. (IST) Saturday, September  26, 
2020, mentioning their names, folio numbers / demat account numbers, e-mail addresses and mobile numbers at acpl.
compliance@gmail.com and only such questions / queries received by the Company till the said date and time shall be 
considered and responded during the AGM. 

6. Members willing to express their views or ask questions during the AGM are required to register themselves as speakers 
by sending their requests latest by Saturday, September 26, 2020 (5:00 P.M. IST) at acpl.compliance@gmail.com from 
their registered e-mail addresses mentioning their names, folio numbers / demat account numbers, PAN details and 
mobile numbers. Only those Members who have registered themselves as speakers will be allowed to express their views/
ask questions during the AGM. The Chairman of the Meeting / the Company reserves the right to restrict the number of 
questions, time allotted and number of speakers to ensure smooth conduct of the AGM.

7. Members seeking any information on the financial accounts, operations or any matter to be placed at the AGM, 
are requested to write to the Company till 5.00 P.M. (IST) on Saturday, September  26, 2020 through e-mail at acpl.
compliance@gmail.com and the same will be suitably replied by the Company.

8. Those shareholders who have registered themselves as a speaker will only be allowed to express their views/ask questions 
during the meeting.

9. When a pre-registered speaker is invited to speak at the meeting but he / she does not respond, the next speaker will be 
invited to speak. Accordingly, all speakers are requested to get connected to a device with a video/ camera along with 
good internet speed.

10. The Company reserves the right to restrict the number of questions and number of speakers, as appropriate, for smooth 
conduct of the AGM.

11. Members who need assistance before or during the AGM, can contact NSDL on evoting@nsdl.co.in / 1800-222-990 or 
contact Mr. Amit Vishal, Senior Manager-NSDL at amitv@nsdl.co.in / 022-24994360 or Ms. Pallavi Mhatre, Manager, NSDL 
at pallavid@nsdl.co.in/ 022-24994545.
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Explanatory Statement pursuant to Section 102 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”), the following explanatory statement sets 
out all material facts relating to business mentioned under Item Nos. 4 to 8 of the accompanying Notice:   

Re: Item 4

M/s. D.Basu & Co., Chartered Accountants (Regd. No.: 301111E) was already appointed as the Statutory Auditors of the 
Company at its Annual General Meeting for a period of tenure of 5 (five) years pursuant to the provisions of Section 139(2) 
and the Companies (Audit & Auditors) Rules, 2014 (including any Statutory modifications or re-enactment thereof for the time 
being in force). Their tenure ends in the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company. 

They being eligible has given their consent to continue at their office if re-appointed for a second consecutive term of 5 (five) 
years. 

The Board members discussed on the matter and as per the recommendations of the Audit Committee, unanimously decided 
to approve the re-appointment of M/s. D.Basu & Co., Chartered Accountants (Regd. No.: 301111E) as the Statutory Auditors 
of the Company for a further period of 5 years, commencing from the conclusion of the 57th Annual General Meeting until 
the conclusion of 62nd Annual General Meeting of the Company, subject to the approval of the Shareholders of the Company.

Your Board recommends for the re-appointment of  M/s. D.Basu & Co., Chartered Accountants (Regd. No.: 301111E), as the 
Statutory Auditors of the Company, for a further period of 5 years, commencing from the conclusion of the 57th Annual General 
Meeting until the conclusion of 62nd Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Your Board proposes the resolution, as set out at Item No.4 of the Notice, for approval of the Members as an Ordinary Resolution.

Memorandum of Interest:

None of the Directors of the Company and / or Key Managerial Personnel and their relatives are in any way concerned or 
interested in the aforesaid resolution as set out at Item No. 8 of the Notice, except to the extent of their shareholding(s), if any, 
in the Company.

Re: Item 5

Based on the recommendations of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, the Board of Directors had appointed 
Mr. Avinash Kumar Gupta (DIN: 08763153),  as an Additional Director of the Company, in the category of Independent Non-
Executive Director, not liable to retire by rotation, with effect from 25th June, 2020. 

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 161(1) of the Act and Article 94 of the Articles of Association of the Company, Mr. Avinash 
Kumar Gupta (DIN: 08763153), shall hold office up to the date of this Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) and is eligible to be 
appointed as a Director. The Company has, in terms of Section 160 of the Act, received in writing a notice from Member(s), 
proposing his candidature for the office of a Director. 

The Company has received declarations from Mr. Avinash Kumar Gupta to the effect that he meets the criteria of independence 
as provided in Section 149(6) of the Act read with the Rules framed thereunder and Regulation 16(1)(b) of the Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“SEBI Listing Regulations”). 

In terms of Regulation 25(8) of SEBI Listing Regulations, Mr. Gupta have confirmed that he is not aware of any circumstance or 
situation which exists or may be reasonably anticipated that could impair or impact his ability to discharge his duties. In the 
opinion of the Board, Mr. Gupta fulfils the conditions specified in the Act, Rules and SEBI Listing Regulations for the appointment 
as an Independent Director and  is independent of the management of the Company. 

The terms and conditions of  his appointment shall be open for inspection by the Members at the Registered Office of the 
Company during the normal business hours on any working day (except Saturday) and will also be kept open during the AGM 
till the conclusion of the AGM.

The Board of Directors is of the opinion that Mr. Avinash Kumar Gupta’s association as a member on the Board will be beneficial 
for the Company. In compliance with the provisions of Section 149, read with Schedule IV of the Act and Regulation 17 of SEBI 
Listing Regulations and other applicable Regulations, the appointment of Mr. Gupta as an Independent Director is now being 
placed before the Members for their approval. 

Your Board proposes the resolution, as set out at Item No.5 of the Notice, for approval of the Members as an Ordinary Resolution.

Memorandum of Interest:

Concerned Director is interested in the resolution being related to his own appointment. Apart from him, none of the Directors 
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of the Company and / or Key Managerial Personnel and their relatives are in any way concerned or interested in the aforesaid 
resolution as set out at Item No. 5 of the Notice, except to the extent of their shareholding(s), if any, in the Company.

Re: Item 6

As per Section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, the Companies (Cost Records 
and Audit) Rules, 2014, as may be amended from time to time, and any changes/ modifications in the Act, Rules, Circulars, 
Notifications thereafter, the Audit Committee has made a recommendation to the Board for the appointment of M/s. A S & 
Associates, Cost Accountants (Firm Regd. No.: 000523) as Cost Auditors of the Company for the financial year ending 31st 
March 2021, at a remuneration of Rs 20,000/- plus applicable taxes and incidental expenses. 

The Board based on the recommendations of the Audit Committee, appointed M/s A S & Associates, Cost Accountants as Cost 
Auditor of the Company for the financial year ending 31st March 2021. As per Rule 14 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) 
Rules, 2014 (as amended or re-enacted from time to time) the remuneration as mentioned above, payable to the Cost Auditors 
is required to be ratified by the Members of the Company. Accordingly, the Members are requested to ratify the remuneration 
payable to the Cost Auditors, for the financial year ending March 31, 2021, as set out in the Ordinary Resolution, for the 
aforesaid services to be rendered by them.

The Board of Directors recommends the Ordinary Resolution, as set out at Item No.6 of the Notice, for approval by the Members.

Memorandum of Interest:

None of the Directors of the Company and / or Key Managerial Personnel and their relatives are in any way concerned or 
interested in the aforesaid resolution as set out at Item No. 8 of the Notice, except to the extent of their shareholding(s), if any, 
in the Company.

Re: Item 7

The Board of Directors of the Company at its meeting held on 9th October, 2014, originally appointed Mr. K K Bhattacharya as 
Managing Director of the Company (DIN: 07011241) from 9th October, 2014 to 8th October, 2016, which was further approved 
by the shareholders at the 52nd Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 18th September, 2015. 

Further the Board of Directors of the Company at its Meeting held on 25th May, 2016, re-appointed Mr K K Bhattacharya as 
Managing Director of the Company for a further period of 2 (Two) years i.e., from 9th October 2016 to 8th October 2018, which 
was thereafter approved by the shareholders at the 53rd Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 29th September, 
2016. 

Subsequently, the Board of Directors of the Company, at its Meeting held on 4th May, 2018, re-appointed Mr K K Bhattacharya 
as the Managing Director of the Company, for a further period of 2 (Two) years i.e., from 9th October 2018 to 8th October 
2020, which was thereafter approved by the shareholders at the 55th Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 18th 
September, 2018.

Mr. Bhattacharya’s present tenure will end on 8th October, 2020. Hence, the Board of Directors of the Company, on the 
recommendations of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, at its Meeting held on 25th June, 2020, re-appointed Mr 
K K Bhattacharya as the Managing Director of the Company, for a further period of 2 (Two) years i.e., from 9th October 2020 to 
8th October 2022, subject to the approval of the shareholders at the ensuing Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Mr. K K Bhattacharya is a Mechanical Engineer from Jadavpur University and has vast experience in Projects, Technical 
operations, etc. and his experience will contribute significantly to the Company’s business and future growth.

The terms of remuneration of Mr. Bhattacharya will be as follows:

1. By way of remuneration for his service, hereunder, Mr K K Bhattacharya shall be entitled to receive on and from the 9th 
October, 2020, during the currency of this Agreement and otherwise subject to the Articles of Association of the Company and 
subject to the provisions of Companies Act 2013 [including any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment thereof, for the time 
being in force], the rules notified thereunder:

Basic Salary - Rs.44,000 per month, (Rupees Forty Four Thousand only).

The Managing Director shall also be entitled for Contribution to Provident and other Fund(s) as per the applicable Rules of the 
Company.

In addition to the salary as stated herein above, Mr K K Bhattacharya shall be entitled to the following benefits and perquisites:
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a. Free furnished accommodation or house rent allowance in lieu thereof as per the rules of the Company up to a maximum 
of Rs 22,000/- or part thereof.

b. Expenditure/Allowance towards gas, electricity, water and furnishings subject to ceiling of 10% of the basic salary to be 
evaluated as per Income Tax rules up to a maximum of Rs 4,400 per month or part thereof. 

c. Reimbursement of medical expenses for self and family subject to a ceiling of one month’s basic salary in a year. Mediclaim 
Policy for self and family in accordance with the rules of the Company up to a maximum of Rs 44,000 per annum or part 
thereof.

d. Leave travel concession for self and family once in a year in accordance with the rules of the Company up to a maximum 
of Rs 1,10,000 per annum or part thereof.

e. Leave with full pay and allowance as per Rules of the Company but not exceeding one month’s leave for every eleven 
months of service.

f. Mr Bhattacharjee shall be entitled for running and maintenance of his car and will be provided a maximum sum of Rs. 
1,80,000 as running expenses of the car per annum or part thereof as reimbursement, against actual submission of bills.

g. Mr Bhattacharjee shall be entitled for Ex-gratia payment of Rs 1,10,000 per annum or part thereof.

h. The Company shall provide telephone, mobile phone and other communication facilities to Mr K K Bhattacharya as may 
be required for official purpose.

i. Subject to the overall ceiling of remuneration, the Managing Director may be given any other allowance, benefits and 
perquisites as the Board of Directors may from time to time decide.

j. Mr K K Bhattacharya shall be reimbursed any entertainment expenses or travelling expenses paid by him and incurred for 
or about the Company’s business.

Mr K K Bhattacharya shall not, so long as he functions as Managing Director, become interested or otherwise concerned directly 
or through his wife/and or major or minor children in any selling agency of the Company in future without the approval of the 
Central Government and this Agreement shall cease and determine upon the contravention of the provisions of this Clause.

The Company may at any time, during the currency of the Agreement to be entered into between him and the Company, 
determine this Agreement upon giving Mr K K Bhattacharya three months previous notice, in writing.

Mr K K Bhattacharya may at any time during the currency of this Agreement determine this Agreement by giving the Company 
three months previous notice, in writing.

In the event of any dispute or difference having arisen between the Company and the Mr K K Bhattacharya relating to these 
presents or in connection with any matter concerning the affairs and business of the Company, such disputes or differences shall 
be referred to two arbitrators, one to be appointed by the Company and the other by Mr K K Bhattacharya.  The proceedings of 
such arbitration shall be subject to the provisions of the Arbitration and Conciliation Act of India as may be amended from time 
to time and the award of the Arbitrators shall be final and binding on the party.

The Board of Directors of your Company recommends the Special Resolutions as set out in Item No. 7 in the accompanied 
notice for approval of the Shareholders.

The terms and conditions of  his appointment shall be open for inspection by the Members at the Registered Office of the 
Company during the normal business hours on any working day (except Saturday) and will also be kept open during the AGM 
till the conclusion of the AGM.

Memorandum of Interest:

Concerned Director is interested in the resolution being related to his own appointment. Other than the aforesaid, none of the 
Directors of the Company and Key Managerial Personnel and their relatives are in any way concerned or interested in the above 
resolution except as members.

Re: Item 8

Pursuant to a Share Purchase Agreement dated 12.04.2016 the erstwhile Promoters of the Company i.e., Morgan Advanced 
Materials PLC had sold their entire shareholdings to Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka (‘Acquirer’). 

Subsequently the Acquirer along with Mr. Shaurya Veer Himatsingka, Mrs. Anita Himatsingka and Miss. Maalika Himatsingka 
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made an Open Offer under SEBI (SAST) Regulations 2011 and has effected change in control and management in their favor 
and has been designated as the new Promoters of the Company resulting in a complete change, in the control of the Company. 

Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka has been associated with the Company since 1974, as a Director on the Board as well as a management 
trainee. Subsequently, from 1975 to 1977, Mr. Himatsingka was with the Company’s Financial & Technological JV partners 
Morganite Electrical Carbon Ltd., and was instrumental in the safe and timely transfer of technology from Morgans to the 
Company. 

Subsequently upon his return to India in 1977, Mr. Himatsingka was appointed as the Deputy Managing Director, and in around 
1981 as the Joint Managing Directors. 

Mr. Himatsingka continued in this role till 1982, when he moved out of executive responsibilities remaining only as a member 
of the Board. 

Keeping in mind Mr. Himatsingka’s vast Technical knowledge of our industry, when our JV partners Morgans, took majority 
control of the Company towards end 1991, Mr. Himatsingka was appointed on the Board of MECL, Swansea, UK, Morgans 
Flagship Carbon Company, and he continued till 2003, when the Board of MECL was dissolved.

Since, taking over with his very vast knowledge of our Carbon technology and under his dynamic leadership and guidance our 
Company has totally turned around and has been achieving profits successively year after year. 

Under his able leadership balancing of Plant and Machineries, refurbishing old equipment and addition of new equipments 
and machineries with a view to optimizing production through modernization, modernization of Plants, was undertaken on top 
priority basis and so was production planning and optimization of raw materials procurement and stocks. 

Since, then valued contribution are continuously being made by Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka, Non-Executive Chairman of the Board 
and through his active participation, the Company has been progressing over the years. The rich experience of Mr. Rakesh 
Himatsingka in engineering, business, management and administration has led to the Company taking bold and well planned 
decisions furthering the growth and profitability. 

Hence, it is appropriate that the services being rendered by him to the Company are being recognized by way of remuneration. 
In accordance with the provisions of Section 197 of the Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015, remuneration by way of commission upto 1% of the net profits, may be paid to Mr. Rakesh 
Himatsingka, subject to the approval of the Shareholders of the Company. 

Based on the recommendations received from the Nomination & Remuneration Committee, the Board of Directors at their 
meeting held on 25th June, 2020, had unanimously approved the payment of remuneration, to Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka, by way 
of commission upto 1% of the net profits, which amounts to Rs. 10,70,000/-, which exceeds fifty per cent of the total annual 
remuneration payable to all non-executive directors of the Company.

The Board of Directors recommends the Special Resolution, as set out at Item No.8 of the Notice, for approval by the Members.

Memorandum of Interest:

Concerned Director is interested in the resolution being related to his own payment. Apart from him, Ms. Maalika Himatsingka, 
Director (DIN: 07811394) being the daughter of Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka and Mrs. Anita Himatsingka, Director (DIN: 01201879) 
being the spouse of Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka may be considered as interested parties in this resolution. Mr. Shaurya Veer 
Himatsingka, one of the Promoters and shareholders of the Company, being the Son of Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka may also be 
treated as interested party in this resolution. Other than the aforesaid, none of the Directors of the Company and / or Key 
Managerial Personnel and their relatives are in any way concerned or interested in the aforesaid resolution as set out at Item 
No. 8 of the Notice, except to the extent of their shareholding(s), if any, in the Company.

Registered Office: By Order of the Board
Birkuchi, Guwahati, Assam- 781026 Sd/-
CIN: L23101AS1963PLC001206  Rakesh Himatsingka
Date: 25th June 2020 Chairman
Place:  Kolkata (DIN: 00632156)
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Annexure to the NoƟce dated June 25, 2020

BRIEF PARTICULARS OF DIRECTORS RETIRING BY ROTATION / SEEKING APPOINTMENT / RE-APPOINTMENT

Name of the Director Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka Mrs. Anita Himatsingka Mr. K K BhaƩacharya Mr. Avinash Kumar Gupta
Date of Birth 4th November, 1951 15th September, 1953 5th November, 1954 15th  January, 1969
Date of Appointment 25th May 2016 25th May 2016 1st October, 2014 25th June, 2020
ExperƟse in specific 
funcƟonal areas & 
JusƟficaƟon for choosing the 
appointees for appointment 
/ re-appointment

Carbon Technologist Business Management Engineering & Project 
Management

Business Management & 
Financial Management

QualificaƟons B.E. (Hons.), Mechanical B. A. (Honours) in English 
from Delhi University

Mechanical Engineer from 
Jadavpur University

B.Com from University of 
CalcuƩa;
Sahitya Visharad, 
Hindi Sahitya Sammelan, 
Prayagraj;
LUTCF, FSS (IN), American 
College and The 
InternaƟonal Academy 
of Insurance & Financial 
Management.

List of outside Directorship 
held

1. India Carbon Limited
2. APL Holdings & 

Investments  Ltd.
3. Shree Shyam Orchid 

Estates Ltd.
4. Goneril Investment & 

Trading Co. Ltd.
5. Prabhushil Group 

Investment  Ltd.
6. Khatu Investment & 

Trading Company Ltd.
7. New Look Investment 

(Bengal) Limited
8. Nilgiri Niketan Private 

Limited
9. Saket Cement Products 

Private Limited
10. Subarna PlantaƟon & 

Trading Co. Ltd.
11. Subhag ProperƟes 

Private Limited

1. Assam Plywood Limited 
2. APL Holdings & 

Investments Ltd.
3. Shree Shyam Orchid 

Estates Ltd.
4. APL Investments Limited
5. Tower Investment & 

Trading Co. Ltd.
6. Budge Budge Carbon 

Limited
7. Goneril Investment & 

Trading Co. Ltd.
8. Prabhushil Group 

Investment  Ltd.
9. Sunray Vanijya Pvt. Ltd.
10. Jyotsana Investment Co. 

Ltd.

Nil Nil
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Name of the Director Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka Mrs. Anita Himatsingka Mr. K K BhaƩacharya Mr. Avinash Kumar Gupta
Chairman/Member of 
the CommiƩee of other 
Companies in which he/she 
is a Director

a)Audit CommiƩee

b) Stakeholders RelaƟonship 
CommiƩee

c)NominaƟon and 
RemuneraƟon CommiƩee

1. India Carbon Limited 
(Member)

2. Khatu Investment 
& Trading Co. Ltd. 
(Member)

3. New Look Investment 
(Bengal) Ltd. (Member)

4. Subarna PlantaƟon 
& Trading Co. Ltd. 
(Member)

1. India Carbon Limited 
(Member)

2. Khatu Investment 
& Trading Co. Ltd. 
(Member)

3. New Look Investment 
(Bengal) Ltd. (Member)

4. Subarna PlantaƟon 
& Trading Co. Ltd. 
(Member)

1. Khatu Investment 
& Trading Co. Ltd. 
(Member)

2. New Look Investment 
(Bengal) Ltd. (Member)

3. Subarna PlantaƟon 
& Trading Co. Ltd. 
(Member)

1. Goneril Investment 
& Trading Co. Ltd.  
(Member)

2. Jyotsana Investment Co. 
Ltd. (Member)

3. Tower Investment 
& Trading Co. Ltd. 
(Member)

1. Goneril Investment 
& Trading Co. Ltd.  
(Member)

2.  Jyotsana Investment Co. 
Ltd. (Member)

3. Tower Investment 
& Trading Co. Ltd. 
(Member)

1. Goneril Investment 
& Trading Co. Ltd.  
(Member)

2. Jyotsana Investment Co. 
Ltd. (Member)

3. Tower Investment 
& Trading Co. Ltd. 
(Member)

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Shareholding in the 
Company as on 31.03.2020

796452 188025 Nil Nil

Disclosure of relaƟonship 
between Directors inter-se

Spouse of Mrs. Anita 
Himatsingka and Father of 
Ms. Maalika Himatsingka

Spouse of Mr. Rakesh 
Himatsingka and Mother of 
Ms. Maalika Himatsingka

Not related to any Director 
/ Key
Managerial Personnel

Not related to any Director 
/ Key
Managerial Personnel
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Name of the Director Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka Mrs. Anita Himatsingka Mr. K K BhaƩacharya Mr. Avinash Kumar Gupta
Terms and CondiƟons 
of appointment/re-
appointment along with 
details of remuneraƟon 
sought to be paid and 
remuneraƟon last drawn 
by such person (including 
siƫng fees)

As per the resoluƟon at 
item no. 2 of the NoƟce 
convening Annual General 
MeeƟng on September 29, 
2020. 
Terms and CondiƟons 
of appointment or re-
appointment are as per 
the RemuneraƟon and 
NominaƟon Policy of the 
Company as displayed on the 
Company’s website i.e. www.
assamcarbon.in
 Commission drawn for the 
F.Y. 2018-19: 
Rs. 6,34,000/-
Commission to be  paid for 
the F.Y. 2019-2020:
Rs. 10,70,000/-
Siƫng Fees last drawn from 
the Company for the F.Y. 
2019-2020: 
Rs. 1,50,000/-.

As per the resoluƟon at 
item no. 3 of the NoƟce 
convening Annual General 
MeeƟng on September 29, 
2020. 
Terms and CondiƟons 
of appointment or re-
appointment are as per 
the RemuneraƟon and 
NominaƟon Policy of the 
Company as displayed on the 
Company’s website i.e. www.
assamcarbon.in
Siƫng Fees last drawn from 
the Company for the F.Y. 
2019-2020: 
Rs. 88,000/-.

As per the resoluƟon at 
item no. 7 of the NoƟce 
convening Annual General 
MeeƟng on September 29, 
2020 read with explanatory 
statement thereto.
Terms and CondiƟons 
of appointment or re-
appointment are as per 
the RemuneraƟon and 
NominaƟon Policy of the 
Company as displayed on the 
Company’s website i.e. www.
assamcarbon.in
The details of remuneraƟon 
sought to be paid is given in 
the explanatory statement 
annexed to this NoƟce. 
RemuneraƟon last drawn is 
Rs. Rs.11,30,808/- for the FY 
2019-2020. 

As per the resoluƟon at 
item no. 5 of the NoƟce 
convening Annual General 
MeeƟng on September 29, 
2020 read with explanatory 
statement thereto.
Terms and CondiƟons 
of appointment or re-
appointment are as per 
the RemuneraƟon and 
NominaƟon Policy of the 
Company as displayed on the 
Company’s website i.e. www.
assamcarbon.in 
RemuneraƟon last drawn 
from the Company: N.A.

N.A. N.A.

Note:
• CM –Chairman of the CommiƩee.
• M – Member of the CommiƩee.
• Directorship in Foreign Co.’s & Companies U/s 8 of the Companies Act, 2013 are excluded.
Chairmanship/Membership of the Audit CommiƩee, Shareholders’ Grievance CommiƩee and NominaƟon & RemuneraƟon 
CommiƩee alone has been considered.
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To the Members,

Your Directors have pleasure in presenƟng the 57th Annual Report on the business and operaƟons of the Company along with 
the Audited Financial Accounts for the financial year ended 31st March, 2020. 

1. CORPORATE OVERVIEW

Your Company is the market leader in Electrical, Mechanical & Speciality Carbon Products, with two Factories, at GuwahaƟ and 
Patencheru, near Hyderabad. 

The Company at its GuwahaƟ factory is primarily engaged in the manufacturing of Various types and grades of Carbon & 
GraphiƟsed Blocks and Blanks, which are then used for fabricaƟon of Electrical Carbon Brushes for the Railways and all types of 
Industries, from Steel Plants, Sugar Mills, Paper Mills, Motor & Generator manufacturers, Mining, Power Plants etc. 

 At its Patencheru factory, which is primarily a State of the art, fabricaƟon and precision machining set up, alongwith Carbon 
Brushes, the Company manufactures a complete range of other Railway TracƟon products, such as, Pantograph Carbons, 
Current Collectors & Silver Impregnated Graphite Railways Signaling Contacts, all from Blocks and Blanks produced at GuwahaƟ. 

The Mechanical Carbon Division, also at Patancheru fabricates Carbon Seals, Bearings, Vanes and Thrust Pads using the latest 
state-of-the-art machines to offer customers product as per their specific requirement to the highest level of tolerance and 
surface finish.

The Specialty Graphite Division, also at Patencheru offers soluƟons to the Diamond Tool Industry, OpƟcal Fibre manufacturing, 
Hard metal sintering and Electronics industry.

In addiƟon, the Company also manufactures various kinds of Graphite products Viz., Hi-Temp Insulator, Fuel Cells, HeaƟng 
Elements, CasƟng Dyes, LubricaƟng Blocks and other such items as per the need of the Customers. Aegis – the world’s most 
effecƟve shaŌ grounding brush is also fabricated by the Company.

Your Company conƟnues to maintain its commitment to meet the highest levels of quality, superior aŌer sales service, product 
innovaƟon and development and technology UpgradaƟon. 

2. FINANCIAL RESULTS  

(INR’000 except EPS Figure)

ParƟculars 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20
Total Revenue 3,71,631 3,92,684 4,52,932 5,24,784 4,95,285
Revenue from OperaƟon 3,70,411 3,90,602 4,39,299 5,12,700 4,84,429
Total Comprehensive Income / (Loss) for the year (533) 27,338 56,553 49,192 80,954
Earning Per Share (Basic & Diluted) (0.19) 9.82 20.97 18.33 28.48
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3. OPERATIONS AND STATE OF COMPANY’S AFFAIRS

During the year under review, revenue from operaƟons of the Company decreased to Rs. 4844.29 Lacs as compared to Rs. 
5127.00 Lacs in the previous year. This was mainly due to the last minute NaƟon wide lockdown declared in the last week 
of March, 2020, as per the direcƟves of the Central / respecƟve State Government(s) to arrest the spread of the COVID 19 
pandemic, leaving the Company with ready material which couldn’t be dispatched. 

However, in spite of this decrease in the Turnover, the Company was able to close the year with a profit of INR 107.97 Lacs 
(before provision of tax) as against a previous year’s profit of INR 634.11 Lacs. This increase in the sales was achieved by 
conƟnuously improving the producƟon and producƟvity by removing boƩlenecks in operaƟons and by adding new Plant and 
Machinery.

During the year, your Company incurred a forex gain of Rs. 0.61 Lacs only as compared to a forex loss of Rs. 0.25 Lacs in the 
previous year, basically as a result of beƩer management of the forex transacƟons, as relaƟve instability in the forex market 
conƟnued in this financial year. 

During the year, your Company achieved an export sales of Rs. 73.88 Lacs as against Rs. 27.67 Lacs in the previous year. However, 
the management has taken strong iniƟaƟve and is confident that it will pick-up in the coming years. 

During the year, your Company has further worked acƟvely towards raƟonalizing its business and product porƞolio, whilst 
adding new product lines, to beƩer uƟlise the available talent and resources and stay abreast of the market dynamics in new 
products. 

Exercise commenced three years back for cost cuƫng, savings in power and fuel as well as improving efficiency and producƟvity 
conƟnued relentlessly and is helping the Company reap rich dividends. 

Balancing of Plant and Machineries, refurbishing old equipment and addiƟon of new equipments and machineries with a view 
to opƟmizing producƟon through modernizaƟon, was undertaken on top priority as was producƟon planning and opƟmizaƟon 
of raw materials procurement and stocks, which conƟnued this year too. 

4. FUTURE OUTLOOK 

Whilst business environment conƟnued to improve in some of the segments in which your Company operates especially in 
Mechanical Carbon’s, but it has started to slow down in the tradiƟonal Electrical Carbon field, especially in Railways TracƟon, 
with the Railways Ministry taking aggressive steps to reƟre the Diesel Locos in favour of Electric Locos, which will hurt your 
Company. 

However, anƟcipaƟng such a move, New Business OpportuniƟes with significant potenƟal for growth, have been idenƟfied and 
new customers inducted, which will contribute significantly to the top and boƩom line of the Company going forward. 

Further, in view of the substanƟal addiƟon to the ongoing business, Company’s expansion in Mechanical Carbons, especially for 
Radial Bearings & Vanes was moving rapidly and for which several new high precision machines have and are being acquired.  
Some machines have already been bought, both domesƟcally as well as imported and this will be an ongoing process, to keep 
up with the rapidly growing demand. 

Global economic growth declined consecuƟvely for the second year to 2.9% in 2019 from 3.0% in 2018 and 3.2% in 2017. During 
the year, global economy conƟnued to face several headwinds due to escalaƟng US-China trade war, heightened geopoliƟcal 
tensions along with slower demand and weaker trade investments. In many parts of the world, manufacturing sectors were 
affected resulƟng in weaker industrial acƟvity and exports. To provide impetus to the overall subdued economic performance, 
major central banks started to ease monetary policy led by Federal Reserve cuƫng rates three Ɵmes in the year.
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However, the posiƟve momentum at the start of 2020 was short lived due to the unfortunate outbreak of COVID-19 which 
turned into a pandemic. The Covid-19 pandemic is the defining global health crisis of our Ɵme and is spreading very fast 
across the conƟnents. RegreƩably, it is much more than a health crisis and is having an unprecedented impact on people and 
economies worldwide. 

Countries around the world are taking all necessary measures to contain the pandemic such as focusing on healthcare services, 
implemenƟng curfews, social distancing pracƟces and lockdowns, which had brought much of global economic acƟvity to 
a complete halt. To restart economic acƟvity, the governments are announcing various sƟmulus packages, easing fiscal and 
monetary policies, providing financial aid to support affected households and businesses.

Although, COVID-19 has impacted all countries around the world, the threat to India was much greater due to its large and dense 
populaƟon. The Government of India was quick to respond to this unprecedented health crisis and announced a naƟonwide 
complete lockdown for 21 days iniƟally which was further extended from Ɵme to Ɵme to contain the spread of COVID-19. The 
lockdown was necessary to prevent further spread of COVID-19 and save human lives. 

However, the complete closure of factories and offices brought all economic acƟviƟes to a grinding halt. This pandemic has 
impacted all industries and sectors, disrupƟng demand and supply balance. Further reverse migraƟon of labour to their 
hometown has aggravated the situaƟon. Due to these challenges, corporates and MSMEs have focused on liquidity and cash 
flow management resulƟng in cost cuƫng and temporary scaling back of operaƟons. 

Towards the end of the quarter ended March 2020, the operaƟons were disrupted at the offices and the manufacturing 
faciliƟes of the Company. These are extremely challenging Ɵmes and the ongoing crisis has impacted all countries, individuals, 
businesses including all industries and sectors and the path back to normality are likely to be slow. The COVID-19 situaƟon is 
rapidly evolving and the actual impact of the pandemic on the global economy and businesses will depend upon the severity 
and course of COVID-19 in the near term.

In context of the impact of COVID-19, the InternaƟonal Monetary Fund (IMF) has cut its 2020-21 growth projecƟon for India to 
1.9% from 5.8% projected in January 2020. Major internaƟonal raƟngs agencies like S&P, Fitch and Moody’s had also cut India’s 
growth forecast to 0% from 3%. India and China are the only two economies in the world that are not projected to shrink in 
2020 even though their growth rates have slowed down considerably. However, the actual impact of pandemic on the economy 
will depend upon severity and course of COVID-19, and it’s probably too early to make any jusƟfiable comments. 

In response to the deceleraƟng economic growth, government has undertaken many supporƟve measures and made significant 
policy changes during the year including fiscal measures like corporate tax rate cuts, bank recapitalizaƟon, sectoral reforms 
to boost core sectors etc. The Reserve Bank of India (RBI) has also announced prudent monetary policies, reduced the policy 
rates for the sixth consecuƟve Ɵme and maintained its accommodaƟve monetary policy stance. These measures supported the 
economy and businesses during 2019 despite the challenging macroeconomic indicators.

The Company has taken various iniƟaƟves towards financial, medical and community support in the fight against Covid-19 
pandemic. In view of the outbreak of the pandemic, the Company undertook Ɵmely and essenƟal measures to ensure the 
safety and well-being of all its employees at all its plant locaƟons, various branch offices and the head office. The Company 
observed all the government advisories and guidelines thoroughly and in good faith.

Despite the negaƟve outlook for the global and domesƟc economy, the responsive acƟon by the Indian government with 
supporƟve monetary policy are expected to improve the business environment in India and should help build a beƩer 
foundaƟon for an economic resurgence post COVID-19.

5. OVERSEAS SUBSIDIARIES

In order to expand the operaƟons of the Company and to explore the prospects of its products in the foreign markets, the 
Company incorporated a Wholly Owned Subsidiary Company in United Kingdom during the year ended 31st March 2020 in 
the name and style of Assam Carbon Products UK Limited (ACPUKL). The Company has agreed to subscribe to the enƟre share 
capital of the ACPUKL comprising of 100 ordinary shares of £1 each at the Ɵme of incorporaƟon. Pending opening of the Bank 
Account and in view of the prevailing pandemic (Covid-19), the Company was unable to remit GBP 100 towards subscripƟon of 
the equity shares of ACPUKL. Also, ACPUKL was unable to commence any acƟvity and has not entered into any transacƟon since 
incorporaƟon, primarily due to the global shutdown prompted by the pandemic. 

Further, the COVID-19 pandemic, apart from the health hazard, created an unprecedented disrupƟon to the Indian as well as 
world economy. Due to the uncertainƟes surrounding the business environment and also due to travel restricƟons, ACPUKL may 
not be able to commence the commercial operaƟons in the near future. The Board has, therefore, resolved vide its meeƟng 
dated 25th June, 2020, elected to treat the WOS as a “dormant company” under the UK Company Law. 

In view of the above and since no investment (financial commitment) was made as on 31st March 2020, the Company was not 
required to prepare consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020. 
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6. DIVIDEND

AŌer the huge operaƟng losses in the past several years, under Morgans management, the Company has just started making 
operaƟng profits from the last three financial years, under the new management and there is sƟll a massive amount of repairs 
and maintenance, modernizaƟon & upgradaƟon of the Plant and Machinery at both the factories as well as capital expenditure 
to be incurred and as such the Board has decided not to declare Dividend for the current year, in order to preserve its cash 
reserve.

7. GENERAL RESERVE  

The Company has not transferred any amount to the General Reserve during the financial year ended March 31, 2020.

8. PUBLIC DEPOSIT

The Company has not accepted / renewed any public deposit under SecƟon 73 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with Companies 
(Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 2014, during the year. 

9. STATUTORY AUDITORS’ AND THEIR REPORT

M/s. D.Basu & Co., Chartered Accountants (Regd. No.: 301111E) was already appointed as the Statutory Auditors of the 
Company at its Annual General MeeƟng for a period of tenure of 5 (five) years pursuant to the provisions of SecƟon 139(2) 
and the Companies (Audit & Auditors) Rules, 2014 (including any Statutory modificaƟons or re-enactment thereof for the Ɵme 
being in force). Their tenure ends in the forthcoming Annual General MeeƟng of the Company. 

They being eligible has given their consent to conƟnue at their office if re-appointed for a second consecuƟve term of 5 (five) 
years. 

The observaƟons made in the  Auditors’ Report read together with relevant notes thereon are self-explanatory and therefore, 
do not call for any further explanaƟons or comments. 

Statutory Auditors of the Company has drawn aƩenƟon to Note 25(A)(iii) & 25(A)(iv) to the Ind AS Financial Statements as a 
key Audit  maƩer, wherein it is stated that the Company has not established a provision for employee wages and benefits, for 
the lock out period at the Company’s GuwahaƟ Factory from 7 December 2010 to 8 March 2012, on the principle of ‘No Work 
No Pay’. They had further stated that as the maƩer is currently subjudice and hence the impact, if any, in terms of provision 
of employee wages and employee benefits and its resultant impact on profit for the year ended 31 March 2020, reserves and 
surplus and current liabiliƟes, cannot currently be determined.

With regard to the Statutory Auditor’s qualified opinion in Note 25(A)(iii) & 25(A)(iv) to the Ind AS Financial Statements, in 
the opinion of the Management, the issue of payment of back wages during the period of strike / lock-out at the Company’s 
GuwahaƟ Unit employees effecƟve from 7th December 2010 to 8th March 2012 has been referred to appropriate authoriƟes. 
However, the Company, on the principle of ‘No Work No Pay’, has neither ascertained nor made any provision for payment of 
such wages and other employee benefits for the period of strike and lock out. The maƩer is currently subjudice.

10. DIRECTORS

The Board of your Company consists of the following Directors:

NAME OF DIRECTORS DESIGNATION DIN
Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka Chairman and Non ExecuƟve Director 00632156
Mr. Kali Krishna BhaƩacharya Managing Director 07011241
Mrs. Anita Himatsingka Non ExecuƟve Woman Director 01201879
Ms. Maalika Himatsingka Non ExecuƟve Woman Director 07811394
Mrs. Rupanjana De Non ExecuƟve Independent Woman Director 01560140
Mr. Amitav Saikia Non ExecuƟve Nominee Director 02663720
Mr. Sandip Modi Non ExecuƟve Independent Director (Resigned on 25th June, 2020) 01797999
Mr.  Sanjay Kumar Lhila Non ExecuƟve Independent Director 01383460
Mr.  Susheel Kumar Sharma Non ExecuƟve Director (w.e.f. 1st May, 2019) 01636111
Mr. Avinash Kumar Gupta Non ExecuƟve Independent Director (w.e.f. 25th June, 2020) 08763153

The Board of Directors of your Company, based on the recommendaƟons of NominaƟon and RemuneraƟon CommiƩee (“NRC”), 
approved the following appointments and re-appointments on the Board of the Company:
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Appointment of Mr. Avinash Kumar Gupta (DIN: 08763153), as an AddiƟonal (Non-ExecuƟve, Non-Independent) Director of the 
Company w.e.f., 25th June, 2020. The Board recommends confirmaƟon of his appointment to the Shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Sandip Modi (DIN: 01797999), a Non-ExecuƟve, Independent Director of the Company has resigned from the Company 
w.e.f., 25th June, 2020. 

Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka, (DIN: 00632156) and Mrs. Anita Himatsingka (DIN: 01201879), Directors (Non-ExecuƟve), reƟres by 
rotaƟon and being eligible, offers themselves for re-appointment. The Board recommends their re-appointment.

Appropriate ResoluƟons for confirming the above appointment(s) and re-appointment(s), forms part of the NoƟce convening 
the 57th Annual General MeeƟng (‘AGM’) scheduled to be held on September 29, 2020. 

Brief profile and parƟculars of experience, aƩributes and skills that qualify the above Directors for the Board membership are 
disclosed in the NoƟce convening the AGM to be held on September 29, 2020.

As per the disclosure received from the Directors, none of the Directors are disqualified from being appointed as Directors, as 
specified in SecƟon 164(2) of the Companies Act, 2013. 

11. KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL

Pursuant to SecƟon 203 of the Companies Act, 2013, following are the Key Managerial Personnel of the Company:

1. Mr. Kali Krishna BhaƩacharya, Managing Director,

2. Mr. Pijush Bysack, Chief Financial Officer, 

3. Mr. Subhendu Chakraborty, Company Secretary and Compliance Officer 

During the year under review, there has been no change in the Key Managerial Personnel of the Company. 

12. INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

The Company has received declaraƟons pursuant to SecƟon 149(7) of the Companies Act, 2013 from all the Independent 
Directors of the Company, confirming that they meet the criteria of independence as prescribed under sub-secƟon (6) of 
SecƟon 149 of the Companies Act, 2013 as well as the SEBI (LisƟng ObligaƟons and Disclosure Requirements) RegulaƟons, 2015 
[including any statutory modificaƟon(s) or re-enactment thereof for the Ɵme being in force], in respect of their posiƟon as an 
“Independent Director” of Assam Carbon Products Ltd. and are independent of the Management. In terms of SecƟon 150 read 
with Rule 6 of the Companies (Appointment and QualificaƟon of Directors) Rules, 2014, Independent Directors of the Company 
have undertaken requisite steps towards the inclusion of their names in the data bank of Independent Directors maintained 
with the Indian InsƟtute of Corporate Affairs.

13. INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROL SYSTEM

The Company has an Internal Financial Control System, commensurate with the size, scale and complexity of its operaƟons. 
The Internal Audit funcƟonary is done by independent Chartered Accountants, whose reports are being placed in the Audit 
CommiƩee and Board for their review. Their objecƟve is to ensure efficient usage and protecƟon of the Company’s resources, 
accuracy in financial reporƟng and due compliance of statutes and procedures. The internal control structure showed no 
reportable material weaknesses. The Company’s Internal Financial Control system is commensurate with current best pracƟces 
and effecƟvely addresses emerging challenges of its business. The Company has a process in place to conƟnuously idenƟfy 
gaps and implement newer and / or improved controls wherever the effect of such gaps would have a material effect on the 
Company’s operaƟon. 

14. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY

The Company’s Risk Management Policy is well defined to idenƟfy and evaluate business risks across all businesses. It assesses 
all risk at both pre and post-miƟgaƟon levels and looks at the actual or potenƟal impact that a risk may have on the business 
together with an evaluaƟon of the probability of the same occurring. Risk mapping exercises are carried out with a view to 
regularly monitor and review the risks, idenƟfy ownership of the risk, assessing monetary value of such risk and methods to 
miƟgate the same. The Policy for the same is hosted on its website at hƩps://www.assamcarbon.in/ under the Heading About 
Us  Investor RelaƟons  Board Policies.

15. GOING CONCERN STATUS

Regulators or Courts or Tribunals passed no orders during the year affecƟng the Company’s going concern status and its future 
operaƟons.
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16. SHARE CAPITAL

The Company has neither issued any class of shares nor was there any buy-back of shares during the year under review. Further, 
the Company does not have any stock opƟon scheme for its employees.

17. EVALUATION OF BOARD PERFORMANCE

The Board carried out an annual evaluaƟon of its own performance, of each Board Member individually, as well as the working 
of its CommiƩees in compliance with the provisions of the Act and LisƟng RegulaƟons.

The Board works with the nominaƟon and remuneraƟon commiƩee to lay down the evaluaƟon criteria for the performance of 
execuƟve / non-execuƟve / independent directors. 

Pursuant to the provisions of SecƟon 149(8) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Schedule IV thereto, an exclusive meeƟng 
of the Independent Directors of the Company was duly convened and held between themselves on 3rd February 2020 during 
the Financial Year 2019-2020.  

18. NUMBER OF BOARD MEETINGS

A tentaƟve calendar of Board MeeƟngs is prepared and circulated to the Board Members in advance. A minimum of four Board 
MeeƟngs are held annually. AddiƟonal Board MeeƟngs are convened by giving appropriate noƟce to address the Company’s 
specific needs, if any. In case of business exigencies or urgency of maƩers, resoluƟons are passed by circulaƟon. The Company 
has held at least one Board MeeƟng in every quarter and the maximum Ɵme gap between any two consecuƟve meeƟngs have 
always been less than one hundred and twenty days.

The Board of Directors met 4 (four) Ɵmes during the financial year 2019-20, namely, on 30th April 2019, 19th July, 2019, 13th 
November 2019 and 3rd February 2020 respecƟvely.

19. VIGIL MECHANISM / WHISTLE BLOWER POLICY

The Company has a vigil mechanism named Vigil Mechanism and Whistle Blower Policy to deal with instance of fraud and 
mismanagement, if any, as per the provisions of the Companies Act 2013 which is hosted on its website at hƩps://www.
assamcarbon.in/ under the Heading About Us  Investor RelaƟons  Board Policies.

20. AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit CommiƩee as on 31st March, 2020 comprises of 4 (Four) members out of which, 3 (Three) Non-ExecuƟve Independent 
Directors and 1 (one) Non-ExecuƟve Directors respecƟvely namely, Mr. S K Lhila, (Chairman), Mrs. Rupanjana De (Member), Mr. 
Sandip Modi (Member) and Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka (Member). The Company Secretary is the Secretary of the CommiƩee. The 
Chief Financial Officer and the Managing Director are the invitees to the MeeƟngs along with the various Auditors. 

During the year ended 31st March 2020, the Audit CommiƩee met 4 (four) Ɵmes on 30th April 2019, 19th July, 2019, 13th 
November 2019 and 3rd February 2020 respecƟvely. The maximum gap between any two consecuƟve meeƟngs was less than 
one hundred and twenty days. All recommendaƟons of the Audit CommiƩee were duly accepted by the Board. 

21. NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND POLICY

The CommiƩee as on 31st March 2020 comprises 4 (Four) members out of which, 2 (two) Non-ExecuƟve Independent Directors 
and 2 (Two) Non-ExecuƟve Director respecƟvely namely, Mr. S K Lhila (Chairperson), and Mrs. Rupanjana De (Member), Mr. 
Rakesh Himatsingka (Member) and Mr. Susheel Kumar Sharma (Member).

During the year ended 31st March 2020, the CommiƩee met 2 (two) Ɵmes on 30th April 2019 and 3rd February, 2020.

The Company’s NominaƟon and RemuneraƟon Policy has been prepared in accordance with SecƟon 178(3) of the Act and is 
available at the website hƩps://www.assamcarbon.in/ under the Heading About Us  Investor RelaƟons  Board Policies.

22. SHARE TRANSFER COMMITTEE 

The Board has delegated the powers of approving transfer / transmission, etc. of shares to the Share Transfer CommiƩee. The 
said CommiƩee has met once during the year ended 31st March 2020, for approving the transfer / transmission, etc. of shares 
lodged with the Company. 

However, the Board has decided to dissolve the commiƩee with effect from 30th April 2019 and merge it with Stakeholders 
RelaƟonship CommiƩee.

23. STAKEHOLDERS RELATIONSHIP COMMITTEE

During the year under review, this commiƩee, comprises 4 (Four) members out of which, 2 (Two) Non-ExecuƟve Independent 
Directors and 2 (two) Non-ExecuƟve Director, namely, Mr. S K Lhila (Chairperson), Mr. Sandip Modi (Member), Mr. Rakesh 
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Himatsingka (Member) and Mrs. Anita Himatsingka (Member) respecƟvely.

During the year ended 31st March 2020, the CommiƩee met twice on 24th May, 2019 and 20th September, 2019.

24. PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEES OR INVESTMENTS

Your Company has not given any loan or guarantees covered under the provisions of SecƟon 186 of the Companies Act, 2013, 
nor have made any investment under the Companies Act 2013.

25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

All related party transacƟons that were entered into during the financial year were at arm’s length basis and were in the 
ordinary course of the business. 

There are no materially significant related party transacƟons made by the Company with Promoters, Key Managerial Personnel 
or other designated persons which may have potenƟal conflict with interest of the Company at large. 

Necessary disclosures required under Indian AccounƟng Standard (Ind-AS) have been made in the Notes to Financial Statements.

ParƟculars of contracts or arrangements with related parƟes referred to in SecƟon 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 (as may be 
amended from Ɵme to Ɵme), in the prescribed Form AOC-2, is appended as “Annexure A” to the Board’s Report. 

26. HOLDING COMPANY:

The Company does not have any Holding Company as on 31st March, 2020. 

27. OBLIGATION OF THE COMPANY UNDER THE SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF WOMEN AT WORKPLACE (PREVENTION, 
PROHIBITION AND REDRESSAL) ACT, 2013

In order to prevent sexual harassment of women at work place your Company has followed adequate Policy for prevenƟon, 
prohibiƟon and redressal of Sexual Harassment of Women at workplace and has set up a CommiƩee for implementaƟon of the 
said policy. During the year ended 2020 Company has not received any complaint at any of its Units. The Policy for the same 
is hosted on its website at hƩps://www.assamcarbon.in/ under the Heading About Us  Investor RelaƟons  Board Policies.

28. COST AUDITORS

Pursuant to SecƟon 148 of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’) read with the Companies (Cost Records and Audit) Rules, 
2014, as amended from Ɵme to Ɵme, the Company is required to maintain cost records and have the audit of its cost records 
conducted by a Cost Accountant. Cost records are made and maintained by the Company as required under SecƟon 148 (1) of 
the Act. The Board, upon recommendaƟon from the Audit CommiƩee appointed M/s. A S & Associates, Cost Accountants (FRN: 
000523) as Cost Auditors of the Company, to Audit the cost accounƟng records maintained by the Company for the financial 
year ended 31st March, 2021 at a remuneraƟon of Rs.  20,000/- plus applicable taxes and incidental expenses. Accordingly, 
a resoluƟon seeking raƟficaƟon of the remuneraƟon payable to the Cost Auditors, has been included as a part of the NoƟce 
convening the 57th Annual General MeeƟng.

29. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Your Company is exempted from compliance with the Corporate Governance provisions under RegulaƟon 15 of SEBI (LisƟng 
ObligaƟons and Disclosure Requirements), RegulaƟons 2015, since the Company’s share capital and net worth, was less than 
the specified threshold limit as on the last day of the previous financial year.

30. CODE OF CONDUCT

Pursuant to the provisions of RegulaƟon 17(5) of the SEBI (LisƟng ObligaƟons and Disclosure Requirements) RegulaƟons, 2015, 
the Company has in place a Code of Conduct for the Board of Directors, Senior Managers and all other Employees of the 
Company. The code of conduct is hosted on its website at hƩps://www.assamcarbon.in/  under the Heading About Us  
Investor RelaƟons  Board Policies.

The Managing Director’s CerƟficate under RegulaƟon 34(3) read with Part D of Schedule V to the SEBI (LisƟng ObligaƟons and 
Disclosure Requirements) RegulaƟon, 2015, relaƟng to Compliance with the Code of Conduct for the year ended 31st March 
2020, forms a part of this Report enclosed as “Annexure B”.

31. CEO/CFO CERTIFICATION:

The Managing Director & Chief Financial Officer have cerƟfied to the Board in accordance with RegulaƟon 17(8) read with 
Part B of Schedule II to the LisƟng RegulaƟons pertaining to CEO/CFO cerƟficaƟon for the year ended March 31, 2020 that 
the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2020 do not contain any untrue statement and that these statements 
represent a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs and other maƩers as specified thereunder.
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32. CODE OF CONDUCT FOR PREVENTION OF INSIDER TRADING:

In accordance with the requirements of SEBI (ProhibiƟon of Insider Trading) RegulaƟons, 2015 including amendments thereof, 
the Company has adopted a comprehensive Code of Conduct for ProhibiƟon of Insider Trading and procedures for fair disclosure 
of Unpublished Price SensiƟve InformaƟon for its designated employees.

33. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS:

The Management Discussion and Analysis for the year under review as sƟpulated under RegulaƟon 34(2) and Schedule V of 
the SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (LisƟng ObligaƟons and Disclosure Requirements) RegulaƟons, 2015 (the LisƟng 
RegulaƟons), is presented in a separate secƟon forming part of this Annual Report.

34. SECRETARIAL AUDIT

Pursuant to provisions of SecƟon 204 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies (Appointment and RemuneraƟon of 
Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 read with the SEBI LisƟng RegulaƟons, the Company has appointed Mr. Rajat Kumar Jalan, 
PracƟsing Company Secretary (C P No. 5705, Membership No. ACS 14895), to undertake the Secretarial Audit of the Company 
for the financial year 2020-2021. 

During the year, the Company has complied with the mandatorily applicable Secretarial Standards issued by the InsƟtute of 
Company Secretaries of India.  

The Secretarial Audit report along with the Secretarial Compliance Report for the financial year 2019-2020 are annexed 
herewith as “Annexure C” and forms part of this report. There are no qualificaƟons in the Report.

35. INTERNAL AUDITORS

Based on the recommendaƟon of the Audit CommiƩee M/s. J Kumar Jain & Associates, Chartered Accountants, are the Internal 
Auditors of the Company.

36. DETAILS OF FRAUD REPORTED BY THE AUDITORS

As per Auditors’ Report, no fraud u/s 143(12) was reported by the auditors. 

37. EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN

The extract of annual return in Form MGT 9 as required under SecƟon 92(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 12 of 
the Companies (Management and AdministraƟon) Rules, 2014 is enclosed as “Annexure D” and the same is available within 
the annual report in the website of the Company at hƩps://www.assamcarbon.in/  under the Heading About Us  Investor 
RelaƟons  Annual Reports & Annual General MeeƟngs.

38. INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS 

As reported for the previous year, the industrial relaƟons at GuwahaƟ factory conƟnues to remain strained. Low producƟvity, 
indiscipline and absenteeism conƟnued to be a great cause for worry. Inspite of all such posiƟve steps from Management’s side, 
the cooperaƟon and producƟvity from the workmen isn’t forthcoming as expected. 

Whilst, Patancheru Union readily accepted Management’s proposal to scale back the fesƟval holidays from FiŌeen to Twelve 
days, but Birkuchi Union point blank refused. 

Even though the company wasn’t obliged to, but expecƟng that it would be a huge moƟvator, the Charter of Demands of 2015 
and 2018 were resolved and the workmen received the revised wages as per agreement and appointment of 17 nos of Trainee 
workmen was also effected, even though the Company was in no posiƟon to increase its workmen numbers. However, most 
regreƩably in spite of assurances there has been no improvement in the aƫtude and / or producƟvity by the workmen. 

With respect to the Company’s Patancheru Unit, there are no IR issues as on date. The Company had entered into wage 
agreement which is valid Ɵll December 2019. 

39. CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION, FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO 

InformaƟon on ConservaƟon of Energy, Technological AbsorpƟon and Foreign Exchange earnings and outgo is appended as 
“Annexure E” in this report. 

40. EMPLOYEES/ MANAGERIAL REMUNERATION

The statement containing the disclosure as required in accordance with the provisions of SecƟon 197(12) of the Companies Act 
2013 read with rule 5 (1) of the Companies (Appointment and RemuneraƟon of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 is annexed 
as “Annexure – F” and forms a part of the Board Report.

Further, none of the employees of the Company are in receipt of remuneraƟon exceeding the limit prescribed under Rule 5 (2) of 
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the Companies (Appointment and RemuneraƟon of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014. Statement pursuant to SecƟon 197(12) 
of the Companies Act 2013 read with rule 5(2) and 5(3) of the Companies (Appointment and RemuneraƟon of Managerial 
Personnel) Rules, 2014 also forms part of this report and is appended as “Annexure F”.
41. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
Pursuant to SecƟon 134 (5) of the Companies Act, 2013, the Directors confirm:
i) that in preparaƟon of the annual accounts, the applicable accounƟng standards have been followed along with the proper 

explanaƟon relaƟng to material departures;
ii) that such accounƟng policies have been selected and applied consistently and such judgments and esƟmates have been 

made that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company at the end 
of the financial year ended 31st March, 2020 and of the profit of the Company for the year ended on that date;

iii) that proper and sufficient care was taken for the maintenance of adequate accounƟng records in accordance with the 
provisions of this Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for prevenƟng and detecƟng fraud and other 
irregulariƟes;

iv) that the annual accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis;
v) that proper internal financial controls are in place and the internal financial controls are adequate and operaƟng effecƟvely;
vi) that proper system to ensure compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws including applicable Secretarial 

Standards are in place and such systems are adequate and operaƟng effecƟvely;
42. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR) 
The brief outline of the Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Policy of the Company and the iniƟaƟves undertaken by the 
Company on CSR acƟviƟes along with composiƟon of CSR CommiƩee with detail parƟculars of CSR meeƟng held during the year 
are set out in “Annexure – G”  of this report. The policy is available at the website of the Company at the website hƩps://www.
assamcarbon.in/  under the Heading About Us  Investor RelaƟons  Board Policies.
43.  MATERIAL CHANGES & COMMITMENTS AFFECTING FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY, OCCURING AFTER BALANCE 
SHEET DATE
IncenƟve declared by the Government of India to eligible Industrial units under Central Excise towards refund of excise duty 
paid through PLA (Current Account) on finished products vide NoƟficaƟon No. 32/1999-CE dated 8 July 1999 (as amended) was 
reduced from 100% to 36% during 2008. Being aggrieved by such reducƟon in the Excise benefit, some of the beneficiaries 
approached the Court of Law. ThereaŌer Hon’ble GauhaƟ High Court had passed judgment for full refund of excise duty in 
terms of the original noƟficaƟon. The Hon’ble Supreme Court vide its Order dated 22th April, 2020 has decided the cases in 
favour of the Revenue by seƫng aside the judgement of the GauhaƟ High Court. Refund of 50% of the differenƟal amount, 
which comes to Rs. 15829 (Actual figure Rupees One Crore FiŌy Eight Lakh Twenty Nine Thousand Four Hundred and FiŌy One 
only), was received by the Company on furnishing solvent surety in pursuance of interim Order dated 7th December, 2015 of 
the Apex Court. As per the said judgment of the Hon’ble Supreme Court it has also been made clear that the pending refund 
applicaƟons shall be decided as per the subsequent noƟficaƟons/industrial policies which were impugned before the respecƟve 
High Courts.
The Company is in the process of filing a Review PeƟƟon, challenging the said Order of the Hon’ble Supreme Court dated 
22.04.2020. Thus, Ɵll the final conclusion is drawn, 50% of the differenƟal amount received, as above, will conƟnue to be 
treated as Other Financial LiabiliƟes and cost, if any, associated with the said refund will be considered in these accounts on 
finality.
44.  NOTE OF APPRECIATION 

The Directors expressed their graƟtude for the assistance and co-operaƟon that the Company has received from the Central 
Government, State Governments of Assam and Telengana, other State Governments, Statutory AuthoriƟes, Regulatory Bodies, 
Customers, Bankers, Suppliers and Shareholders. Your Directors also wish to place on record their appreciaƟon for the services 
by the execuƟves, staff and workers of the Company.

Registered Office: For and on behalf of the Board
Birkuchi, GuwahaƟ, Assam - 781026
CIN: L23101AS1963PLC001206
 Sd/- Sd/-
 Kali Krishna BhaƩacharya Rakesh Himatsingka
Date: 25th June, 2020 Managing Director Chairman
Place: Kolkata  (DIN: 07011241) (DIN: 00632156)
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FORM NO. AOC -2
[Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-secƟon (3) of secƟon 134 of the Act and Rule 8(2) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014]

Form for Disclosure of parƟculars of contracts/arrangements entered into by the company with related parƟes referred to in 
sub secƟon (1) of secƟon 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 including certain arms length transacƟon under third proviso thereto.

1. Details of contracts or arrangements or transacƟons not at Arm’s length basis.

 There were no contracts or arrangements or transacƟon entered into during the year ended March 31st, 2020, which was 
not at Arm Length basis.

2. Details of contracts or arrangements or transacƟons at Arm’s length basis for the year ended 31.03.2020 are as follows: 

Name(s) of the 
Related party 
& Nature of 
RelaƟonship

Nature of 
Contracts/ 
arrangements/
transacƟons

DuraƟon of 
Contracts/ 
arrangements/ 
transacƟons

Salient 
Terms of the 
Contracts or 
arrangements 
or transacƟons 
including the 
value, if any

JusƟficaƟon 
for entering 
into such 
Contracts or 
arrangements 
or transacƟons

Date(s) of 
approval by 
the Board

Amount in Rs.

India Carbon 
Ltd

 

Mr. Rakesh 
Himatsingka, 
Non ExecuƟve 
Director and 
Chairman of 
the Board, is 
interested.

Sale and 
Purchase of 
Goods

April 1st , 2019- 
March 31st , 
2020

Omnibus 
approval 
accorded for 
Sale, Purchase 
or supply of 
any goods or 
material and 
avail or render 
any service 
not exceeding 
Rs.5.00 Crore 
for the F.Y 2019-
20

Purchase of raw 
material which 
is to be used 
in producƟon 
process

30.04.19,

19.07.19, 
13.11.19, 
03.02.20

Purchase of 
raw materials 
amounƟng to 
Rs.1.38 Lacs

and sale of Rs. 
1.25 Lacs and 
paid Rent of 
Rs. 2 Lacs and 
travelling of 
0.13 Lacs

Registered Office: For and on behalf of the Board
Birkuchi, GuwahaƟ, Assam - 781026
CIN: L23101AS1963PLC001206
 Sd/- Sd/-
 Kali Krishna BhaƩacharya Rakesh Himatsingka
Date: 25th June, 2020 Managing Director Chairman
Place: Kolkata  (DIN: 07011241) (DIN: 00632156)
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S CERTIFICATE ON COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT 

As required under RegulaƟon 34(3) read with Part D of Schedule V of SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (LisƟng ObligaƟons 
and Disclosure Requirements) RegulaƟons, 2015, I hereby declare that all the Board Members and Senior Management 
Personnel of the Company have complied with the Code of Conduct of the Company for the year ended 31st March 2020.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Sd/-
Kali Krishna BhaƩacharya

Kolkata Managing Director 
Date: 25th June, 2020 DIN: 07011241

Form No. MR-3
SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

For The Financial Year Ended 31st March, 2020
[Pursuant to secƟon 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No. 9 of 
the Companies (Appointment and RemuneraƟon Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To,
The Members,
Assam Carbon Products Limited,
Birkuchi, GuwahaƟ, Assam-781026 

I have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions and the adherence to good corporate 
pracƟces by ASSAM CARBON PRODUCTS LTD (hereinaŌer called the Company). Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner 
that provided me a reasonable basis for evaluaƟng the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and expressing my opinion 
thereon. 

Based on my verificaƟon of the ASSAM CARBON PRODUCTS LTD’s books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and 
other records maintained by the company and also the informaƟon provided by the Company, its officers, agents and authorized 
representaƟves during the conduct of secretarial audit, I hereby report that in my opinion, the Company has, during the audit 
period covering the financial year ended on 31st March, 2020, complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder and also 
that the Company has proper Board-processes and compliance-mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner and subject 
to the reporƟng made hereinaŌer:

I have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained by ASSAM CARBON 
PRODUCTS LTD (“the Company”) for the financial year ended on 31st March, 2020, according to the provisions of:

(i) The Companies Act, 2013/ the Companies (Amendment) Act, 2017 (the Act) and the rules made there under as amended 
from Ɵme to Ɵme;

(ii) The SecuriƟes Contracts(RegulaƟon) Act, 1956(“SCRA”), rules made there under and the RegulaƟons, circulars, guidelines 
issued thereunder by the SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India(“SEBI”) as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme;

(iii) The Depositories Act, 1996 and the RegulaƟons and Bye-laws framed there under and as may be amended from Ɵme to 
Ɵme;

(iv) Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulaƟons made there under as may be amended from Ɵme 
to Ɵme to the extent of Foreign Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and External Commercial Borrowings and 
as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme;

(v) The following RegulaƟons, Circulars, Guidelines prescribed under the SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 
(‘SEBI Act’) (as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme):-

 (a) The SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (LisƟng ObligaƟons And Disclosure Requirements) RegulaƟons, 2015 (as 
amended from Ɵme to Ɵme);

“Annexure C” to the Board of Directors’ Report
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 (b) The SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (SubstanƟal AcquisiƟon of Shares and Takeovers) RegulaƟons, 2011 (as 
amended from Ɵme to Ɵme);

 (c) The SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (ProhibiƟon of Insider Trading) RegulaƟons, 2015 (as amended from Ɵme 
to Ɵme);

 (d) The SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) RegulaƟons, 2018 (as may 
be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme); - Not Applicable as there was no reportable event;

 (e) The SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (Employee Stock OpƟon Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase Scheme) 
Guidelines, 1999/ SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits) RegulaƟons, 2014 (as may 
be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme); - Not Applicable as there was no reportable event;

 (f) The SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (Issue and LisƟng of Debt SecuriƟes) RegulaƟons, 2008 as may be 
amended from Ɵme to Ɵme; - Not Applicable as there was no reportable event;

 (g) The SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) RegulaƟons, 1993 
regarding the Companies Act and dealing with client (as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme); - Not Applicable as 
there was no reportable event;

 (h) The SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (DelisƟng of Equity Shares) RegulaƟons, 2009 (as may be amended from 
Ɵme to Ɵme) ; - Not Applicable as there was no reportable event; 

 (i) SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (Issue and LisƟng of Non-ConverƟble and Redeemable Preference Shares) 
RegulaƟons, 2013 (as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme); - Not Applicable as there was no reportable event; 

 (j) The SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of SecuriƟes) RegulaƟons, 2018 (as may be amended from Ɵme to 
Ɵme); - Not Applicable as there was no reportable event; and

 (k) Any other RegulaƟons/ Rules/NoƟficaƟons/ Circulars/ Amendments etc. as issued by the SecuriƟes and Exchange 
Board of India from Ɵme to Ɵme;

(vi) Other laws/acts/rules as may be applicable specifically to the company:

 (a) Payment of Bonus Act, 1965 as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme;

 (b) Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972 as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme;

 (c) Payment of Wages Act, 1936 as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme;

 (d) Trade Unions Act, 1926 as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme;

 (e) Workmen’s CompensaƟon Act, 1923 as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme;

 (f) Employees’ Provident Funds and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952 as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme;

 (g) Employees’ State Insurance Act, 1948 as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme;

 (h) Minimum Wages Act, 1948 and its Rules as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme; 

 (i) The Factories Act, 1948 & its allied State Laws & Rules and as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme;

 (j) PolluƟon Control Board Clearance as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme; 

 (k) Air (PrevenƟon and Control of PolluƟon) Act, 1981 and the rules and standards made thereunder.

 (l) Water (PrevenƟon and Control of PolluƟon) Act, 1974 and Water (PrevenƟon and Control of PolluƟon) Rules, 1975

 (m) Environment ProtecƟon Act, 1986 and the rules, noƟficaƟons issued thereunder.

 (n) Central Excise Act, 1944 and its Rules as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme; 

 (o) Income Tax Act, 1961 and its Rules as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme;

 (p) Central Sales Tax Act, 1956 and its Rules as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme;

 (q) VAT Act and its Rules as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme; 

 (r) Profession Tax and its Rules as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme;  

 (s) Shops and Establishments Act and its Rules as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme; 

 (t) Industrial Disputes Act 1947 and its Rules as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme;

 (u) Service Tax Act and its Rules as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme;

 (v) Contract Labor (RegulaƟon and AboliƟon) Act, 1970 as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme.
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 (w) Central Goods and Services Tax Act, 2017 & its Rules / the Integrated Goods and Services Tax Act, 2017 & its Rules 
there under including any Circulars/ NoƟficaƟons issued from Ɵme to Ɵme. 

I have also examined the required licenses specific to the Company and found them duly up to date/applied for renewal, as the 
case may be.

I have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following:

(i) Secretarial Standards issued by The InsƟtute of Company Secretaries of India with respect to Board and General MeeƟngs.

(ii) The LisƟng Agreements entered into by the Company with the CalcuƩa Stock Exchange Limited read with the SecuriƟes 
and Exchange Board of India (LisƟng ObligaƟons and Disclosure Requirements) RegulaƟons, 2015. 

During the period under review the Company has complied with the provisions of the Act, Rules, RegulaƟons, Guidelines, 
Standards, etc. menƟoned above.

I further report that: 

The Board of Directors of the Company is duly consƟtuted with proper balance of ExecuƟve Directors, Non-ExecuƟve Directors, 
Independent Directors and Women Directors. The changes in the composiƟon of the Board of Directors that took place during 
the period under review were carried out in compliance with the provisions of the Act. 

Adequate noƟce is given to all directors to schedule the Board MeeƟngs, agenda and detailed notes on agenda were sent at 
least seven days in advance, and a system exists for seeking and obtaining further informaƟon and clarificaƟons on the agenda 
items before the meeƟng and for meaningful parƟcipaƟon at the meeƟng.

Majority decision is carried through while the dissenƟng members’ views, if any, are captured and recorded as part of the 
minutes.

I further report that there are adequate systems and processes in the company commensurate with the size and operaƟons of 
the company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulaƟons and guidelines.

I further report that Company has passed special resoluƟon pursuant to SecƟon 197, 198, Schedule V and other applicable 
provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules framed thereunder, including any statutory modificaƟon(s) or re-
enactment(s) thereof for the Ɵme being in force and SEBI (LisƟng ObligaƟons and Disclosure Requirements) RegulaƟons, 2015, 
and had obtained the consent of the Shareholders for payment of commission upto 1% of the net profits of the Company, 
computed in the manner laid down in SecƟon 198 of the Companies Act, 2013, from the financial year 2018-2019 and onwards 
unƟl otherwise repudiated by the Board of Directors, to Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka, (DIN: 00632156) Non-ExecuƟve Chairman of 
the Board, in addiƟon to the siƫng fees for aƩending the meeƟng of the Board of Directors/CommiƩees thereof and any other 
expenses incurred for official/business purposes only.

I further report that Company has passed special resoluƟons regarding re-appointment of Mr Sanjay Kumar Lhila (DIN: 
01383460) and Mrs. Rupanjana De (DIN: 01560140) as Independent Directors of the Company, for a second term of 5 (five) 
consecuƟve years on the Board of the Company,  pursuant to the provisions of SecƟons 149, 150 and 152 read with Schedule IV 
and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”), the Companies (Appointment and QualificaƟon 
of Directors) Rules, 2014 and the applicable provisions of the SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (LisƟng ObligaƟons and 
Disclosure Requirements) RegulaƟons, 2015 [including any statutory modificaƟon(s) or re-enactment(s) hereof, for the Ɵme 
being in force].

I further report that Company has also passed special resoluƟons regarding approval of transacƟons under SecƟon 185 of the 
Companies Act, 2013,  pursuant to the provisions of SecƟons 185, 186 and such other provisions, as may be applicable, including 
any statutory modificaƟon(s) or re-enactment(s) thereof for the Ɵme being in force, to make investments / acquisiƟons / give 
loan(s) / any other form of debt to any person(s) or other body corporate(s) and / or guarantee(s) / provide any security(ies) in 
connecƟon with a loan/ any other form of debt to any other body corporate(s) or person(s) and to make investment or acquire 
by way of subscripƟon, purchase or otherwise the securiƟes of any other body corporate(s) whether Indian or overseas, in 
which any Directors are directly or indirectly deemed to be interested, up to a sum not exceeding Rs. 100 crores at any point 
of Ɵme, in one or more tranches, in their absolute discreƟon as may be deem beneficial and in the interest of the Company.

Sd/-
Rajat Kumar Jalan

PracƟsing Company Secretary
C P No.: 5705

Place: Kolkata ACS  No.: 14895
Date: 25th June, 2020  UDIN: A014895B000382966
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Secretarial compliance report of
Assam Carbon Products Limited,

Birkuchi, GuwahaƟ, Assam-781026
for the year ended 31st March, 2020

I, Shri Rajat Kumar Jalan, Company Secretary in PracƟce, have examined:

(a) all the documents and records made available to us and explanaƟon provided by Assam Carbon Products Limited (“the 
listed enƟty”),

(b) the filings/ submissions made by the listed enƟty to the stock exchanges,

(c) website of the listed enƟty which is hƩp://www.assamcarbon.in/

(d) all other document/ filing, as may be relevant, which has been relied upon to make this cerƟficaƟon,

 for the year ended 31st March, 2020 (“Review Period”), in respect of compliance with the provisions of :

 (a) the SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 (“SEBI Act”) and the RegulaƟons, circulars, guidelines issued 
thereunder; and

 (b) the SecuriƟes Contracts(RegulaƟon) Act, 1956(“SCRA”), rules made there under and the RegulaƟons, circulars, 
guidelines issued thereunder by the SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India(“SEBI”);

The specific RegulaƟons, whose provisions and the circulars/ guidelines issued thereunder, have been examined, include:-

(a) SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (LisƟng ObligaƟons and Disclosure Requirements) RegulaƟons, 2015;

(b) SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) RegulaƟons,2018;

(c) SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (SubstanƟal AcquisiƟon of Shares and Takeovers) RegulaƟons,2011;

(d) SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of SecuriƟes) RegulaƟons, 2018;

(e) SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits) RegulaƟons,2014;

(f) SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (Issue and LisƟng of Debt SecuriƟes) RegulaƟons,2008;

(g) SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (Issue and LisƟng of Non-ConverƟble and Redeemable Preference Shares) 
RegulaƟons, 2013;

(h) SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (ProhibiƟon of Insider Trading) RegulaƟons,2015;

(i) All other regulaƟons as may be applicable and circulars/ guidelines issued thereunder; and based on the above 
examinaƟon, I/We hereby report that, during the Review Period:

 (a) The listed enƟty has complied with the provisions of the above RegulaƟons and circulars/ guidelines issued 
thereunder, except in respect of maƩers specified below:-

Sr. 
No.       

Compliance Requirement (Regula ons / 
Circulars/ Guidelines including specific 

clause)

Devia ons Observa ons/ Remarks of the Prac cing 
Company Secretary

NOT  APPLICABLE

 (b) The listed enƟty has maintained proper records under the provisions of the above RegulaƟons and circulars/ 
guidelines issued thereunder insofar as it appears from my/our examinaƟon of those records.

 (c) The following are the details of acƟons taken against the listed enƟty/ its promoters/ directors/ material subsidiaries 
either by SEBI or by Stock Exchanges (including under the Standard OperaƟng Procedures issued by SEBI through 
various circulars) under the aforesaid Acts/ RegulaƟons and circulars/ guidelines issued thereunder:
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Sr. 
No.

AcƟon Taken by Details of 
violaƟon

Details of acƟon taken 
e.g. fines, warning leƩer, 

debarment, etc.

ObservaƟons/remarks of 
the PracƟcing Company 

Secretary, (if any)
NOT  APPLICABLE

 (d) The listed enƟty has taken the following acƟons to comply with the observaƟons made in previous reports:

Sr. 
No.

ObservaƟons of the 
PracƟcing Company 

Secretary in the 
previous reports

ObservaƟons made 
in the secretarial 

compliance report for 
the year ended 31st 

March, 2020

AcƟons taken by the 
listed enƟty, if any

Comments of the 
PracƟcing Company 

Secretary on the acƟons 
taken by the listed 

enƟty
NOT  APPLICABLE

Sd/-
Rajat Kumar Jalan

PracƟsing Company Secretary
C P No.: 5705

Place: Kolkata ACS  No.: 14895
Date: 25th June, 2020  UDIN: A014895B000382988
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Form No. MGT-9

EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN

as on the financial year ended on 31st March, 2020
[Pursuant to secƟon 92(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule 12(1) of the

Companies (Management and AdministraƟon) Rules, 2014, as amended from Ɵme to Ɵme]

I. REGISTRATION & OTHER DETAILS:

CIN L23101AS1963PLC001206
RegistraƟon Date 17th April 1963
Name of the Company ASSAM CARBON PRODUCTS LTD
Category/Sub-category of the Company Company Limited by Shares
Address of the Registered office  & contact details BIRKUCHI,

GUWAHATI, ASSAM
INDIA – 781026

Whether listed company Yes
Name, Address & contact details of the Registrar & Transfer 
Agent, if any.

CB Management Services (P) Ltd.,
P-22, Bondel Road, Kolkata- 700 019
Phone No.: 40116700/17/18.
Fax No.: (033) 4011 6739, E mail: rta@cbmsl.com

II. PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY

 (All the business acƟviƟes contribuƟng 10 % or more of the total turnover of the company shall be stated)

S. 
No.

Name and DescripƟon of main 
products / services

NIC Code of the Product/service %  to total turnover of the company

1 CARBON BLOCKS NA 12% 
2 CARBON BRUSH NA 44% 
3 MECHANICAL AND SPECIAL CARBON 

COMPONENTS
NA 44%

III. PARTICULARS OF HOLDING, SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATE COMPANIES

Sl 
No.

Name and Address of the Company Company 
Number

Holding/
Subsidiary/
Associate

% of shares 
held

Applicable 
SecƟon

1 Assam Carbon Products UK Limited
Address: 66, Prescot Street, 
London E18NN, England

11991009 Subsidiary (*) 2 (87) of the 
Companies Act, 
2013

Note: (*) Pending opening of the bank account by ACPUKL, and in view of the prevailing pandemic (Covid-19), the Company 
was unable to remit GBP 100 towards subscripƟon of the equity shares of ACPUKL. Thus. no investment (financial commitment) 
was made as on 31st March 2020. 
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IV. SHARE HOLDING PATTERN (Equity Share Capital Breakup as percentage of Total Equity)

 Category-wise Share Holding

 Number of shares held at the 
beginning of the year

Number of shares held 
at the end of the year

 
% change 

during 
the year

Category of 
Shareholder

Demat Physical Total % of total 
shares

Demat Physical Total % of total 
shares

A.  Promoters          
(1) Indian          
(a) Individual/ HUF 2049300 0 2049300 74.37 1943300 0 1943300 70.52 -3.85
(b) Central Government 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
(c ) State Government(s) 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
(d) Bodies Corporate 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
(e) Banks/FI 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
(f) Any Other 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
Sub Total(A)(1) 2049300 0 2049300 74.37 1943300 0 1943300 70.52 0.00
(2) Foreign
(a) NRIs-Individuals  0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
(b) Other - Individuals 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
(c )Bodies Corporate 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
(d) Banks/FI 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
(e) Any Other 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
Sub Total(A)(2) 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
Total Shareholding of 
Promoter (A)= (A)(1)+(A)
(2)

2049300 0 2049300 74.37 1943300 0 1943300 70.52 -3.85

B. Public shareholding
1. InsƟtuƟons
(a) Mutual  Funds 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
(b) Banks/FI 50 100050 100100 3.63 50 100050 100100 3.63 0.00
(c ) Central Government 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
(d) State Government(s) 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
(e) Venture  Capital Funds 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
(f) Insurance Companies 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
(g) FIIs 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
(h) Foreign Venture Capital 
Funds

0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00

(i) Other (specify) 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
Sub-Total (B)(1) 50 100050 101000 3.63 50 100050 100100 3.63 0.00
2. Non-insƟtuƟons
(a) Bodies Corporate
(i) Indian 20953 12100 33053 1.20 133561 0 133561 4.85 3.65
(ii) Overseas 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
(b) Individuals
(i) Individual shareholders 
holding nominal share 
capital up to Rs 1 lakh

226813 194531 421344 15.29 227102 179897 406999 14.77 -0.52

“Annexure D” to the Board of Directors’ Report (Contd.)



Assam Carbon Products Limited Annual Report 2019-202036

(ii) Individual shareholders 
holding nominal   share 
capital in excess of Rs. 
1 lakh.

157073 0 157073 5.70 157423 0 157423 5.71 0.01

(c )Others (specify)    
(c-i) Non-Resident 
Individuals

2025 350 2375 0.09 2025 350 2375 0.09 0.00

(c-ii) LLP 6200 0 6200 0.22 8200 0 8200 0.30 0.08
(c-iii) Trust 150 0 150 0.01 150 0 150 0.01 0.00
Sub-Total (B)(2) 397319 206981 604300 21.93 413853 192347 606200 22.00 0.07
Total Public Shareholding 
(B)= (B)(1)+(B)(2)

399269 307031 706300 25.63 413903 292397 706300 25.63 0.00

C. Shares  held  by 
Custodians for GDRs & 
ADRs

 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00

GRAND TOTAL (A)+(B)+(C) 2448569 307031 2755600 100.00 2463203 292397 2755600 100.00 0.00
B) Shareholding of Promoters:

Sl. 
No.

 

Shareholder’s Name
 

Shareholding at the beginning of the year Shareholding at the end of the year % change in 
shareholding 

during the 
yearNo. of Shares % of total 

Shares of the 
Company

%of Shares 
Pledged / 

encumbered to 
total shares

No. of Shares % of total 
Shares of the 

Company

%of Shares 
Pledged / 

encumbered to 
total shares

1 Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka 796452 28.90 NIL 796452 28.90 NIL 0.00

2 Mr. Shaurya Veer 
Himatsingka

887823 32.22 NIL 868823 31.53 NIL 0.69

3 Mrs. Anita Himatsingka 275025 9.98 NIL 188025 6.82 NIL 3.16

4 Ms. Maalika Himatsingka 90000 3.27 NIL 90000 3.27 NIL 0.00

C) Change in Promoters’ Shareholding (please specify, if there is no change)

Sl.
No.

ParƟculars Shareholding at the 
beginning of the year

CumulaƟve Shareholding 
during the year

No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company

No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company
1. MR. RAKESH HIMATSINGKA

At the beginning of the year 796452 28.90 796452 28.90
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during 
the year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease 
(e.g. allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

Nil Nil Nil Nil

At the end of the year - - 796452 28.90
2. MR. SHAURYA VEER HIMATSINGKA

At the beginning of the year 887823 32.22 887823 32.22
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during 
the year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease 
(e.g. allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):
Decrease/ Sale/ Transfer as on 31.03.2020  (*)

(19000) (0.69) 868823 31.53

At the end of the year - - 868823 31.53
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Sl.
No.

ParƟculars Shareholding at the 
beginning of the year

CumulaƟve Shareholding 
during the year

No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company

No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company
3. MRS. ANITA HIMATSINGKA

At the beginning of the year 275025 9.98 275025 9.98
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during 
the year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease 
(e.g. allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):
Decrease/ Sale/ Transfer as on 31.03.2020  (*)

(87000) (3.16) 188025 6.82

At the end of the year - - 188025 6.82
4. MS. MAALIKA HIMATSINGKA

At the beginning of the year 90000 3.27 90000 3.27
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during 
the year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease 
(e.g. allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

Nil Nil Nil Nil

At the end of the year - - 90000 3.27
Note:  (*) Documents relaƟng to aforesaid Decrease in Promoters holding were duly and Ɵmely executed. However, due to 
outbreak of Covid -19 Pandemic and consequent closure of office of the Depository ParƟcipant, effect of this in the Demat 
could be given on 18.05.2020. 

D) Shareholding PaƩern of top ten Shareholders: 

 (Other than Directors, Promoters and Holders of GDRs and ADRs):

Sl. 
No.

For Each of the Top 10 Shareholders Shareholding at the 
beginning of the year

CumulaƟve Shareholding 
during the year

No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company

No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company
1. Assam Industrial Development CorporaƟon Ltd.

At the beginning of the year 100000 3.63 100000 3.63
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

- - - -

At the end of the year - - 100000 3.63
2. Mahendra Girdharilal

At the beginning of the year 65549 2.38 65549 2.38
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

- - - -

At the end of the year - - 65549 2.38
3. P P Zibi Jose

At the beginning of the year 55050 2.00 55050 2.00
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase/ 09.08.2019

100 0 55150 2.00

At the end of the year - - 55150 2.00
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Sl. 
No.

For Each of the Top 10 Shareholders Shareholding at the 
beginning of the year

CumulaƟve Shareholding 
during the year

No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company

No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company
4. Prem Chand Goenka

At the beginning of the year 25924 0.94 25924 0.94
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

- - - -

At the end of the year - - 25924 0.94
5. Shri Parasram Industries Pvt. Ltd.

At the beginning of the year 11570 0.42 11570 0.42
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

- - - -

At the end of the year - - 11570 0.42
6. Narendra Kumar Bapna

At the beginning of the year 10900 0.40 10900 0.40
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

- - - -

At the end of the year - - 10900 0.40
7. Shri Parasram SecuriƟes Pvt Ltd

At the beginning of the year 10750 0.39 10750 0.39
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

- - - -

At the end of the year - - 10750 0.39
8. Raja KakaƟ

At the beginning of the year 10000 0.36 10000 0.36
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

- - - -

At the end of the year - - 10000 0.36
9. 3A Financial Services Ltd

At the beginning of the year 6525 0.24 6525 0.24
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Decrease/ 
Sale/ Transfer 17.05.2019

(50) (0) 6475 0.23

Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase 28.06.2019

50 0 6525 0.24

Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Decrease/ 
Sale/ Transfer 12.07.2019

(10) (0) 6515 0.24
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Sl. 
No.

For Each of the Top 10 Shareholders Shareholding at the 
beginning of the year

CumulaƟve Shareholding 
during the year

No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company

No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Decrease/ 
Sale/ Transfer 02.08.2019

(10) (0) 6505 0.24

Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Decrease/ 
Sale/ Transfer 23.08.2019

(3850) (0.14) 2655 0.10

Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase 30.08.2019

100 0 2755 0.10

Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Decrease/ 
Sale/ Transfer 14.02.2020

(1730) (0.06) 1025 0.04

Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Decrease/ 
Sale/ Transfer 28.02.2020

(25) (0) 1000 0.04

Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase 20.03.2020

233 0.01 1233 0.04

At the end of the year 1233 0.04
10. Mayna H Shah

At the beginning of the year 6370 0.23 6370 0.23
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

- - - -

At the end of the year - - 6370 0.23
11. Plutus Capital Management LLP

At the beginning of the year 6200 0.22 6200 0.22
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase 28.06.2019

2000 0.07 8200 0.30

At the end of the year - - 8200 0.30
12. Jyotsna Rajgarhia

At the beginning of the year 5350 0.19 5350 0.19
Date wise Increase / Decrease in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

- - - -

At the end of the year - - 5350 0.19
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Sl. 
No.

For Each of the Top 10 Shareholders Shareholding at the 
beginning of the year

CumulaƟve Shareholding 
during the year

No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company

No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company
13. Gobindsingh Dhawda HUF

At the beginning of the year 4860 0.18 4860 0.18
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase 27.09.2019

400 0.01 5260 0.19

Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase 04.10.2019

100 0 5360 0.19

Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase 25.10.2019

200 0.01 5560 0.20

Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase 22.11.2019

100 0 5660 0.21

Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase 20.03.2020

100 0 5760 0.21

At the end of the year - - 5760 0.21
14. Indra Kumar Bagri

At the beginning of the year 4758 0.17 4758 0.17
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Decrease/ 
Sale/ Transfer 03.05.2019

(600) (0.02) 4158 0.15

Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Decrease/ 
Sale/ Transfer 24.05.2019

(500) (0.02) 3658 0.13

Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Decrease/ 
Sale/ Transfer 01.11.2019

(100) (0) 3558 0.13

 Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during 
the year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase / 
Purchase 15.11.2019

150 0.01 3708 0.13

Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase 06.12.2019

200 0.01 3908 0.14

Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Decrease/ 
Sale/ Transfer 24.01.2020

(250) (0.01) 3658 0.13
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Sl. 
No.

For Each of the Top 10 Shareholders Shareholding at the 
beginning of the year

CumulaƟve Shareholding 
during the year

No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company

No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Decrease/ 
Sale/ Transfer 28.02.2020

(200) (0.01) 3458 0.13

Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase 06.03.2020

200 0.01 3658 0.13

At the end of the year - - 3658 0.13
15. Vivek Sheel  Aggarwal

At the beginning of the year 4300 0.16 4300 0.16
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

- - - -

At the end of the year - - 4300 0.16
16. Nirali Jignesh Gohel

At the beginning of the year 0 0 0 0
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase 23.08.2019 4425 0.16 4425 0.16
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase 30.08.2019 200 0.01 4625 0.17
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase 06.09.2019 1000 0.04 5625 0.20
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Decrease/ 
Sale/ Transfer 27.09.2019 (1000) (0.04) 4625 0.17
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase 25.10.2019 150 0.01 4775 0.17
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase 01.11.2019 100 0 4875 0.18
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase 07.02.2020 350 0.01 5225 0.19
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase 28.02.2020 200 0.01 5425 0.20
At the end of the year - - 5425 0.20
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Sl. 
No.

For Each of the Top 10 Shareholders Shareholding at the 
beginning of the year

CumulaƟve Shareholding 
during the year

No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company

No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company
17 Progressive Star Finance Private Limited

At the beginning of the year 0 0 0 0
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Increase 
/ Purchase 31.03.2020

106000 3.85 106000 3.85

At the end of the year - - 106000 3.85
E) Shareholding of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel:

Sl. 
No.

Shareholding of each Directors and each Key Managerial 
Personnel

Shareholding at the 
beginning
of the year

CumulaƟve Shareholding 
during the

Year
No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company

No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company
1 Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka- Chairman

At the beginning of the year 796452 28.90 796452 28.90
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

0 0 0 0

At the end of the year - - 796452 28.90
2 Mr. K K BhaƩacharya- Managing Director

At the beginning of the year 0 0 0 0
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

0 0 0 0

At the end of the year 0 0 0 0
3 Mrs. Anita Himatsingka- Director

At the beginning of the year 275025 9.98 275025 9.98
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): Decrease/ 
Sale/ Transfer as on 31.03.2020

(87000) (3.16) 188025 6.82

At the end of the year - - 188025 6.82
4 Ms. Maalika Himatsingka- Director

At the beginning of the year 90000 3.27 90000 3.27
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

0 0 0 0

At the end of the year - - 90000 3.27
5 Mr. S K Lhila- Independent Director

At the beginning of the year 0 0 0 0
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

0 0 0 0

At the end of the year 0 0 0 0
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Sl. 
No.

Shareholding of each Directors and each Key Managerial 
Personnel

Shareholding at the 
beginning
of the year

CumulaƟve Shareholding 
during the

Year
No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company

No. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

Company
6 Mrs. Rupanjana De- Independent Director

At the beginning of the year 0 0 0 0
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

0 0 0 0

At the end of the year 0 0 0 0
7 Mr. A Saikia- Nominee Director

At the beginning of the year 0 0 0 0
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

0 0 0 0

At the end of the year 0 0 0 0
8 Mr. Sandip Modi-  Independent Director (Resigned on 25th 

June, 2020)
At the beginning of the year 0 0 0 0
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

0 0 0 0

At the end of the year 0 0 0 0
9 Mr. Avinash Kumar Gupta - Independent Director 

(Appointed w.e.f. 25th June, 2020) 0 0 0 0

At the beginning of the year 0 0 0 0
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

0 0 0 0

At the end of the year 0 0 0 0
10 Mr. Susheel Kumar Sharma-  Director

At the beginning of the year 2120 0.08 2120 0.08
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

0 0 0 0

At the end of the year - - 2120 0.08
11 Mr. Pijush Bysack – Chief Financial Officer

At the beginning of the year 0 0 0 0
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.): 

0 0 0 0

At the end of the year 0 0 0 0
12 Mr. S Chakraborty- Company Secretary

At the beginning of the year 0 0 0 0
Date wise Increase / (Decrease) in Shareholding during the 
year specifying the reasons for increase /decrease (e.g. 
allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

0 0 0 0

At the end of the year 0 0 0 0
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V) INDEBTEDNESS - Indebtedness of the Company including interest outstanding/accrued but not due for payment. (In Rs. 
‘000)

 Secured Loans 
excluding deposits

Unsecured 
Loans

Deposits Total Indebtedness

Indebtedness at the beginning of the 
financial year

    

i) Principal Amount Nil Nil Nil Nil
ii) Interest due but not paid Nil Nil Nil Nil
iii) Interest accrued but not due Nil Nil Nil Nil

Total (i+ii+iii) Nil Nil Nil Nil
Change in Indebtedness during the financial 
year

Nil Nil Nil Nil

* AddiƟon Nil 59500 Nil 59500
* ReducƟon Nil Nil Nil Nil
Net Change Nil 59500 Nil 59500
Indebtedness at the end of the financial 
year
i) Principal Amount Nil 59500 Nil 59500
ii) Interest due but not paid Nil Nil Nil Nil
iii) Interest accrued but not due Nil 1598 Nil 1598

Total (i+ii+iii) Nil 61098 Nil 61098
VI. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL:

A. RemuneraƟon to Managing Director, Whole-Ɵme Directors and/or Manager: (In Rs)

Sl. 
No.

 

ParƟculars of RemuneraƟon

 

Name of MD/WTD/ 
Manager

Total Amount (in 
Rs.)

Mr K K BhaƩacharya (in 
Rs.)

 

1 Gross salary   

(a) Salary as per provisions contained in secƟon 17(1) of the Income-
tax Act, 1961

5,28,000 5,28,000

(b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) Income-tax Act, 1961  6,02,808 6,02,808

(c) Profits in lieu of salary under secƟon 17(3) Income- tax Act, 1961  NIL  NIL

2 Stock OpƟon  NIL  NIL
3 Sweat Equity  NIL  NIL
4 Commission

-  as % of profit
-  others, specify…

 NIL  NIL

5 Others, please specify  NIL  NIL

 Total (A) 11,30,808 11,30,808

 Ceiling as per the Act  RemuneraƟon is within the limits as laid 
down under the Companies Act, 2013 & its 

Corresponding Rules & Schedules.
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B. RemuneraƟon to other Directors ( In Rs)

Sl. 
No.

Name of Directors ParƟculars of RemuneraƟon Total Amount (in 
Rs.)

  Independent Directors Fee for aƩending 
Board/CommiƩee 
MeeƟngs  (in Rs.)

Commission Others, please 
specify

 

1 Mr S K Lhila 1,36,000  NIL  NIL 1,36,000
2 Mrs Rupanjana De 1,43,000  NIL  NIL 1,43,000

Non ExecuƟve Directors    
3 Mr. Rakesh Hitamsingka 1,50,000 10,70,000 NIL 12,20,000
4 Mrs. Anita Himatsingka 88,000 NIL NIL 88,000
5 Ms. Maalika

Himatsingka
40,000 NIL NIL    40,000

6 Mr. Sandip Modi (Resigned on 
25th June, 2020)

1,02,000 NIL NIL 1,02,000

7 Mr. Susheel Kumar Sharma 67,000 NIL NIL 67,000
8 Mr. Avinash Kumar Gupta 

(Appointed w.e.f. 25th June, 
2020)

NIL NIL NIL NIL

 Total Managerial
RemuneraƟon to other Directors 
(1+2+3+4)

7,26,000 10,70,000 NIL 17,96,000

 Overall Ceiling as per the Act RemuneraƟon is within the limits as laid down under the Companies Act, 2013 & 
its Corresponding Rules & Schedules.

C. REMUNERATION TO KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL OTHER THAN MD/MANAGER/WTD                                                                                                          

(In Rs.)

Sl. 
No.

ParƟculars of RemuneraƟon Key Managerial Personnel

CS CFO CEO Total

1 Gross salary    

(a) Salary as per provisions contained in secƟon 
17(1) of the Income-tax Act, 1961

6,41,904 17,54,640  NIL 23,96,544

(b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) Income-tax 
Act, 1961

 NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL

(c) Profits in lieu of salary under secƟon 17(3) 
Income-tax Act, 1961

 NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL

2 Stock OpƟon  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL
3 Sweat Equity  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL
4 Commission  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL
 -  as % of profit  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL
 others, specify…  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL
5 Others, please specify  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL

 Total 6,41,904 17,54,640  NIL 23,96, 544
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VII. PENALTIES / PUNISHMENT/ COMPOUNDING OF OFFENCES:

Type SecƟon of the 
Companies Act

Brief
DescripƟon

Details of 
Penalty / 

Punishment/ 
Compounding 
fees imposed

Authority
[RD / NCLT/ 

COURT]

Appeal made,
if any (give 

Details)

A. COMPANY
Penalty  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL NIL
Punishment  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL NIL
Compounding  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL NIL
B. DIRECTORS
Penalty  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL NIL
Punishment  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL NIL
Compounding  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL NIL
C. OTHER OFFICERS IN DEFAULT
Penalty  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL
Punishment  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL  NIL
Compounding NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL

Registered Office: For and on behalf of the Board
Birkuchi, GuwahaƟ, Assam - 781026
CIN: L23101AS1963PLC001206
 Sd/- Sd/-
 Kali Krishna BhaƩacharya Rakesh Himatsingka
Date: 25th June, 2020 Managing Director Chairman
Place: Kolkata  (DIN: 07011241) (DIN: 00632156)
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A. ConservaƟon of Energy

 (a) Energy ConservaƟon Measures :

  The Company is very conscious about Energy ConservaƟon which occupies an important place, while choosing new 
plant and machineries. 

  Company is also rapidly moving towards all LED fixtures to save energy.

B. Technology AbsorpƟon

 Research and Development (R&D)

 1. Specific areas in which R& D carried out by the company

  IndigenizaƟon of raw materials started in the earlier years, conƟnued during the year.

 2. Benefits derived as a result of the above R & D

  Benefits is being derived in terms of beƩer quality. 

 3. Future plan of acƟon

  • ConƟnued IndigenizaƟon of imported raw materials;

  • Development of New Material for New Business Areas, such as for Radial Bearings, Auto Sector etc;

  • Improve exisƟng Grades to meet more demanding OperaƟonal condiƟons. 

 4. Expenditure on R & D (Rs. In lacs)

  a. Capital -

  b. Recurring  24.67

  c. Total 24.67

  d. Total R & D expenditure as a percentage of total turnover 0.51

  Technology absorpƟon, adaptaƟon and innovaƟon

  The Company has fully absorbed the technology on exisƟng product line.

C. Foreign exchange earnings and outgo:

 a. AcƟviƟes relaƟng to exports; iniƟaƟves taken to increase exports; development of new export markets for products 
and services; and export plans: - 

  During the year, exports were made to Europe and the Far East, for Mechanical Carbon Products as well as Electrical 
Carbon products. Efforts to increase exports are ongoing.

 b. Total foreign exchange used and earned Rs. In Lacs

  Total Foreign Exchange used  17.45

  Total Foreign Exchange earned 83.80

Registered Office: For and on behalf of the Board
Birkuchi, GuwahaƟ, Assam - 781026
CIN: L23101AS1963PLC001206
 Sd/- Sd/-
 Kali Krishna BhaƩacharya Rakesh Himatsingka
Date: 25th June, 2020 Managing Director Chairman
Place: Kolkata  (DIN: 07011241) (DIN: 00632156)
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DETAILS PERTAINING TO REMUNERATION AS REQUIRED UNDER SECTION 197(12) OF COMPANIES ACT, 2013 READ WITH RULE 
5(1) OF THE COMPANIES (APPOINTMENT AND REMUNERATION OF MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL) RULES, 2014

i) The percentage increase in remuneration of each Director, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary during the 
financial year 2019-20, ratio of remuneration of each Director to the median remuneration of each Key Managerial 
Personnel(KMP) against the performance of the Company are as under:

Sl.
No.

Name of the Director/KMP and 
DesignaƟon

RemuneraƟon
of Director/

KMP for F.Y 2019-2020 
(in Rs.)

% increase in
RemuneraƟon

Of each Director/ KMP
in the Financial Year 

2019-2020

RaƟo of
remuneraƟon of

each Director/ KMP
to median 

remuneraƟon of 
employees

1. Mr. R Himatsingka, Non-ExecuƟve 
Chairman

12,20,000 46.99% 2.85:1

2. Mr K K BhaƩacharya, MD 11,30,808 6.46% 2.64:1
3. Mrs. Anita Himatsingka, 

Non-ExecuƟve Director
88,000 -47.62% 0.21:1

4. Ms. Maalika Himatsingka, 
Non-ExecuƟve Director

40,000 0% 0.09:1

5. Mr S K Lhila, Non-ExecuƟve & 
Independent

1,36,000 7.94% 0.32:1

6. Mrs Rupanjana De, 
Non-ExecuƟve & Independent

1,43,000 7.52% 0.33:1

6. Mr. Subhendu Chakraborty, CS 6,41,904 9.40% 1.50:1
7. Mr. P Bysack, CFO 17,54,640 5.13% 4.10:1

Notes:

1. Calculation of median is taken on the figures as at the end of Financial Year.

2. i) The Median Remuneration of Employees as on March 31st, 2020 was Rs. 4,28,446 and as on March 31st, 2019 was 
Rs 3,98,568.

 ii) The percentage increase in the median remuneration of employees was 7.5% during the financial year.

 iii) There were 244 permanent employees on the rolls of Company as on March 31, 2020.

 iv) The Company has earned a profit after tax during the financial year 2019-20 amounting of Rs. 809.54 Lacs compared 
to a profit of Rs 491.92 Lacs during the financial year 2018-19. 

 v) Average percentage increase made in the salaries of employees other than the managerial personnel in the last 
financial year was 2.90%, whereas the average percentage increase made in the salaries of managerial personnel 
is 6.78%. Further there was no exceptional increase in the salary during the Financial Year ended 31.03.2020 as 
compared above.

 vi) It is hereby affirmed that the remuneration paid during the year ended 31st Day of March, 2020 is as per the 
Remuneration Policy of the Company.

  i) Information on employees’ particulars as on 31st March, 2020 as per Rule 5(2) and Rule 5(3) of the Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of Management Personnel) Rules, 2014, as may be amended from time 
to time, is provided hereunder. Particulars of the same shall also be made available to any shareholder on a 
specific request made by him/her in writing before the date of this Annual General Meeting. In case of request 
received even after the date of completion of Annual General Meeting, such particulars shall also be made 
available to the Shareholders.
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Sl. 
No.

Name of 
employee

DesignaƟon 
of employee

RemuneraƟon 
received 

(Amount in 
Rs.)

Nature of 
employment, 

whether 
contractual or 

otherwise

QualificaƟon 
and 

experience of 
the employee

Date of 
commencement 
of employment

The age 
of such 

employee

The last 
employment 
held by such 

employee 
before joining 
the company

The percentage 
of equity shares 

held by the 
employee in 
the company 

within the 
meaning of 
clause(iii) of 
sub-rule(2)

Whether any 
such employee 
is a relaƟve of 
any director or 
manager of the 
company and 
if so, name of 

such director or 
manager

1 Jayant Kumar GM(O) 27,85,950.00 Permanent BTCH – Mech, 
MBA – 

MarkeƟng
26 yrsExp

26.08.1991 56 NA NA NA

2
Piyush Bysack

CFO 17,54,650.00 Permanent B Com, CA – 
Inter

01.02.2011 49 Sahara India NA NA

3 K.C. Joshi Advisor - 
Accounts

15,14,400.00 Consultant B.com,LLB, 
C.A (Inter) 

Group I with 
34 yrs exp.

01/06/1982
&01/04/2014

65 NA 0.003 NA

4 Nilanjan Chaki Dy. General 
Manager

14,97,456.00 Permanent B.E in 
Industrial & 
ProducƟon 
with 27 yrs 

exp.

04/08/2016 57 Mersen India 
P. Ltd

0.0004 NA

5 JyoƟrmai 
Gowswamy

Chief General 
Manager – 

Technology & 
OperaƟons

14,61,600.00 Consultant B.E chemical 
with 37 yrs 

exp.

04/07/1973 
& 01/04/2013

69 NA 0.007 NA

6
Aaviinash 
Nimckar

Zonal Head - 
West

13,84,650.00 Permanent BE- Mech 28.09.2012 48 Spraying 
Systems Pvt 

Ltd

NA NA

7
S.M. Madan 

Kumar

Zonal Head - 
South

12,58,800.00 Permanent DEE 01.10.2007 57 Mersen India 
P. Ltd

NA NA

8 Anuj Pratap 
Singh Chau

han

AGM  –  
Maintenance 

11,25,000.00 Permanent Diploma 
(Mech) 

AIME (Mech)
With 18 
yrsExp

21/02/2019 47 MS Bhushan 
Power & Steel 

Ltd

NA NA

9 A. Shashidhar 
Raju

Manager - 
ProducƟon

1065312.00 Permanent Diploma EEE 05.12.2011 47 Rane Break 
lines

NA NA

10
Alok Bhuyan Zonal Head 

- East
10,43,130.00 permanent AMIE (elec)

31 yrs exp. 
01.01.2014 57 NA NA

Registered Office: For and on behalf of the Board
Birkuchi, GuwahaƟ, Assam - 781026
CIN: L23101AS1963PLC001206
 Sd/- Sd/-
 Kali Krishna BhaƩacharya Rakesh Himatsingka
Date: 25th June, 2020 Managing Director Chairman
Place: Kolkata  (DIN: 07011241) (DIN: 00632156)
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REPORT ON CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR) INITIATIVES 
A brief outline of the Company’s CSR policy including Overview of projects / programs undertaken:
The Company has framed Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Policy in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility) Rules, 2014, as may be amended from Ɵme to Ɵme. It 
enumerates the list of acƟviƟes for channelizing the amount of expenditure towards Corporate Social Responsibility by the 
Company.
CSR CommiƩee has proposed to spend more than 2% of Company’s average net profits made during the 3 immediately 
preceding financial years in Manav Kalyan Trust with an established track record of more than 3 years and was also given 
directly to Dist Collector, Sangareddy District against their request for CSR donaƟon for the purpose of Swachha Bhart Mission, 
DonaƟon of Dustbin and to Nagarik Swasthya Sangh also with an established track record of more than 3 years.
The CSR Policy of the Company as approved by the Board of Directors is available on the Company’s website at the web link 
www.assamcarbon.in/
1. The composiƟon of the CSR CommiƩee is as under:

Name Category PosiƟon
Mrs. Rupanjana De Non execuƟve Independent Director Chairperson
Mrs. Anita Himatsingka Non execuƟve Non-Independent Director Member

Mr. Kali Krishna BhaƩacharya Managing Director Member

2. During the year ended 31st March 2020, the CommiƩee met 2 (two) Ɵmes on 13th November 2019 and 3rd February 2020.
3. Average Net Profit of the Company during last 3 Financial Years: Rs. 559.97 Lacs.
4. Prescribed CSR Expenditure (two percent of the amount as in item 4 above): 11.20 Lacs.
5. Details of CSR spent during the financial year:
 (a) Total amount to be spent for the year: Rs. 11.20 Lacs.
 (b) Total amount spent for the year: Rs. 11.59 Lacs.
 (c) Amount unspent, if any: N.A
6. Manner in which the amount spent during the financial year is detailed below:

“Annexure G” to the Board of Directors’ Report
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Sl 
No

CSR project 
or acƟvity 
idenƟfied

Sector in 
which the 
Project/
acƟvity is
covered

Projects/ 
Programs
1.Local area or 
other 
2.Specify the 
State 
and District 
where 
projects or 
program 
was under
taken

Amount 
outlay 
(budget) 
project/
programs 
wise

Amount
Spent on the
Project or
programs
Subheads:
1.Direct 
expenditure 
on project or 
programme
2.Overheads
3. Corpus Fund.

CumulaƟve 
expenditure up 
to the reporƟng 
period

Amount spent 
directly/through 
implemenƟng 
agency 

1. PromoƟon of EducaƟon 
and healthcare as specified 
in Company’s CSR Policy

EducaƟon and 
health care

Kolkata,
West Bengal

Rs.8,21,000 Rs. 8,21,000 
Lakhs by way of 
contribuƟon/
donaƟon to 
Manav Kalyan 
Trust

Rs.8,21,000 Through 
implemenƟng 
agency Manav 
Kalyan Trust came 
into existence in 
the year 1977, 
eligible as per 
provisions of 
Companies Act, 
2013

2. PromoƟng health care 
including prevenƟnve 
health care and sanitaƟon

PromoƟng 
health care 
including 
prevenƟnve 
health care and 
sanitaƟon

Office of Dist 
Collector, 
Sangareddy 
District, 
Hyderabad

Rs.1,40,007
(Inclusive of GST)

Rs.1,40,007by 
way of 
contribuƟon/
donaƟon to 
the Office of 
Dist Collector, 
Sangareddy 
District, 
Hyderabad 
(Inclusive of GST)

Rs.1,40,007 Directly paid 
to the Office of 
Dist Collector, 
Sangareddy 
District, Hyderabad

3. For Eye OperaƟon & 
Health Care

PromoƟng 
health care 
including 
prevenƟve 
health care

Kolkata,
West Bengal

Rs. 2,20,000 Rs. 2,20,000 
by way of 
contribuƟon 
/ donaƟon to 
Nagarik Swasthya 
Sangha

Rs. 2,20,000 Through 
implemenƟng 
agency Nagarik 
Swasthya Sangha 
came into 
existence in the 
year 2006, eligible 
as per provisions 
of Companies Act, 
2013

7. CSR CommiƩee Responsibility Statement 

 The CSR CommiƩee confirms that the implementaƟon and monitoring of CSR acƟviƟes of the Company is in compliance 
with the CSR objecƟves and CSR Policy of the Company.

Registered Office: For and on behalf of the Board
Birkuchi, GuwahaƟ, Assam - 781026
CIN: L23101AS1963PLC001206
 Sd/- Sd/-
 Kali Krishna BhaƩacharya Rakesh Himatsingka
Date: 25th June, 2020 Managing Director Chairman
Place: Kolkata  (DIN: 07011241) (DIN: 00632156)
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CERTIFICATE FROM COMPANY SECRETARY IN PRACTICE REGARDING NON-DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS

(As per clause C of Schedule V of the Securities Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirement) 
Regulations, 2015 read with regulation 34(3) of the said Listing Regulations).

To
The Members,
Assam Carbon Products Limited,
Birkuchi, Guwahati, Assam – 781026.

As required by item 10(i) of Part C of Schedule V of the Securities Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirement) Regulations, 2015, I hereby certify that none of the Directors on the Board of Assam Carbon Products Limited 
(CIN: L23101AS1963PLC001206) having its registered office at Birkuchi, Guwahati, Assam – 781026,  have been debarred or 
disqualified from being appointed or continuing as Directors of Companies by the SEBI/Ministry of Corporate Affairs or any such 
statutory authority.

 Rajat Kumar Jalan
 Practising Company Secretary
 C P No.: 5705
 ACS  No.: 14895
Date:  25th June, 2020 UDIN: A014895B000383010
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INDUSTRY STRUCTURE & DEVELOPMENT

Your Company is engaged in the producƟon of Electrical, Mechanical & Speciality Carbon Materials, and the product range 
includes various kinds of Blocks & Blanks produced from Carbon, Metal and Graphite. From these are fabricated industrial 
products such as, Carbon Brushes, Current Collectors for the Railways, City Metros, Carbon and Graphite Seals, Bearings and 
several other Mechanical and speciality carbon materials for other industrial applicaƟons across all sorts of industries from 
Steel to Cement, Aluminium, Power Plants, Sugar Mills, Paper Plants, Mining, Chemical Plants, Agricultural machinery etc  

Another major product range represents the Electric Current Collectors which are used by Electric LocomoƟves to carry 
electrical power from overhead lines used on intercity rail network or electrical third rails to the electrical equipment of the 
vehicles, used for the Metro/ underground rail network within the ciƟes.

On the other hand Mechanical Carbon products are suitable for high temperature, lubricaƟon, chemical inertness, dimensional 
stability / impermeability and the product range includes Radial Bearings, Thrust Bearings, Mechanical Seals, Piston Rings, 
Packing and Vanes.

India’s industrial producƟon plunged to a revised 18.3 percent year-on-year in March 2020, compared to a 16.7 percent fall 
iniƟally reported. It is the steepest decline since records began in 1994 and much worse than market expectaƟons of an 8.7 
percent fall, as the COVID-19 pandemic forced many businesses to close. NaƟonal Industrial producƟon contracted at a record 
pace (-22.4 percent), electricity (-8.2 percent) and mining (-1.4 percent) also fell. The government released only quick esƟmates 
for the month of May which showed a 34.7 percent drop in industrial producƟon but warned those figures should not be 
compared with previous months due to insufficient data as the country was under lockdown amid efforts to contain the spread 
of the COVID-19 pandemic. The same applies to April figures when a revised esƟmate showed a 57.6 percent plunge.

OPPORTUNITIES & THREATS

Your Company constantly examines the opportuniƟes and threats that exist in its business and already has plans to exploit the 
opportunity available going forward as well as equipped to handle threats.

OpportuniƟes

The Company’s product range includes Electrical Carbon Materials, Mechanical Carbon Materials, Current Collectors and other 
speciality carbon products  

In the Union Budget 2019-20, it was esƟmated that an investment of Rs 50 lakh crores would be needed for railway infrastructure 
between 2018-2030. Railway projects are not conceived / executed on State / Union Territory basis. Investment in Railways is 
mobilized from a mix of sources including budgetary and extra budgetary resources through insƟtuƟonal finance and Public 
Private Partnership (PPP). A part of investment in the area of compleƟon of tracks, rolling stock manufacturing and delivery of 
passenger/freight services is envisaged through PPP.

Further, allocaƟon of Budget for 2019-2020 is Rs.30,198 crore, which is, 162% more with respect to average annual budget 
outlay of 2009-14.

This augurs very well for the Company, as this investment will reflect in the increase in the operaƟon of the Indian Railways, 
which will directly result in significant increase in the demand for the Company’s product. With the revamped plant and cost 
effecƟve producƟon, the Company is expected to achieve a higher turnover and profitability in the years to come.

With the recent drive on ‘Aatma Nirbhar Bharat Abhiyaan’ together with ‘Make in India’ movement, the Company is expected 
to gain a compeƟƟve posiƟon over the compeƟtor, as more than 90% of the input used in our producƟon is Indigenous and 
your company is an MSME and this will directly reflect in our compeƟƟveness especially in sales to the Indian Railways and 
other PSUs.

Further, the recent restricƟons in import of materials from China will help the Company indirectly as China has been dumping 
cheap and sub standard material in the country.

Threats

1. The COVID-19 pandemic will directly impact the revenue for the current financial year since the operaƟon of the Indian 
Railways are under total suspension and several other industries have lost between 15 and 40 % of their output. 

Management Discussion and Analysis Report
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2. Conversion of DC motor to brushless AC motor in LocomoƟves and Power plants.

3. Price war for tender business.

SEGMENT-WISE/PRODUCT-WISE PERFORMANCE

Company has achieved a gross revenue from operaƟon amounƟng to Rs.48.44 Crore as against Rs.51.27 Crore in the last 
financial year, a decrease of 5.51% as compared to the previous financial year.

Sale of Electrical segment has contributed 56% to the top line as against 67% in the previous fiscal, whilst the Mechanical & 
Speciality Carbon segment witnessed a share of 44% as against 33 % in the previous year. This is as per Company’s planning 
as the electrical carbon segment globally is slowing down, and in the years ahead the company will be more and more 
concentraƟng upon the mechanical and speciality segments. 

Performance of the Company conƟnues to improve due to various cost saving measures and operaƟonal efficiency measures 
iniƟated by the management, as well as raƟonalizaƟon of sales price, strict control on credit sales and staying away from loss 
making accounts.

OUTLOOK

The outlook for the Company conƟnues to be opƟmisƟc based on the growth in the demand for the Company’s products. 
The Company has already completed its first phase of upgradaƟon and ModernizaƟon of its two factories, but with the fast 
paced change in our customers requirements this will be a conƟnuous exercise. The Company is also exploring new growth 
opportuniƟes as well as opƟmum uƟlizaƟon of its available resources, as well as constantly working towards improved 
producƟvity through further upgradaƟon of Plant & Machinery where required, training of workmen, etc.

Constant efforts are on towards achieving savings, improving operaƟonal efficiency, increasing market share, opƟmum 
uƟlizaƟon of producƟon capaciƟes and customer’s saƟsfacƟon.

The Management is opƟmisƟc about the growth and profitability of the Company. 

RISKS & CONCERNS

Unforeseen/unmiƟgated technology obsolescence, the emergence of compeƟng technologies would impact the Company’s 
business and its ability to deliver on its strategic goals.

The advanced technological nature of the Company requires people with highly differenƟated skill sets. Any inability to recruit, 
retain and develop the right people would impact the Company’s ability to achieve its strategic goals.

Supplying into criƟcal applicaƟons, the quality of the Company’s contracts must match the quality and nature of its products. 
IneffecƟve contract risk management could result in significant liabiliƟes for the Company and damage customer relaƟonships.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM & THEIR ADEQUACY

The Company has proper and adequate internal control system commensurate with its size and nature of business. It ensures 
that all assets are safeguarded and protected against improper use and that transacƟons are authorized, recorded and reported 
correctly. 

Internal Audit is conducted by independent audiƟng firm at all locaƟons of the Company. The internal audit reports are reviewed 
by the Audit CommiƩee and adequate remedial measures are taken in Ɵme.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE WITH RESPECT TO OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

During the year under review, revenue from operaƟons of the Company closed at Rs. 4844.29 Lacs as compared to Rs. 
5127.00 Lacs in the previous year which is a 5.51% reducƟon. This was mainly due to lockdown in the last week of March, 2020, 
as per the direcƟves of the Central / respecƟve State Government(s) due to COVID 19 pandemic.

Despite several challenges issue faced by your Company such as low producƟvity, absenteeism, global economic slowdown, 
Foreign exchange price risk, cut throat internal compeƟƟon due to dumping from China and reducƟon in the prices due to price 
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war; your Company has been able to conƟnue towards higher turnover and profits.

HUMAN RESOURCES/INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS

The Company has always given prime importance to Human Resources.  ConƟnued efforts towards opƟmum manpower 
uƟlizaƟon are being made for reducƟon of cost and opƟmizaƟon of producƟvity.  The Company conƟnues to provide thrust on 
regular training programmes for upgradaƟon of job knowledge and other related skills amongst its employees.

The total number of people employed in the organizaƟon as on 31.03.2020 was 244 as compared to 250 as on 31.03.2019. 

Details of significant changes in key financial raƟos, along with detailed explanaƟons: 

Financial RaƟos for standalone financials

ParƟculars Year Ended 31.03.2020 Year Ended 31.03.2019
Debtors Turnover
[Net Credit Sales / Average Accounts Receivable]

3.50 3.36

Inventory Turnover
[Cost of Goods Sold / Average Inventory]

1.56 3.01

Interest Coverage (*)
[Earning Before Interest & Taxes / Interest Expenses]

16.18 149

Current RaƟo
[Current Assets / Current LiabiliƟes]

0.73 0.95

Debt Equity RaƟo
[Total LiabiliƟes / Total Shareholders Equity]

0.11 0.22

Net Profit Margin (%)
[Net Profit / Revenue]

16.71 9.59%

Return on Net Worth (%)
[Profit aŌer tax / Average Equity Capital and Other Equity]

40.93 45.10%

(*) The variance in the raƟo is mainly due to fresh borrowings taken during the previous financial year.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT 

Statement in the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” describing the Company’s objecƟves, projecƟons, esƟmates, 
expectaƟons or predicƟons may be “forward looking statements” within the meaning of applicable securiƟes laws and 
regulaƟons. Actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied in this report.  Important factors that would 
make a difference to the Company’s operaƟons include global and Indian demand/supply condiƟons, raw materials prices, 
feed stock availability and prices, cyclical demand and pricing in the Company’s principal markets, changes in Government 
regulaƟons/policies, tax regimes, economic developments within the country and other factors such as liƟgaƟon and labour 
negoƟaƟons. The Company assumes no responsibility to modify or revise any forward-looking statements on the basis of any 
future events or new informaƟon. Actual results may differ from those menƟoned in the report.

Registered Office: For and on behalf of the Board
Birkuchi, GuwahaƟ, Assam - 781026
CIN: L23101AS1963PLC001206
 Sd/- Sd/-
 Kali Krishna BhaƩacharya Rakesh Himatsingka
Date: 25th June, 2020 Managing Director Chairman
Place: Kolkata  (DIN: 07011241) (DIN: 00632156)
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To the Members of
Assam Carbon Products Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Assam Carbon Products Limited (‘the Company’), which comprise 
the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2020, and the Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), and 
Cash Flow Statement and the Statement of changes in Equity for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounƟng 
policies and other explanatory informaƟon. 

In our opinion and to the best of our informaƟon and according to the explanaƟons given to us, the aforesaid financial 
statements, give the informaƟon required by the Act, in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with 
the accounƟng principles generally accepted in India including the IND AS, of the state of affairs as at March 31, 2020 and its 
Profit including other comprehensive income, its Cash Flow and changes in equity for the year ended on that date.

Basis of Opinion

We conducted our audit of the financial statements in accordance with the Standards on AudiƟng specified under secƟon 
143(10) of the Act (SAs). Our responsibiliƟes under those Standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibility for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements secƟon of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of 
Ethics issued by the InsƟtute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibiliƟes in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit 
evidence obtained by us is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the financial statements.

Key Audit MaƩers 

Key audit maƩers are those maƩers that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period. These maƩers were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these maƩers. We have determined 
the maƩers described below to be the key audit maƩers to be communicated in our report.

Sl. Key Audit MaƩer Auditor’s Response
1. LiƟgaƟon – ConƟngencies

Provision for employee wages and benefits for the lockout period at the 
factories of the company was not made based on the principles of ‘No 
Work No Pay’. This might have an impact on the results, if the potenƟal 
exposures were to materialise. The labour maƩer of Company’s GuwahaƟ 
factory is subjudice. Refer note 25A(iii) and (iv).

Principal Audit Procedures 
Our audit approach was a combinaƟon of 
test of internal controls and substanƟve 
procedures. SupporƟng documentaƟon 
are tested for the posiƟons taken by the 
management.

InformaƟon Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon 

• The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other informaƟon. The other informaƟon comprises the 
informaƟon included in the shareholder informaƟon and Report of the Board of Directors & Management Discussion and 
Analysis, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

• Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other informaƟon and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

• In connecƟon with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other informaƟon and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other informaƟon is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained during the course of our audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

• If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other informaƟon, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the maƩers stated in secƟon 134 (5) of the Companies Act.2013 (“the Act”) 

Independent Auditors Report
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with respect to the preparaƟon of these IND AS financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial posiƟon, 
financial performance (including other comprehensive income), cash flows and changes in equity of the Company in accordance 
with the AccounƟng principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian AccounƟng Standards (IND AS) specified under 
secƟon 133 of the act read with rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules 2014. This responsibility also includes the maintenance 
of adequate accounƟng records in accordance with the provisions of the act for safeguarding the assets of the company and 
for prevenƟng and detecƟng the frauds and other irregulariƟes; selecƟon and applicaƟon of appropriate accounƟng policies; 
making judgment and esƟmates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementaƟon and maintenance of adequate 
internal financial control, that were operaƟng effecƟvely for ensuring  the accuracy and completeness of the accounƟng 
records, relevant to the preparaƟon and presentaƟon of IND AS financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to conƟnue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, maƩers related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounƟng unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operaƟons, or has no realisƟc alternaƟve but to do so. 

Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporƟng process.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objecƟves are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepƟcism throughout 
the audit. We also: 

• IdenƟfy and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecƟng a material misstatement resulƟng from fraud is higher than 
for one resulƟng from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intenƟonal omissions, misrepresentaƟons, or the 
override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal financial control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances. Under secƟon 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion 
on whether the Company has adequate internal financial controls system in place and the operaƟng effecƟveness of such 
controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounƟng policies used and the reasonableness of accounƟng esƟmates and related 
disclosures made by the management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounƟng and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or condiƟons that may cast significant doubt 
on the Company’s ability to conƟnue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw aƩenƟon in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or condiƟons may cause the Company to cease to conƟnue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentaƟon, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial statements represent the underlying transacƟons and events in a manner that achieves fair presentaƟon. 

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the financial statements that, individually or in aggregate, makes it probable 
that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the financial statements may be influenced. We consider 
quanƟtaƟve materiality and qualitaƟve factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluaƟng the results of our 
work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any idenƟfied misstatements in the financial statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other maƩers, the planned scope and Ɵming of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we idenƟfy during our audit. 
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relaƟonships and other maƩers that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
From the maƩers communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those maƩers that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit maƩers. We describe 
these maƩers in our auditor’s report unless law or regulaƟon precludes public disclosure about the maƩer or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a maƩer should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communicaƟon.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
1. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order 2016 (“the Order”) as amended, issued by Central Government of 

India in terms of subsecƟon(11) of SecƟon 143 of the act, we give in the ‘Annexure A’, a statement on the maƩers specified 
in paragraphs 3 & 4 of the order.

2. As required by secƟon 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit we report that:
 (a) We have sought and obtained all the informaƟon and explanaƟons which to the best of our knowledge and belief 

were necessary for the purposes of our audit;
 (b) In our opinion proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as it appears from 

our examinaƟon of those books;
 (c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit & Loss including other comprehensive income, Cash Flow Statement and 

statement of changes in equity dealt with by this report are in agreement with the books of account;
 (d) In our opinion the aforesaid IND AS financial statements comply with the AccounƟng Standards specified under 

secƟon 133 of the act.
 (e) On the basis of wriƩen representaƟons received from the directors as on March 31,2020, and taken on record by the 

Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on March 31,2020, from being appointed as a director in 
terms of sub secƟon (2) of secƟon 164 of the Act.

 (f) With respect to the adequacy of the Internal Financial Controls over financial reporƟng of the company and operaƟng 
effecƟveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure B”. Our report expresses an unmodified 
opinion on the adequacy and operaƟng effecƟveness of the Company’s internal financial controls over financial 
reporƟng. 

 (g) With respect to the other maƩers to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with the requirements of 
secƟon 197 (16) of the Act, as amended: 

  In our opinion and to the best of our informaƟon and according to the explanaƟon given to us, the remuneraƟon paid 
by the company to its director during the year is in accordance with the provisions of secƟon 197 of the act.

 (h) With respect to the other maƩers to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the 
Companies(Audit & Auditors) Rules 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our informaƟon and according to the 
explanaƟons given to us:

  i) The Company has disclosed the impact of pending liƟgaƟon on its financial posiƟon in its Ind AS financial 
statements in accordance with the generally accepted accounƟng pracƟce – Refer Note 25 to the Ind As 
financial statements.

  ii) The Company did not have any long term contracts including derivaƟve contracts for which there were any 
material foreseeable losses.

  iii) There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor’s EducaƟon and ProtecƟon Fund 
by the company.

for D.Basu & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s RegistraƟon No.: 301111E

[Ashis Ranjan Maitra]
Place: Kolkata Partner
Date : 25th June 2020 Membership No : 056520
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(Referred to in our report of even date)

The Annexure referred to in Independent Auditors’ Report to the members of the Company on the standalone Ind AS financial 
statements for the year ended 31 March 2020, we report that:

(i) (a) The Company has maintained proper records showing full parƟculars, including quanƟtaƟve details and situaƟon 
of fixed assets.

 (b) The Company has a regular programme of physical verificaƟon of its fixed assets by which all the fixed assets are 
verified in a phased manner over a period of two years. In our opinion, the periodicity of physical verificaƟon is 
reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its fixed assets. No material discrepancies 
were noƟced on such verificaƟon.

 (c) According to the informaƟon and explanaƟons given to us and on the basis of our examinaƟon of the records of 
the Company, the Ɵtle deeds of immovable properƟes are held in the name of the Company.

(ii) The inventory, except for goods in transit has been physically verified by the management during the year. In our opinion, 
the frequency of such verificaƟon is reasonable. The discrepancies noƟced on verificaƟon between the physical stocks 
and the book records were not material.

(iii) According to the informaƟon and explanaƟon given to us and based on our examinaƟon of the records of the company, 
the Company has not granted any loans, secured or unsecured, to companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or 
other parƟes covered in the register maintained under secƟon 189 of the Act. Accordingly, paragraphs 3(iii) of the Order 
is not applicable to the Company.

(iv) According to the informaƟon and explanaƟon given to us and based on our examinaƟon of the records of the company, 
the Company has not made any investment, advanced any loan, given any guarantee or provided any securiƟes to other 
during the year. 

(v) The Company has not accepted any deposits during the year as per the direcƟves issued by the Reserve Bank of India 
under the provisions of secƟon 73 to 76 or any other relevant provisions of the Act and the rules framed thereunder. 
Accordingly, paragraphs 3(v) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(vi) The Central Government has not prescribed the maintenance of cost records under sub-secƟon (1) of secƟon 148 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 for any of the products manufactured by the Company.

(vii) (a) According to the informaƟon and explanaƟons given to us and on the basis of our examinaƟon of the records 
of the company, amounts deducted/accrued in the books of account in respect of undisputed statutory dues 
including provident fund, employees’ state insurance, income-tax, sales-tax, service tax, duty of customs, value 
added tax, goods and service tax and other material statutory dues have generally been regularly deposited during 
the year by the Company with the appropriate authoriƟes. 

  According to the informaƟon and explanaƟons given to us, no undisputed amounts payable in respect of provident 
fund, employees’ state insurance, income-tax, sales-tax, service tax, duty of custom, duty of excise, value added 
tax, goods and service tax and other material statutory dues were in arrears as at 31 March 2020 for a period of 
more than six months from the date they became payable.

 (b) According to the informaƟon and explanaƟons given to us, there are no dues of income tax, sales tax, service tax, 
custom duty, excise duty, value added tax which have not been deposited with the appropriate authoriƟes on 
account of any dispute except the followings :

Name of Statute Nature of 
Dues

Forum where dispute is pending Period to which the 
amount related

Amount
[in Thousand]

Central Sales-tax 
Act,1956

Sales-tax Appellate Deputy Commissioner, 
Secunderabad Division

2012-13 201

Central Sales-tax 
Act,1956

Sales-tax Appellate Deputy Commissioner, 
Secunderabad Division

2013-14 297

Annexure ‘A’ to the Independent Auditors Report
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(viii) In our opinion and according to the informaƟon and explanaƟon given to us, the Company did not have any outstanding 
debentures during the year. The company has not defaulted in repayment of loans or borrowings to any financial 
insƟtuƟon, bank and government authoriƟes. Accordingly, paragraphs 3(viii) of the Order is not applicable.

(ix) The Company did not raised any money by way of iniƟal public offer or further public offer (including debt instruments) 
and term loans during the year. Accordingly, paragraphs 3(ix) of the Order is not applicable.

(x) According to the informaƟon and explanaƟons given to us, no fraud by the Company or on the Company by its officers 
or employees has been noƟced or reported during the course of our audit.

(xi) The Company has paid managerial remuneraƟon during the year which is in accordance with the requisite approvals 
mandated by the provisions of secƟon 197 read with Schedule V to the Companies Act, 2013.

(xii) In our opinion and according to the informaƟon and explanaƟons given to us, the Company is not a nidhi Company. 
Accordingly, paragraphs 3(xii) of the Order is not applicable.

(xiii) According to the informaƟon and explanaƟons given to us and based on our examinaƟon of the records of the Company, 
transacƟons with the related parƟes are in compliance with secƟons 177 and 188 of the Act where applicable and details 
of such transacƟons have been disclosed in the financial statements as required by the applicable accounƟng standards.

(xiv) According to the informaƟon and explanaƟons given to us, and based on our examinaƟon of the records of the Company, 
the Company has not made any preferenƟal allotment or private placement of shares or fully or partly converƟble 
debentures during the year.

(xv) According to the informaƟon and explanaƟons given to us, and based on our examinaƟon of the records of the Company, 
the Company has not entered into any non-cash transacƟons with directors or persons connected with him. Accordingly, 
paragraphs 3(xv) of the Order is not applicable.

(xvi) The Company is not required to be registered under secƟon 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934.

for D.Basu & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s RegistraƟon No.: 301111E

[Ashis Ranjan Maitra]
Place: Kolkata Partner
Date : 25th June 2020 Membership No : 056520
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Annexure - B to the Independent Auditors’ Report of even date on the Ind AS financial statements of Assam Carbon Products 
Limited
Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-secƟon 3 of SecƟon 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the 
Act”)
We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporƟng of Assam Carbon Products Limited (“the Company”) as 
of 31 March 2020 in conjuncƟon with our audit of the Ind AS financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that 
date. 
Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal 
control over financial reporƟng criteria established by the Company considering the essenƟal components of internal control 
stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial ReporƟng issued by the InsƟtute of Chartered 
Accountants of India (‘ICAI’). These responsibiliƟes include the design, implementaƟon and maintenance of adequate internal 
financial controls that were operaƟng effecƟvely for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including 
adherence to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevenƟon and detecƟon of frauds and errors, the accuracy 
and completeness of the accounƟng records, and the Ɵmely preparaƟon of reliable financial informaƟon, as required under 
the Companies Act, 2013. 
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls over financial reporƟng based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial 
ReporƟng (the “Guidance Note”) and the Standards on AudiƟng, issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under secƟon 
143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both applicable to an 
audit of Internal Financial Controls and, both issued by the InsƟtute of Chartered Accountants of India. Those Standards and 
the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial reporƟng was established and maintained and if 
such controls operated effecƟvely in all material respects.
Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls system 
over financial reporƟng and their operaƟng effecƟveness. Our audit of internal financial controls over financial reporƟng 
included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls over financial reporƟng, assessing the risk that a material 
weakness exists, and tesƟng and evaluaƟng the design and operaƟng effecƟveness of internal control based on the assessed 
risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on 
the Company’s internal financial controls system over financial reporƟng. 
Meaning of Internal Financial Controls over Financial ReporƟng
A company’s internal financial control over financial reporƟng is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporƟng and the preparaƟon of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounƟng principles. A company’s internal financial control over financial reporƟng includes those policies 
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transacƟons and disposiƟons of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transacƟons are recorded as 
necessary to permit preparaƟon of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounƟng principles, and that 
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisaƟons of management and directors 
of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevenƟon or Ɵmely detecƟon of unauthorised acquisiƟon, 
use, or disposiƟon of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
Inherent LimitaƟons of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial ReporƟng 
Because of the inherent limitaƟons of internal financial controls over financial reporƟng, including the possibility of collusion or 
improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, 
projecƟons of any evaluaƟon of the internal financial controls over financial reporƟng to future periods are subject to the risk 
that the internal financial control over financial reporƟng may become inadequate because of changes in condiƟons, or that the 
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system over financial reporƟng 
and such internal financial controls over financial reporƟng were operaƟng effecƟvely as at 31 March 2020, based on the 
internal control over financial reporƟng criteria established by the Company considering the essenƟal components of internal 
control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial ReporƟng issued by the InsƟtute of 
Chartered Accountants of India.

for D.Basu & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s RegistraƟon No.: 301111E

[Ashis Ranjan Maitra]
Place: Kolkata Partner
Date : 25th June 2020 Membership No : 056520
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Note 31 Mar 2020 31 Mar 2019
ASSETS
Non Current Assets
(a) Property, Plant & Equipments 3                 1,43,824 1,44,756 
(b) Other Intangible Assets 3        279      398 
(c) Other Financial Assets 4   12,379     5,873 
(d) Deferred Tax Assets 27   16,825            -   

                1,73,307    1,51,027 
Current Assets
(a) Inventories 5                 2,06,944 1,32,965 
(b) Financial Assets

(i)   Investments 6     3,602      3,412 
(ii)  Trade Receivables 7                 1,18,604 1,58,070 
(iii) Cash & Cash Equivalents 8   13,829      8,834 
(iv) Other Financial Assets 4   20,415    14,126 

(c) Other Current Assets 9     8,547    13,449 
                3,71,941 3,30,856 

TOTAL ASSETS                 5,45,248 4,81,883 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
(a) Equity Share Capital 10   27,556    27,556 
(b) Other Equity 11                 2,19,426 1,09,041 

                2,46,982 1,36,597 
Non Current LiabiliƟes
(a) Provisions 13   27,722    29,479 

  27,722    29,479 
Current LiabiliƟes
(a) Financial LiabiliƟes

(i)   Borrowings 12   59,500    49,500 
(ii)  Trade Payables 14   30,917    29,198 
(iii) Other LiabiliƟes 15                 1,51,359 2,02,953 

(b) Provisions 13   21,757    24,123 
(c) Other Current LiabiliƟes 16     1,658      1,219 
(d) Current Tax LiabiliƟes (Net) 17     5,353      8,814 

                2,70,544 3,15,807 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES                 5,45,248 4,81,883 
Significant accounting policies 1B

(Amount in Rupees thousand)

The notes referred to above form an integral part of the financial statements
As per our report of even date attached 
For D. Basu & Co. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants Assam Carbon Products Limited
Firm Registration No.: 301111E

Ashis Ranjan Maitra Rakesh Himatsingka K. K. Bhattacharya S. K. Lhila
Partner Chairman Managing Director Director
Membership No.: 056520 (DIN : 00632156) (DIN : 07011241) (DIN : 01383460)

Place: Kolkata Subhendu Chakraborty Pijush Bysack
Date: 25.06.2020 Company Secretary Chief Financial Officer
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Note 31 Mar 2020 31 Mar 2019
I. Income from OperaƟons 18                4,84,429              5,12,700 
II. Other income 19                   10,856                     12,084 
III. Total Income (I + II)                4,95,285                 5,24,784 
IV. Expenses

(a) Cost of materials consumed 20                1,16,476                 1,24,525 
(b) Purchase of stock in trade 21                         888                          720 
(c) Changes in inventories of finished goods, work in progress 

& stock in trade
22                 (65,728)             (12,209)

(d) Employee benefits expenses 23                1,37,233                 1,47,624 
(e) Finance cost                     7,113                          426 
(f) DepreciaƟon and AmorƟsaƟon expenses 3                   17,842 15,735 
(g) Other Expenses 24                1,73,493                 1,84,552 

Total Expenses (IV)                3,87,317                 4,61,373 
V. Profit / (Loss) before excepƟonal items and tax (III - IV)                1,07,968                     63,411 
VI. ExcepƟonal Items                            -                              -   
VII. Profit / (Loss) before tax (V - VI)                1,07,968                     63,411 
VIII. Tax Expense / (Credit)

(a) Current tax                   18,209                     12,895 
(b) Deferred tax                   11,267                            -   

Total Tax Expenses / (Credit)                   29,476                     12,895 
IX. Profit / (Loss) for the year from conƟnuing operaƟons (VII - 

VIII)
                  78,492                     50,516 

X. Other Comprehensive Income / (Loss)
(a) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or Loss 

- Remeasurement gains and (losses) on defined benefit 
obligaƟon

                    3,801                  (1,324)

(b) Income-tax (expense)/credit relaƟng to items that will not 
be reclassified to profit or loss

                    1,339                            -   

Total Other Comprehensive Income / (Loss), net of taxes                     2,462               (1,324)
XI. Total Comprehensive Income / (Loss) for the year 

(IX + X)
                  80,954                     49,192 

XII. Earnings per share
Basic & Diluted 28                     28.48                       18.33 
Significant accounƟng policies 1B

Statement of Profit & Loss for the year ended 31st March, 2020
(Amount in Rupees thousand)

The notes referred to above form an integral part of the financial statements
As per our report of even date attached 
For D. Basu & Co. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants Assam Carbon Products Limited
Firm Registration No.: 301111E

Ashis Ranjan Maitra Rakesh Himatsingka K. K. Bhattacharya S. K. Lhila
Partner Chairman Managing Director Director
Membership No.: 056520 (DIN : 00632156) (DIN : 07011241) (DIN : 01383460)

Place: Kolkata Subhendu Chakraborty Pijush Bysack
Date: 25.06.2020 Company Secretary Chief Financial Officer
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31 Mar 2020 31 Mar 2019
A. Cash flow from operaƟng acƟviƟes

Profit/ (Loss) before tax 1,07,968 63,411
Adjustments for :
DepreciaƟon and amorƟsaƟon      17,842       15,735 
Allowance for doubƞul receivables        1,312               -   
Advances wriƩen off               -              761 
Finance cost        7,113            426 
Interest income          (242)           (251)
Dividend          (176)           (176)
Remeasurement of Defined Benefit Plan        3,801        (1,324)
Provisions and LiabiliƟes no longer required wriƩen back      (1,633)        (1,247)
Loss in Reinstatement of Investment              14                4 
Loss/ (profit) on sale / discard of  fixed asset           220                3 

28,251       13,931 
OperaƟng cash flow before working capital changes 1,36,219 77,342
Adjustments for :
Trade receivables, loans and advances and other current 
assets

28,709 (13,791)

Inventories    (73,979)      (21,008)
Trade payable, provisions and other liabiliƟes -51,926 (97,196) (39,122)      (73,921)

39,023 3,421
Less : Direct Taxes paid    (20,615)      (14,680)
Net Cash provided by/ (used in) operaƟng acƟviƟes 18,408      (11,259)

B. Cash flow from invesƟng acƟviƟes
Purchase of fixed assets (including net movement in 
capital WIP)

(16,955)      (43,347)

Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets           384                3 
Investment in Mutual funds          (204)           (176)
(Investment)/Maturity in term deposit with bank (net) 57              28 
Dividend Income 176 176
Interest received 242            251 
Net cash provided by/ (used in) invesƟng acƟviƟes (16,300) (43,065)

C. Cash flow from financing acƟviƟes
Borrowings 10,000       49,500 
Finance cost paid (7,113) (426)
Net cash provided by/ (used in) financing acƟviƟes 2,887 49,074
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 4,995 -5,250
Cash and cash equivalents - opening balance 8,834 14,084
Cash and cash equivalents - closing balance 13,829 8,834

4,995 (5,250)
Cash and cash equivalents as at the year end comprises of:
Cash on hand 102            124 
Balances with banks in current accounts 13,727         8,710 

13,829 8,834

Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2020
(Amount in Rupees thousand)

As per our report of even date attached 
For D. Basu & Co. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants Assam Carbon Products Limited
Firm Registration No.: 301111E

Ashis Ranjan Maitra Rakesh Himatsingka K. K. Bhattacharya S. K. Lhila
Partner Chairman Managing Director Director
Membership No.: 056520 (DIN : 00632156) (DIN : 07011241) (DIN : 01383460)

Place: Kolkata Subhendu Chakraborty Pijush Bysack
Date: 25.06.2020 Company Secretary Chief Financial Officer
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A. Equity Share Capital

Balance as at 1 April 2019               27,556 
Changes in equity share capital during the year                       -   
Balance as at 31 March 2020              27,556 

B. Other Equity

AƩributable to shareholders of Assam Carbon Products Limited
Capital 
Reserve

Capital 
RedempƟon 

Reserve

General 
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings

Other items 
of Other 

Comprehensive 
Income

Total Other 
Equity

Balance as at 1 April 2019 3,586 2,244 4,144 1,01,335 (2,268) 1,09,041 
Adjustments for Deferred Tax        -          -          -   28,538    893 29,431 

3,586 2,244 4,144 1,29,873 (1,375) 1,38,472 
Profit / (Loss) for the year        -          -          -   78,492        -   78,492 
Other Comprehensive Income / (loss) 
for the year

       -          -          -          -   2,462 2,462 

Total Comprehensive Income / (loss) for 
the year

       -          -          -   78,492 2,462 80,954 

Balance as at 31 March 2020 3,586 2,244 4,144 2,08,365 1,087 2,19,426 
Balance as at 1 April 2018  3,586  2,244  4,144  50,819    (944)  59,849 
Profit / (Loss) for the year        -          -          -    50,516        -    50,516 
Adjustments for Deferred Tax        -          -          -          -          -          -   
Other Comprehensive Income / (loss) for 
the year

       -          -          -          -   (1,324) (1,324)

Total Comprehensive Income / (loss) for 
the year

       -          -          -    50,516 (1,324)  49,192 

Balance as at 31 March 2019  3,586  2,244  4,144   1,01,335 (2,268)   1,09,041 
Nature and Purpose of each reserve
Capital RedempƟon Reserve : The Act requires that where a Company redeems its Preference Shares, a sum equal to the 
nominal value of the shares so redeemed shall be transfereed to a Capital RedempƟon Resrerve. This can be applied by the 
Company in issuing fully paid Bonus Shares.
General Reserve : Under the eartswhile Indian Companies Act, 1956 a General Reserve was created through an annual transfer 
of net profit at a specified percentage in accordance with applicable regulaƟons. Consequent to the introducƟon of the 
Companies Act, 2013 these requirement has been withdrawn.
Retained Earnings: This reserve represents the cumulaƟve profits of the Company. This reserve can be uƟlised in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.
Items of Other Comprehensive Income: This represents the effects of remeasurement of defined benefit obligaƟons and fair 
value of equity instruments through OCI.

The notes referred to above form an integral part of the financial statements
As per our report of even date attached 
For D. Basu & Co. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants Assam Carbon Products Limited
Firm Registration No.: 301111E

Ashis Ranjan Maitra Rakesh Himatsingka K. K. Bhattacharya S. K. Lhila
Partner Chairman Managing Director Director
Membership No.: 056520 (DIN : 00632156) (DIN : 07011241) (DIN : 01383460)
  
Place: Kolkata Subhendu Chakraborty Pijush Bysack
Date: 25.06.2020 Company Secretary Chief Financial Officer

Statement of changes in Equity as at 31st March, 2020
(Amount in Rupees thousand)
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1.A.  ABOUT THE COMPANY

 Assam Carbon Products Limited is a public company. It is incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956 and its shares are 
listed on the Calcutta Stock Exchange Limited. The Company is primarily engaged in manufacture of carbon products.

1.B.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 i. Basis of preparation of financial statements

  These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (referred to 
as ‘Ind AS’) as per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, notified under Section 133 of 
the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’) and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, to the extent 
applicable.

  The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees, which is the Company’s functional and presentation 
currency and all the amounts are rounded off to nearest thousand (Rs. 000) except as stated otherwise.

 ii. Use of estimates

  The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IND AS requires management to make estimates, 
judgments and assumptions. These estimates, judgements and assumptions affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Accounting 
estimates could change from period to period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Appropriate 
changes in estimates are made as management becomes aware of changes in circumstances surrounding the 
estimates. Differences between the actual results and estimates are recognised in the year in which the results 
are known / materialized and, if material, their effects are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

  Key sources of estimation uncertainty

  The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

  1. Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

   As described in the significant accounting policies, the Company reviews the estimated useful lives of 
property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporting period.

  2. Fair value measurements and valuation processes

   Some of the Company’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. 
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses market-observable data to the 
extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Company engages third party valuers, 
where required, to perform the valuation. Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in 
determining the fair value of various assets, liabilities are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

  3. Claims, Provisions and Contingent Liabilities

   In case of any ongoing dispute / litigation, where an outflow of funds is believed to be probable and a 
reliable estimate of the outcome of the dispute can be made based on management’s assessment of 
specific circumstances of each dispute and relevant external advice, management provides for its best 
estimate of the liability. Such accruals are by nature complex and can take number of years to resolve and 
can involve estimation uncertainty.

  4. Actuarial Valuation

   The determination of Company’s liability towards defined benefit obligation to employees is made through 
independent actuarial valuation including determination of amounts to be recognised in the Statement of 
Profit and Loss and in other comprehensive income. Such valuation depend upon assumptions determined 
after taking into account inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors such as supply and 
demand factors in the employment market. Information about such valuation is provided in notes to the 
financial statements.

 iii. Current – non current classification

  All assets and liabilities have been classified as current or non-current as per the Company’s normal operating 
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cycle and other criteria set out in the Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013. Based on the nature of operations, 
the Company has ascertained its operating cycle for the purpose of current – non current classification of assets 
and liabilities as 12 months.

  All assets and liabilities are classified into current and non-current.

  Assets

  An asset is classified as current when it satisfies any of the following criteria:

  a. it is expected to be realised in, or is intended for sale or consumption in, the company’s normal operating 
cycle; 

  b. it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded; 

  c. it is expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting date; or 

  d. it is cash or cash equivalent unless it is restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 
least 12 months after the reporting date.

  Current assets include the current portion of non-current financial assets.

  All other assets are classified as non-current. 

  Liabilities

  A liability is classified as current when it satisfies any of the following criteria:

  a. it is expected to be settled in the company’s normal operating cycle; 

  b. it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded; 

  c. it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting date; or 

  d. the company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the reporting date. Terms of a liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in 
its settlement by the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification.

  Current liabilities include current portion of non-current financial liabilities.

  All other liabilities are classified as non-current.

 iv. Fair Value Measurement

  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions.

  The Company categorizes assets and liabilities measured at fair value into one of three levels depending on the 
ability to observe inputs employed in their measurement which are described as follows:

  a. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

  b. Level 2 inputs are inputs that are observable, either directly or indirectly, other than quoted prices 
included within level 1 for the asset or liability.

  c. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

 v. Property Plant and Equipment

  Freehold land is carried at historical cost. All other items of Properties plant and equipment are stated at their cost 
of acquisition (net of input credit) or construction and are net of accumulated depreciation. The cost comprises 
purchase price, borrowing cost if capitalization criteria are met and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset 
to its working condition for the intended use. When significant parts of plant and equipment are required to be 
replaced at intervals, the Company depreciates them separately based on their specific useful lives. All other 
repair and maintenance costs are recognised in statement of profit or loss as incurred. 

  An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognized upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset) is included in the statement of profit and loss when the asset is derecognized. 

  Spares that can be used only with particular items of plant and machinery and such usage is expected to be 
irregular are capitalised.
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  Fixed assets under construction are disclosed as capital work in progress.

  Depreciation 

  Depreciation on property plant and equipment commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. 

  Depreciation on tangible fixed assets is provided under straight line method over useful lives of fixed assets, as 
estimated by the management. Useful lives so estimated are in line with the useful lives indicated by Schedule 
II to the Companies Act, 2013. Depreciation on additions/ deletions is provided on pro rata basis in the year of 
purchase/ disposal.

  The residual values, useful lives and method of depreciation of are reviewed at each financial year end and 
adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

 vi. Intangible fixed assets  

  Intangible assets are stated at their cost of acquisition net of amortisation. The cost comprises purchase price, 
borrowing cost if capitalization criteria are met and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working 
condition for the intended use. 

  Application software is amortised over the estimated economic useful life of 6 years.  

  The amortization period and the amortization method are reviewed at least at each financial year end. If the 
expected useful life of the asset is significantly different from previous estimates, the amortization period is 
changed accordingly.

 vii. Impairment of non-financial Assets

  The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. 
If any such indication exists, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the asset. If such recoverable 
amount of the asset or the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs is less than 
its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount. The reduction is treated as an 
impairment loss and is recognized in the statement of profit and loss. 

  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the assets carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had 
been recognised.

 viii.  Financial Instruments

  a. Financial Assets

   Financial assets, where applicable are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted for transaction 
costs.

   Classification

   Management determines the classification of an asset at initial recognition depending on the purpose 
for which the assets were acquired. The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on such 
classification.

   The financial assets are classified as those measured at:

   1. amortised cost, where the financial assets are held solely for collection of cash flows arising from 
payments of principal and / or interest.  

   2. fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI), where the financial assets are held not 
only for collection of cash flows arising from payments of principal and interest but also from the sale 
of such assets. Such assets are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains and losses 
arising from changes in the fair value being recognised in other comprehensive income. 

   3. fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), where the assets are managed in accordance with an 
approved investment strategy that triggers purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value of 
such assets. Such assets are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains and losses 
arising from changes in the fair value being recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss in the 
period in which they arise.
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   Trade receivables, advances, security deposits, cash and cash equivalents etc. are classified for 
measurement at amortised cost while investments may fall under any of the aforesaid classes. However, 
in respect of particular investments in equity instruments that would otherwise be measured at fair value 
through profit or loss, an irrevocable election at initial recognition may be made to present subsequent 
changes in fair value through other comprehensive income.

   Impairment

   The Company assesses at each reporting date whether a financial asset (or a group of financial assets) such 
as investments, trade receivables, advances and security deposits held at amortised cost and financial 
assets that are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are tested for impairment 
based on evidence or information that is available without undue cost or effort. Expected credit losses 
are assessed and loss allowances recognised if the credit quality of the financial asset has deteriorated 
significantly since initial recognition.

   De-recognition

   A financial asset is primarily de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired or the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset.

  b. Financial Liabilities

   All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and transaction cost that is attributable to the 
acquisition of the financial liabilities is also adjusted. These liabilities are classified as amortised cost.

   Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. These liabilities include borrowings and deposits.

   De-recognition of financial liabilities

   A financial liability are de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as the de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

  c. Offsetting Financial Instruments

   Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet if 
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

 ix. Inventories

  Raw materials, stores and spare parts are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes 
purchase price, duties and taxes, freight and other expenditure incurred in bringing such inventories to their 
present location and condition. In determining cost, weighted average method is used.  The carrying amounts of 
raw materials, stores and spare parts are appropriately written down when there is a decline in replacement cost 
of such materials and the finished products, in which they will be incorporated, are expected to be sold below 
cost.  

  Work in progress and finished goods are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises 
of direct material, labour expenses and an appropriate portion of production overheads incurred in bringing 
the inventory to their present location and condition. Fixed production overheads are allocated on the basis of 
normal capacity of the production facilities. 

  Traded finished goods are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

 x. Revenue 

  Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when significant control of ownership in the goods are transferred 
to customers and it is not unreasonable to expect ultimate collection of the sale consideration that is being 
recognised as revenue.

  Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

  Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the amount outstanding and the 
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interest rate applicable.

 xi. Income from Government Grant

  The Company may receive government grants that require compliance with certain conditions related to the 
Company’s operating activities or are provided to the Company by way of financial assistance on the basis of 
certain qualifying criteria.

  Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and the 
Company will comply with the conditions attached to the grant.

  Accordingly, government grants:

  a. related to or used for assets are included in the Balance Sheet as deferred income and recognised as 
income over the useful life of the assets.

  b. related to incurring specific expenditures are taken to the Statement of Profit and Loss on the same basis 
and in the same periods as the expenditures incurred. 

  c. by way of financial assistance on the basis of certain qualifying criteria are recognised as they become 
receivable.

  In the unlikely event that a grant previously recognised is ultimately not received, it is treated as a change in 
estimate and the amount cumulatively recognised is expensed in the Statement of Profit and Loss. 

 xii. Foreign exchange transactions

  Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing on 
the date of the transactions. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities at the year-end are translated at the 
year-end exchange rates.

  Non-monetary items which are carried in terms of historical cost denominated in a foreign currency, are reported 
using the exchange rate at the date of transaction. The loss or gain thereon and also on the exchange differences 
on settlement of the foreign currency transactions during the year are recognized as income or expense in the 
statement of profit and loss.

  Foreign exchange gain/loss to the extent considered as an adjustment to Interest Cost are considered as part of 
borrowing cost.

 xiii. Employee benefits 

  The Company’s obligations towards various employee benefits have been recognised as follows:

  Short term benefits

  Employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of receiving employee services are classified as short-
term employee benefits. These benefits include salaries and wages, bonus and ex-gratia. The undiscounted 
amount of short-term employee benefits to be paid in exchange for employee services is recognised as an 
expense as the related service is rendered by employees.

  Post-employment benefits

  a) Monthly contributions to Provident Funds which are in the nature of defined benefit schemes are 
charged to Statement of Profit and Loss and deposited with the Provident Fund administered through the 
Company’s trust on a monthly basis.

  b) The administration of the gratuity scheme which is in the nature of defined benefit plan, has been 
entrusted to Life Insurance Corporation of India (‘LIC’). Annual charge is recognised on the basis of 
actuarial valuation at the Balance Sheet date, conducted by an independent actuary appointed by the 
Company and payments are made to LIC on the basis of annual demand received from them. The Company 
recognizes all actuarial gains and losses in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

  Other long term benefits

  Cost of long term benefit by way of accumulating compensated absences are recognised when the employees 
render the service that increases their entitlement to future compensated absences. Such costs are recognised 
based on actuarial valuation of the Company’s year end obligation in this regard by an independent actuary.
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  Termination benefits

  Costs of termination benefits have been recognised only when the Company has a present obligation as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle such obligation and the 
amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated.   

 xiv. Income taxes

  Income-tax expense comprises current tax (i.e. amount of tax for the period determined in accordance with 
the income-tax law) and deferred tax charge or credit (reflecting the tax effects of timing differences between 
accounting income and taxable income for the period).  

  a. Current tax is measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the taxation authorities, 
using the applicable tax rates and tax laws. 

  b. Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities and the amounts used for taxation purposes (tax base), at the tax rates and tax laws enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

  Deferred tax assets are recognised for the future tax consequences to the extent it is probable that future virtual 
certainty will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

  Income tax, in so far as it relates to items disclosed under other comprehensive income or equity, are disclosed 
separately under other comprehensive income or equity, as applicable.

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and 
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances related to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax 
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on net 
basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

  Deferred tax assets are reviewed as at each balance sheet date and written down or written-up to reflect the 
amount that is reasonably certain (as the case may be) to be realised. 

 xv. Dividend Distribution

  Dividends paid  is recognised in the period in which the interim dividends are approved by the Board of Directors, 
or in respect of the final dividend when approved by shareholders.

 xvi. Provisions and Contingent liabilities

  Provisions are recognized only when there is a present obligation, as a result of past events, and when a reliable 
estimate of the amount of obligation can be made at the reporting date. These estimates are reviewed at each 
reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates. 

  Contingent liability is disclosed for:

  • Possible obligations which will be confirmed only by future events not wholly within the control of the 
Company or 

  • Present obligations arising from past events where it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation or a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation cannot be made.

 xvii. Operating leases

  Lease payments on operating lease agreements are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term unless the payments are structured to increase in line with expected general inflation to compensate 
for the lessor’s expected inflationary cost increases. Associated costs, such as maintenance and insurance, are 
expensed as incurred.

 xviii. Operating Segments

  Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker (CODM). The CODM who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors of the Company. 

 xix.  Earnings per share

  Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity 
shareholders (after deducting attributable taxes) by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding 
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during the period. The weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period is adjusted for 
events including a bonus issue.

  For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the period attributable to 
equity shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period are adjusted for 
the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares.

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

 The Company’s business activities are exposed to a variety of risks including liquidity risk, credit risk and market risk. The 
Company seeks to minimize potential adverse effects of these risks by managing them through a structured process of 
identification, assessment and prioritization of risks followed by coordinated efforts to monitor, minimize and mitigate 
the impact of such risks on its financial performance and capital. For this purpose, the Company has laid comprehensive 
risk assessment and minimization/mitigation procedures, which are reviewed by the Audit Committee and approved by 
the Board from time to time. These procedures are reviewed to ensure that executive management controls risks by 
way of properly defined framework. The Company does not enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative 
purposes. The following table explains the sources of risk and how the entity manages the risk in its financial statements.
The management reviews the status of all principal risks with a significant potential impact. Additionally, the Audit 
Committee carried out focused risk reviews of each Plant and divisions. These reviews included an analysis of both the 
principal risks, and the controls, monitoring and assurance processes established to mitigate those risks to acceptable 
levels. As a result of these reviews, a number of actions were identified to continue to improve internal controls and the 
management of risk.

Risk Exposure arising from Measurement Management
Credit Risk Cash and cash equivalents, 

trade receivables, financial 
assets measured at 
amortised cost

Ageing analysis, Credit 
analysis

Credit limits and letters of 
credit

Liquidity Risk Borrowings and other 
liabilities

Cash Flow forecasts Credit facilities

Market Risk – foreign 
exchange

Recognised financial 
assets and liabilities not 
denominated in INR

Cash Flow forecasts Monitoring of currency 
movement.

Market Risk – interest rate Long Term Borrowings/
Liabilities

... Monitoring of interest rate 
movements

Market Risk – security 
prices

Investment in Securities ... Portfolio Management

 a. Credit Risk

  Credit risk arises from the possibility that the counter party may not be able to settle their obligations as agreed. 
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, investment carried at amortised cost, deposit with banks and 
financing institutions as well as credit exposure to customer and other parties.

  For banks and financial institutions, only high rated banks/institutions are accepted. For other financial assets, 
the entity assesses and manages credit risk based on internal credit evaluation. It monitors party-wise exposure 
and based on evaluation credit rating is allotted for each party. Thereafter a credit limit is assigned to each party 
depending on the solvency of the said party.

  The entity considers the probability of default on ongoing basis and at each reporting period. Micro-economic 
information is incorporated as part of internal rating model.

  In general, it is presumed that credit risk has significantly increased since initial recognition if the payments are 
more than 180 days past due.
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  The ageing of Trade receivables i.e. receivables which are past due (net of allowances / provisions) are given 
below :

Age of receivables 31 Mar 2020 31 Mar 2019
1 – 30 days past dues 23,133 25,267
31 – 60 days past dues 24,767 12,141
61 – 90 days past dues 7,678 7,804
91 – 180 days past dues 6,349 7,642
More than 180 days past dues 3,565 2,528

  As per the policy, any trade receivables overdue for more than 365 days, equivalent provision / allowance are 
provided in the books of accounts on the relevant date.

 b. Liquidity Risk

  The company objective is to at all times maintain optimum level of liquidity to meet its cash and collateral 
requirement at all times. The Company relies on Borrowing to meet its additional need for fund. The current 
committed lines of credit are sufficient to meet its short to medium term expansion needs and hence evaluates 
the concentration of risk with respect to liquidity as low. The Company monitors rolling forecasts of its liquidity 
requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs while maintaining headroom on its 
undrawn committed borrowing facilities at all times so that Company does not breach borrowing limits or 
covenants (where applicable ) on any of its borrowing facilities.

  The company is required to maintain debt equity ratio as mentioned in the loan agreements at specified levels. 
In the event to meet any ratios these become callable at the option of the lenders, except where exception is 
provided by lender.

 c. Market Risk

  Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flow of financial instruments may fluctuate because of 
changes in market conditions. Market risk broadly comprises three types of risks namely currency risk, interest 
rate risk and price risk (for commodities or equity instruments).

  (i) Foreign Exchange Risk - The company operates only in India and has not entered in to any foreign exchange 
or commodity derivative contracts. Accordingly there in no significant exposure to market risk.

  (ii) Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate exposure of the Company is mainly on Borrowing from Bank/FI, which is 
linked to their prime lending rate and the Company does not foresee any risk on the same.

  (iii) Security Price Risk – The Management invests its surplus funds in mutual funds operated by only high rated 
banks/institutions. These investments are generally short-term and accordingly there in no significant 
exposure.
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3 PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENTS

 Owned Assets 
 Freehold 

Land 
 Buildings  Plant and 

Machineries 
 Furniture & 

Fiƫngs 
 Office 

Equipments 
 Vehicles  Total 

Gross carrying amount
Original cost as at 1 Apr 2018        1,853        34,923         2,79,395          4,264          16,862       5,710    3,43,007 
AddiƟons              -            3,374            40,217             174               535             -         44,300 
Disposals              -                  -                     -                  -                   -            122            122 
Closing Gross carrying amount as at 31 Mar 2019        1,853        38,297         3,19,612          4,438          17,397       5,588    3,87,185 
Accumulated depreciaƟon as at 1 Apr 2018              -          22,866         1,81,582          3,819          15,310       3,564    2,27,141 
DepreciaƟon for the Year              -               655            13,829               69               381          470       15,404 
Accumulated depreciaƟon on Disposals              -                  -                     -                  -                   -            116            116 
Accumulated depreciaƟon as at 31 Mar 2019              -          23,521         1,95,411          3,888          15,691       3,918    2,42,429 
Net Carrying amount as at 1 April 2018        1,853        12,057            97,813             445            1,552       2,146    1,15,866 
Net Carrying amount as at 31 March 2019        1,853        14,776         1,24,201             550            1,706       1,670    1,44,756 
Gross carrying amount
Original cost as at 1 Apr 2019       1,853      38,297       3,19,612         4,438        17,397      5,588  3,87,185 
AddiƟons              -                  -            16,510                -                110             -        16,620 
Disposals              -                  -              3,440                -                   -               -          3,440 
Closing Gross carrying amount as at 31 Mar 2020       1,853      38,297       3,32,682         4,438        17,507      5,588  4,00,365 
Accumulated depreciaƟon as at 1 Apr 2019              -        23,521       1,95,411         3,888        15,691      3,918  2,42,429 
DepreciaƟon for the Year              -              720          15,927              72              333         336      17,388 
Accumulated depreciaƟon on Disposals              -                  -              3,276                -                   -               -          3,276 
Accumulated depreciaƟon as at 31 Mar 2020              -        24,241       2,08,062         3,960        16,024      4,254  2,56,541 
Net Carrying amount as at 31 Mar 2020       1,853      14,056       1,24,620            478          1,483      1,334  1,43,824 

3 CAPITAL WORK IN PROGRESS

Balance as at 1 Apr 2018           953 Balance as at 1 Apr 2019               -   
AddiƟon              -   AddiƟon      10,080 
Assets capitalised during the year           953 Assets capitalised during the year      10,080 
Balance as at 31 Mar 2019              -   Balance as at 31 Mar 2020               -   

3 INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS ͳ COMPUTER SOFTWARE

COST COST
As at 1 Apr 2018  6,297 As at 1 Apr 2019  6,297 
AddiƟons  -   AddiƟons  335 
Disposals  -   Disposals  -   
As at 31 Mar 2019  6,297 As at 31 Mar 2020  6,632 
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
As at 1 Apr 2018  5,568 As at 1 Apr 2019  5,899 
DepreciaƟon for the Year  331 DepreciaƟon for the Year  454 
Accumulated depreciaƟon on Disposals  -   Accumulated depreciaƟon on Disposals  -   
As at 31 Mar 2019  5,899 As at 31 Mar 2020  6,353 
Net Carrying amount as at 31 Mar 2019  398 Net Carrying amount as at 31 Mar 2020  279 
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4 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

At amorƟsed cost
 

Non-current Current 
31 Mar 

2020
31 Mar 
2019

31 Mar 
2020

31 Mar 
2019

To parƟes other than related parƟes
Security deposits
Unsecured, considered good 11,877     5,772   7,997     2,075 

11,877     5,772   7,997     2,075 
Other loans and advances  
Unsecured considered good, unless otherwise stated 
Interest accrued on deposits          -            -           99        216 
Bank deposits due to mature aŌer 12 months from the reporƟng date 
(Refer note 8) - Held as margin money

      502        101         82        540 

Others receivable          -            -   12,237   11,295 
12,379     5,873 20,415   14,126 

5 INVENTORIES 

ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
(Valued at lower of cost or net realizable value)
Raw materials and components  37,179  35,176 
Raw materials in Transit  6,928  7,907 
Stores and spares parts  13,747  6,520 
Work-in-progress  1,26,975  68,821 
Finished goods       
- Manufactured  21,439  13,749 
- Traded  676  792 

 2,06,944  1,32,965 

6 CURRENT INVESTMENT

ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
Non-trade investment
Investment in Mutual Funds (at fair value through Profit & Loss)
ICICI Equity Arbitrage Fund  3,602  3,412 
2,63,406.015 units with NAV at Rs. 13.6737
(31 March 2019 - 2,50,473.720 units with NAV at Rs. 13.6207)

 3,602  3,412 

Refer Note 1.B for informaƟon about fair value measurements and Note 2 for credit risk and market risk in investments.

7 TRADE RECEIVABLES 

ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
Unsecured, considered good  1,18,604  1,58,070 
Unsecured, considered doubƞul  17,418  35,180 

 1,36,022  1,93,250 
Less: Allowance for doubƞul receivables  17,418  35,180 

 1,18,604  1,58,070 

Refer Note 2 for informaƟon about credit risk and market risk on receivables.
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8 CASH AND BANK BALANCES  

ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
Cash and cash equivalents 
Balance with banks:
Current accounts  13,727  8,710 
Cash on hand  102  124 

 13,829  8,834 
Details of deposits
Bank deposits due to mature  within 12 months of the reporƟng date 
included under ‘Other Financial Assets (Current)’

 82  540 

9 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

 Non-current Current 
31 Mar 

2020
31 Mar 
2019

31 Mar 
2020

31 Mar 
2019

Unsecured considered good, unless otherwise stated 
Advances to employees    -    -  571  1,185 
Balance with sale tax authoriƟes    -    -  951  846 
Deposit with Registrar, District Judges Court    -    -  3,071  3,071 
Prepaid expenses    -    -  3,214  2,416 
Advance for Capital Goods    -    -  439  1,745 
Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received
- Considered good    -    -  301  4,186 
- Considered doubƞul    -    -    -    - 

   -    -  8,547  13,449 

10 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
No of 
shares

Amount No of 
shares

Amount

Equity Share capital
Authorised shares
Equity shares of Rs. 10 each  98,00,000  98,000  98,00,000  98,000 

 98,00,000  98,000  98,00,000  98,000 
Issued, subscribed and fully paid up equity shares of Rs.10 each  27,55,600  27,556  27,55,600  27,556 

ReconciliaƟon of the shares outstanding at the beginning and 
at the end of the reporƟng period
Equity shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid up
At the commencement and at the end of the year  27,55,600  27,556  27,55,600  27,556 

Terms aƩached to equity shares

Each holder of equity shares is enƟtled to one vote per share with a right to receive per share dividend declared by the Company. 
In the event of liquidaƟon, the equity shareholders are enƟtled to receive remaining assets of the Company (aŌer distribuƟon 
of all preferenƟal amounts) in the proporƟon of equity shares held by the shareholders. The dividend if  proposed by the Board 
of Directors are subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General MeeƟng.
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 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
No of 
shares

 % of 
holding 

No of 
shares

 % of 
holding 

Equity shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid up held by 
Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka  7,96,452 28.90%  7,96,452 28.90%
Mr. S V Himatsingka  8,68,823 31.53%  8,87,823 32.22%
Mrs. Anita Himatsingka  1,88,025 6.82%  2,75,025 9.98%

11 OTHER EQUITY

 31 Mar 2020 31 Mar 2019
Capital Reserve  3,586  3,586 
Capital RedempƟon Reserve  2,244  2,244 
General Reserve  4,144  4,144 
Retained Earnings :
As per last financial statements  1,01,335  50,819 
Add : Adjustment for Deferred Tax  28,538    - 
Add : Profit / (Loss) for the year  78,492  2,08,365  50,516  1,01,335 

Other Comprehensive Income :
Remeasurement of Defined Benefit Plan  1,533 (2,268) 
Less : Income tax thereon  446  1,087    - (2,268) 

 2,19,426  1,09,041 

12 BORROWINGS

 Non-current Current 
31 Mar 

2020
31 Mar 

2019
31 Mar 

2020
31 Mar 

2019
Unsecured (at amorƟsed cost)
Related ParƟes    -    -  39,500  39,500 
Others    -    -  20,000  10,000 

   -    -  59,500  49,500 

UnSecured
The balance carries an interest rate of 12%.
The Company’s Authorised capital includes 20,000 (31 March 2019 - 20,000) CumulaƟve ConverƟble Preference shares of  
Rs.100/- each.  No amount is outstanding against such Preference shares.

13 PROVISIONS 

 Non-current Current 
31 Mar 

2020
31 Mar 

2019
31 Mar 

2020
31 Mar 

2019
Provision for employee benefits 
Gratuity (refer note 29) 15,783  18,331 8,138  10,831 
Compensated absences 11,939  11,148 1,431  1,104 
Provision for conƟngencies  -    -   10,000  10,000 
Provision for warranƟes  -    -   2,188  2,188 

27,722  29,479 21,757  24,123 
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Movement of Provisions :

 Provision for 
conƟngencies

Provision for warranƟes

31 Mar 
2020

31 Mar 
2019

31 Mar 
2020

31 Mar 
2019

Opening Balance  10,000  10,000  2,188  2,203 
Add: Provision during the year  -    -    -    -   
Less: UƟlised during the year  -    -    -    15 
Closing Balance  10,000  10,000  2,188  2,188 

a) Provision for conƟngencies 

 The Company had entered into a memorandum of seƩlement with workers of GuwahaƟ factory in the earlier years 
pursuant to which the Company had agreed to pay a certain amount to workers on achievement of desired producƟvity 
norms. Based on the agreement and as esƟmated by the management, the Company has set aside Rs. 10,000 as provision 
for future conƟngencies on account of various personnel costs which may result in possible ouƞlow of resources.

b) Provision for warranƟes

 Cost of free replacement of materials was provided in the earlier years based on the esƟmate of total costs to be incurred 
with respect to free replacement of defecƟve materials sold to various customers. The closing balance of provision 
represents the probable replacement due at a future date.

14 TRADE PAYABLES

ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
Outstanding dues of creditor other than micro enterprises and small 
enterprises

 15,049  15,889 

Outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises (*)  15,868  13,309 
 30,917  29,198 

Details of dues to Micro and Small Enterprises as per Micro, Small and Medium Enterprise Development Act, 2006 (MSMED):

ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
The amounts remaining unpaid to micro and small suppliers as at the 
end of the year
- Principal  15,691  13,132 
- Interest  177  177 
The amount of interest paid by the buyer as per the MSMED    -    - 
The amounts of the payments made to micro and small suppliers beyond 
the appointed day during each accounƟng year

   -    - 

The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in 
making payment (which have been paid but beyond the appointed day 
during the year) but without adding the interest specified under MSMED

   -    - 

The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of each 
accounƟng year 

 177  177 

The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the 
succeeding years, unƟl such date when the interest dues as above are 
actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as 
a deducƟble expenditure under the MSMED

 177  177 

(*) The amount includes a Principal amount of Rs. 1760 and interest of Rs. 177 which is subjudice against which an amount of 
Rs.3071 has been deposited with Registrar, District Judges Court. 
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15 OTHER LIABILITIES

ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
Interest accrued but not due  1,598  358 
Vehicle under Hire Purchase    -  119 
Creditor for capital goods  2,045  3,410 
Outstanding LiabiliƟes for Expenses  16,103  17,087 
Payable under Assignment Agreement  96,190  1,31,190 
Employee liabiliƟes  14,948  29,027 
Statutory dues payable  2,232  5,933 
Other LiabiliƟes  2,414    - 
Subjudice Part Refund of Excise IncenƟve against furnishing Solvent 
Surety

 15,829  15,829 

 1,51,359  2,02,953 

16 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
Advance from customer  1,658  1,219 

 1,658  1,219 

17 CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES

ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
Provision for tax (net)  5,353  8,814 

 5,353  8,814 

18 INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 

ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
Sale of products
Own manufactured  4,83,363  5,10,217 
Traded  813  1,449 
Sale of products (*)  4,84,176  5,11,666 
Other operaƟng income 
Scrap sales  253  1,034 
Total  4,84,429  5,12,700 
(*) Sale of products
Manufactured
EG, HC, NG and RB carbon blocks  46,676  60,228 
MG and SG carbon blocks  10,012  7,799 
Electrical carbon brushes  2,10,959  2,30,214 
Mechanical and Special Carbon components  2,08,114  2,07,045 
ISO Graphite components  6,044  4,784 
Others  1,558  147 

 4,83,363  5,10,217 
Traded
Carbon Brushes  526  996 
Commutator Maintenance Accessories  287  453 

 813  1,449 
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19 OTHER INCOME 

ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
Interest income  242  251 
Dividend Income  176  176 
Budgetary support under GST Regime  8,264  8,408 
Excise Duty Refund    -  1,993 
Provision and liabiliƟes no longer required wriƩen back  1,633  1,247 
Profit on sale / discard of fixed assets  220    - 
Profit on reinstatement of investment  14    - 
Gain on foreign exchange fluctuaƟon (net)  61    - 
Miscellaneous income  246  9 

 10,856  12,084 

20 COST OF MATERIALS CONSUMED 

ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
Opening Stock  43,083  33,206 
Add : Purchases  1,17,500  1,34,402 

 1,60,583  1,67,608 
Less : Closing Stock  44,107  43,083 

 1,16,476  1,24,525 
Break up of cost of material consumed
Lamp black, carbon black, coke, natural & syntheƟc graphite, pitch etc  27,892  33,191 
Non ferrous metals, copper sheets, brass sheets, flexible wires, tubes 
etc

 35,182  34,097 

Copper sheets, brass sheets, flexible wires, tubes, rods etc  12,193  13,245 
Carbon brush components  14,001  15,947 
ISO graphite & carbon blocks, blanks etc  21,970  20,674 
Others  5,238  7,371 

 1,16,476  1,24,525 
Breakup of inventory - materials
Lamp black, carbon black, coke, natural & syntheƟc graphite, pitch etc  16,759  19,829 
Non ferrous metals, copper sheets, brass sheets, flexible wires, tubes 
etc

 5,771  5,045 

Copper sheets, brass sheets, flexible wires, tubes, rodes etc  6,389  5,211 
Carbon brush components  4,608  4,361 
ISO graphite & carbon blocks, blanks etc  8,363  6,974 
Others  2,217  1,663 

 44,107  43,083 

21 PURCHASES OF STOCK IN TRADE

ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
Carbon brushes and accessories  888  720 

 888  720 
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22 CHANGES IN INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS, WORK IN PROGRESS AND STOCKͳINͳTRADE

ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
Opening inventory
Work-in-progress  68,821  63,575 
Finished goods
- Manufactured  13,749  6,691 
- Traded  792  887 

 83,362  71,153 
Less :
Closing inventory
Work-in-progress 1,26,975 68,821
Finished goods
- Manufactured 21,439 13,749
- Traded 676 792
Net increase (65,728) (12,209) 

23 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
Salaries, wages and bonus  1,10,978  1,17,704 
ContribuƟon to Provident and other funds  13,286  15,118 
Workmen staff welfare expense  12,969  14,802 

 1,37,233  1,47,624 

24 OTHER EXPENSES 

ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
Stores and spares parts consumed  33,087  38,753 
Power and fuel  57,894  64,124 
FabricaƟon costs  21,855  21,926 
Repairs to:
- building  1,848  5,566 
- plant and machinery  7,182  8,897 
- others  2,068  2,534 
Insurance  720  645 
Rent  747  707 
Commission - others  3,418  2,450 
Corporate social responsibility expenditure (refer note 40)  1,181  1,000 
Packing and freight  5,762  6,279 
Travelling expenses  8,339  8,054 
Allowance for doubƞul trade receivables  1,312    - 
Advances & other receivables wriƩen off    -  761 
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ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
 C.Y. P.Y.
Bad Debts wriƩen off 19,074 -
Less : Adjusted against allowance 19,074 -    -    - 
Rates and taxes  2,873  1,016 
Legal and professional fees  8,301  5,283 
Auditors' remuneraƟon (refer note 36)  475  485 
Non execuƟve directors' commission and fees  1,796  1,297 
Loss on sale / discard of fixed assets    -  3 
Loss on foreign exchange fluctuaƟon (net)    -  25 
Loss on reinstatement of investment    -  4 
Postage and telephone  909  1,019 
Security charges  3,290  2,770 
Bank charges  217  189 
Miscellaneous expenses  10,219  10,765 

 1,73,493  1,84,552 

25 CONTINGENT LIABILITY & CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
(A) ConƟngent liability not provided for:
(i)  Sales tax maƩers under appeal  498  -   
(ii) Bank Guarantee (against which equivalent FDR has been lodged with 
bank)

 584  540 

(iii) The issue of payment of back wages during the period of strike / lock-
out at the Company's GuwahaƟ Unit employees effecƟve from 7 Decem-
ber 2010 to 8 March 2012 has been referred to appropriate authoriƟes. 
However, the Company, on the principle of 'No Work No Pay', has neither 
ascertained nor made any provision for payment of such wages and other 
employee benefits for the period of strike and lock out. The labour maƩer 
is currently subjudice.
(iv) The Company was compelled to declare a lock-out at its Patancheru Fac-
tory for the period from 5 December 2016 to 11 January 2017 due to lighƟng 
strike by the workmen. The Company on the principle of 'No Work No Pay' 
has neither ascertained nor made any provision for payment of wages and 
other employee benefits for the period of lockout.
(B) Capital and other commitments (to the extent not provided for)
(i) EsƟmated amount of contracts (net of advances) remaining to be execut-
ed on Capital account and not provided for

 1,589  10,015 

(ii) Other Commitments  -    5 

26 The Company has no significant foreign currency exposure as at the year end for which hedging is required.
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27 DEFERRED TAX

ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
Deferred tax assets
Provision for doubƞul receivables and advances  5,072  9,787 
Provision for employee benefits (Through PL)  7,412  7,220 
Provision for Leave Encashment / Compensated Absences  3,893  3,409 
Provision for employee benefits (Through OCI)    -  893 
Provision for Workmen ConƟngencies  2,911    - 
Provision for warranƟes  637  609 
Tax Credit  10,160  16,406 
Total  30,085  38,324 
Deferred tax liabiliƟes
Difference between wriƩen down value of fixed assets as per books of 
accounts and for tax purposes

 12,639  8,778 

Investment in Mutual Fund  175  115 
Provision for employee benefits (Through OCI)  446    - 
Total  13,260  8,893 
Deferred tax asset / (liability) [net] 16,825 29,431

During the year Deferred Tax has been recognied for the first Ɵme and the opening net Deferred Tax Assets have been adjusted 
against Retained Earning and OCI respecƟvely as on 01.04.2019.

28 EARNINGS PER SHARE

ParƟculars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
(a) Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the 
year

 27,55,600  27,55,600 

(b) Net profit / (loss) aŌer tax aƩributable to equity shareholders (Rs. 
'000)

 78,492  50,516 

(c) Basic and diluted profit / (loss) per equity share of face value Rs. 10 
(Rs.)

 28.48  18.33 

29 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

I. Post Employment Defined Benefit Plans :

 (A) Gratuity (Funded)

  The Company provides for gratuity, a defined benefit reƟrement plan covering eligible employees. As per the plan, 
the Gratuity Fund Trusts, administered and managed by the Trustees and funded primarily with Life Insurance 
CorporaƟon of India (LICI), make payment to vested employees at reƟrement, death, incapacitaƟon or terminaƟon 
of employment, of an amount based on the respecƟve employee’s salary and the tenure of employment. VesƟng 
occurs upon compleƟon of five years of service. The Trustees are responsible for the overall governance of the plan 
and to act in accordance with the provisions of the trust deed and rules in the best interests of the plan parƟcipants. 
Each year an Asset-Liability matching study is performed in which the consequences of the strategic investment 
policies are analysed in terms of risk and return profiles. Investment and contribuƟon policies are integrated within 
this study. LiabiliƟes with regard to the Gratuity Plan are determined by actuarial valuaƟon as set out in Note 1B(ii)
(4) based upon which, the Company makes contribuƟons to the Employees’ Gratuity Funds.

  The following table sets forth the parƟculars in respect of the Gratuity Plan (Funded) of the Company: 
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31 March 2020 31 March 2019
(a) ReconciliaƟon of opening and closing balances of the present 

value of the Defined Benefit ObligaƟon :
Present value of obligaƟon at the beginning of the year                  60,929                    54,431 
Current service cost                    2,823                      3,328 
Interest cost                    3,818                      3,908 
Remeasurement Losses
Actuarial losses arising from changes in financial assumpƟons                    3,043                         871 
Actuarial losses arising from changes in experience adjustments                   (6,707)                      2,090 
Benefits paid                    5,266                      3,699 
Present value of obligaƟon at the end of the year                  58,640                    60,929 

(b) ReconciliaƟon of opening and closing balances of the fair value 
of Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year                  31,767                    31,384 
Interest income                    2,081                      2,332 
Remeasurement Gains
Return on plan assets                        137                       (250)
ContribuƟon from employer                    6,000                      2,000 
Benefits paid                    5,266                      3,699 
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year                  34,719                    31,767 

(c) ReconciliaƟon of the present value of the defined benefit 
obligaƟon and the fair value of plan assets
Present value of obligaƟon at the end of the year                  58,640                    60,929 
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year                  34,719                    31,767 
LiabiliƟes recognised in the balance sheet                  23,921                    29,162 

(d) Actual Return on plan assets                    2,218                      2,082 
(e) Expense recognised in the other comprehensive income

Remeasurement losses / gain                   (3,801)                      3,211 
(f) Expenses recognised in Profit or Loss

Service and Interest cost                    4,561                      4,904 
(g) Category of plan assets

Funded with LIC 100% 100%
(h) Maturity profile of defined benefit obligaƟon

Within 1 year                    8,400 11,226
1-2 years                    4,324 5,558
2-5 years                  23,604 21,117

(i) Principal acturial assumpƟons
Discount Rate 6.55% 7.43%
Salary growth rate 8% 8%

AssumpƟons regarding future mortality experience are based on mortality tables of ‘Indian Assured Lives Mortality (2006-2008) 
UlƟmate’ published by the InsƟtute of Actuaries of India. The esƟmate of future salary increases takes into account inflaƟon, 
seniority, promoƟon and other relevant factors, such as demand and supply in the employment market.
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Changes in 
assumpƟon

Impact on defined 
benefit obligaƟon

31 March 2020

Impact on defined 
benefit obligaƟon

31 March 2019
(j) SensiƟvity analysis

Discount rate Increase by 0.5 % Decrease by 
Rs. 1,764

Decrease by 
Rs. 1,888

Decrease by 0.5 % Increase by 
Rs. 1865

Increase by 
Rs. 1997

Salary growth rate Increase by 0.5 % Increase by 
Rs. 1,822

Increase by 
Rs. 1,968

Decrease by 0.5 % Decrease by 
Rs. 1,742

Decrease by 
Rs. 1,879

The above sensiƟvity analyses are based on a change in an assumpƟon while holding all other assumpƟons constant. 
In pracƟce, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumpƟons may be correlated. When calculaƟng the 
sensiƟvity of the defined benefit obligaƟon to significant actuarial assumpƟons, the same method (present value of the 
defined benefit obligaƟon calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporƟng period) has been 
applied as when calculaƟng the defined benefit obligaƟon recognised in the Balance Sheet.   
  
The methods and types of assumpƟons used in preparing the sensiƟvity analysis did not change compared to the prior 
periods.     

(k) The company expects to contribute Rs. 7,500 the funded gratuity plan during the next financial year.

(B) Provident fund
 ContribuƟons towards provident funds are recognised as expense for the year. The Company has set up Provident Fund 

Trusts in respect of certain categories of employees which are administered by Trustees. Both the employees and the 
Company make monthly contribuƟons to the Funds at specified percentage of the employee’s salary and aggregate 
contribuƟons along with interest thereon are paid to the employees/nominees at reƟrement, death or cessaƟon of 
employment. The Trusts invest funds following a paƩern of investments prescribed by the Government. The interest rate 
payable to the members of the Trusts is not lower than the rate of interest declared annually by the Government under 
The Employees’ Provident Funds and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952 and shorƞall, if any, on account of interest is to 
be made good by the Company.

 In view of the Company’s obligaƟon to meet shorƞall, if any, on account of interest, Provident Fund trusts set up by the 
Company are treated as defined benefit plans.

 During the year, the Company’s contribuƟon of Rs. 7,664 (Previous year – Rs. 6,733) to the Provident Fund Trusts has been 
expensed under the ‘ContribuƟon to Provident and Other Funds’ in Note 23. 

II. Post Employment Defined ContribuƟon Plans
 SuperannuaƟon Fund
 Certain categories of employees of the Company parƟcipate in superannuaƟon, a defined contribuƟon plan administered 

by the Trustees. The Company makes quarterly contribuƟons based on a specified percentage of each covered employee’s 
salary. The Company has no further obligaƟons under the plan beyond its annual contribuƟons.

III. Leave ObligaƟons
 The Company provides for accumulaƟon of leave by certain categories of its employees. These employees can carry 

forward a porƟon of the unuƟlised leave balances and uƟlise it in future periods or receive cash (only in case of earned 
leave) in lieu thereof as per the Company’s policy. The Company records a provision for leave obligaƟons in the period in 
which the employee renders the services that increases this enƟtlement.

 The total provision recorded by the Company towards this obligaƟon was Rs.13,370 (as at 31 March, 2019 Rs. 12,252). The 
amount of the provision is current, since the Company does not have an uncondiƟonal right to defer seƩlement for any of 
these obligaƟons. However, based on past experience, the Company does not expect all employees to take the full amount 
of accrued leave or require payment within the next 12 months. Rs. 11,939 is not expected to be taken or paid within the 
next 12 months and shown under Non-current porƟon.
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IV. Risk Exposure
 Through its defined benefit plans, the Company is exposed to some risks, the most significant of which are detailed below:
 Discount Rate Risk
 The Company is exposed to the risk of fall in discount rate. A fall in discount rate will eventually increase the ulƟmate cost 

of providing the above benefit thereby increasing the value of the liability.
 Salary Growth Risks
 The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the future salaries of plan parƟcipants. 

An increase in the salary of the plan parƟcipants will increase the plan liability.
 Demographic Risk
 In the valuaƟon of the liability, certain demographic (mortality and aƩriƟon rates) assumpƟons are made. The Company 

is exposed to this risk to the extent of actual experience eventually being worse compared to the assumpƟons thereby 
causing an increase in the benefit cost.

30 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES :

(a) Related parƟes (where control exists)
 None      

(b) Persons having significant influence over the Company
 Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka, Chairman 
 Mrs. Anita Himatsingka
 Ms. Maalika Himatsingka
 Mr. Shaurya Veer Himatsingka      
(c) Key Management Personnel
 Mr. K. K. BhaƩacharya, Managing Director
 Mr. Pijush Bysack, Chief Financial Officer
 Mr. Subhendhu Chakraborty, Company Secretary & Compliance Office

(d) Company / EnƟty in which Director is interested as Director
 India Carbon Limited
 Assam Plywood Limited
 BudgeBudge Carbon Limited
 Manav Kalyan Trust      
(e) Related parƟes and Key Management Personnel with whom there have been transacƟons during the year:

Name of the party Nature of relaƟonship Commission RemuneraƟon 
paid

Borrowings Interest Siƫng Fees Receivable/
(payable) at 

year end
Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka Chairman           1,090                   -                    -                    -                150       (97,153)
Mrs. Anita Himatsingka Director                  -                     -                    -                    -                  88                  -   
Ms. Maalika Himatsingka Director                  -                     -                    -                    -                  40                  -   
Mr. K. K. BhaƩacharjee Key management personnel                  -              1,131                  -                    -                    -                    -   
Mr. Pijush Bysack Key management personnel                  -              1,755                  -                    -                    -                    -   
Mr. Subhendu Chakraborty Key management personnel                  -                  642                  -                    -                    -                    -   
Assam Plywood Limited Related Company                  -                     -                    -             2,700                  -         (23,104)
BudgeBudge Carbon Limited Related Company                  -                     -                    -             2,040                  -         (17,456)
 Total           1,090            3,528                  -             4,740              278 -
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 Related parƟes and Key Management Personnel with whom there have been transacƟons during the previous year:

Name of the party Nature of relaƟonship Commission RemuneraƟon 
paid

Borrowings Interest Siƫng Fees Receivable/
(payable) at 

year end
Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka Chairman               634                   -                    -                    -                 196     (1,31,761)
Mrs. Anita Himatsingka Director                  -                     -                    -                    -                 168                  -   
Ms. Maalika Himatsingka Director                  -                     -                    -                    -                   40                  -   
Mr. K. K. BhaƩacharjee Key management personnel                  -                1,062                  -                    -                    -                    -   
Mr. Pijush Bysack Key management personnel                  -                1,669                  -                    -                    -                    -   
Mr. Subhendu Chakraborty Key management personnel                  -                   587                  -                    -                    -                    -   
Assam Plywood Limited Related Company                  -                     -            22,500               130                  -          (22,617)
BudgeBudge Carbon Limited Related Company                  -                     -            17,000               249                  -          (17,224)
 Total               634              3,318          39,500               379               404 -

(f) The Company has purchased raw materials from India Carbon Limited amounƟng to Rs. 138 (Previous Year - Rs. 700) 
and sold finished products of Rs. 125 (Previous Year - Rs. 784). The Company has further provided an amount of Rs. 200 
(Previous Year - Rs. NIL) on account of Rent for office space and Travelling Expenses of Rs. 13 (Previous Year - Rs. NIL). The 
balance outstanding as at 31 Mar 2020 was Rs. 366 (As at 31 Mar 2019 - Rs. NIL). 

(g) The Company has paid an amount of Rs. 821 (Previous year Rs. 200) to Manav Kalyan Trust under Corporate Social 
Responsibility AcƟviƟes.

31 DETAILS OF INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS

Class of goods 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
MG and SG carbon blocks  56  193 
Electrical carbon brushes  15,634  8,526 
Machined and special carbon components  5,692  4,871 
ISO-Graphite components  57  159 
Total  21,439  13,749 

32 DETAILS OF INVENTORIES OF TRADED GOODS

Class of goods 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
Trading Brush  93  85 
Commutator maintenance accessories  583  707 
Total  676  792 

33 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

For the purposes of the Company’s capital management, capital includes issued capital, all other equity reserves and long term 
as well as short term borrowed capital less reported cash and cash equivalents.
The primary objecƟve of the Company’s capital management is to maintain an efficient capital structure to reduce the cost of 
capital, support the corporate strategy and to maximise shareholder’s value. 
The Company’s policy is to manage the liquidity primarily out of internal accruals. The Company also maintains certain non-
fund based faciliƟes to provide addiƟonal liquidity. These faciliƟes, together with cash generated from operaƟons are uƟlised 
for operaƟons of the Company.
The Company monitors capital on the basis of cost of capital. 
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34 CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Set out below, is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Company’s financial instruments :

 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19
Carrying 

Value
Fair 

Value
Carrying 

Value
Fair 

Value
A. Financial Assets
a. Measured at amorƟsed cost

Cash & Cash Equivalents  13,829  13,829  8,834  8,834 
Trade Receivables  1,18,604  1,18,604  1,58,070  1,58,070 
Other Financial assets  32,794  32,794  19,999  19,999 

Sub Total  1,65,227  1,65,227  1,86,903  1,86,903 
b. Measured at fair value through Profit & Loss

Investment in Mutual Fund  3,602  3,602  3,412  3,412 
Sub Total  3,602  3,602  3,412  3,412 
Total Financial Assets  1,68,829  1,68,829  1,90,315  1,90,315 

B. Financial LiabiliƟes
a. Measured at amorƟsed cost

Borrowings  59,500  59,500  49,500  49,500 
Trade Payables  30,917  30,917  29,198  29,198 
Other Financial LiabiliƟes  1,51,359  1,51,359  1,87,124  1,87,124 

Sub Total  2,41,776  2,41,776  2,65,822  2,65,822 
Total Financial LiabiliƟes  2,41,776  2,41,776  2,65,822  2,65,822 

The management assessed that cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables, other financial assets and other 
financial liabiliƟes approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturiƟes of these instruments.

35 FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to iniƟal recogniƟon at fair 
value, grouped into Level 1 to Level 3, as described below:

Quoted prices in an acƟve market (Level 1): This level of hierarchy includes financial assets that are measured by reference to 
quoted prices (unadjusted) in acƟve markets for idenƟcal assets or liabiliƟes. This category consists of investment in quoted 
equity shares, and mutual fund investments.

ValuaƟon techniques with observable inputs (Level 2): This level of hierarchy includes financial assets and liabiliƟes, measured 
using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as 
prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). This level of hierarchy does not include any instrument.

ValuaƟon techniques with significant unobservable inputs (Level 3): This level of hierarchy includes financial assets and liabiliƟes 
measured using inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). Fair values are determined in 
whole or in part, using a valuaƟon model based on assumpƟons that are neither supported by prices from observable current 
market transacƟons in the same instrument nor are they based on available market data.
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 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19
Level I Level III Level I Level III

A. Financial Assets
Cash & Cash Equivalents  -    13,829  -    8,834 
Trade Receivables  -    1,18,604  -    1,58,070 
Other Financial Assets  -    32,794  -    19,999 
Investment in Mutual Funds  3,602  -    3,412  -   

Total Financial Assets  3,602  1,65,227  3,412  1,86,903 
B. Financial LiabiliƟes

Borrowings  -    59,500  -    49,500 
Trade Payables  -    30,917  -    29,198 
Other Financial LiabiliƟes  -    1,51,359  -    1,87,124 

Total Financial LiabiliƟes  -    2,41,776  -    2,65,822 

36 AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION INCLUDES:

31 Mar 2020 31 Mar 2019
(a)  Statutory audit fees  375  375 
(b)  Limited Reviews  30  30 
(c)  CerƟficaƟon and Other assignments  70  80 

 475  485 

37. IncenƟve declared by the Government of India to eligible Industrial units under Central Excise towards refund of excise 
duty paid through PLA (Current Account) on finished products vide NoƟficaƟon No. 32/1999-CE dated 8 July 1999 
(as amended) was reduced from 100% to 36% during 2008. Being aggrieved by such reducƟon in the Excise benefit, 
some of the beneficiaries approached the Court of Law. ThereaŌer Hon’ble GauhaƟ High Court had passed judgment 
for full refund of excise duty in terms of the original noƟficaƟon. The Hon’ble Supreme Court vide its Order dated 
22nd April, 2020 has decided the cases in favour of the Revenue by seƫng aside the judgement of the GauhaƟ High 
Court. Refund of 50% of the differenƟal amount, which comes to Rs. 15829 (Actual figure Rupees One Crore FiŌy 
Eight Lakh Twenty Nine Thousand Four Hundred and FiŌy One only), was received by the Company on furnishing 
solvent surety in pursuance of interim Order dated 7th December, 2015 of the Apex Court. As per the said judgment 
of the Hon’ble Supreme Court it has also been made clear that the pending refund applicaƟons shall be decided as 
per the subsequent noƟficaƟons/industrial policies which were impugned before the respecƟve High Courts.
The Company is in the process of filing a Review PeƟƟon, challenging the said Order of the Hon’ble Supreme Court dated 
22.04.2020. Thus, Ɵll the final conclusion is drawn, 50% of the differenƟal amount received, as above, will conƟnue to be 
treated as Other Financial LiabiliƟes and cost, if any, associated with the said refund will be considered in these accounts 
on finality. (Note 15)

38. Hon’ble Supreme Court vide its judgement dated 10th November,2017 allowed the appeal filed by an aggrieved assessee 
and held that the appellant was enƟtled to refund of EducaƟon Cess and Higher EducaƟon Cess which was paid along with 
excise duty as the excise duty itself was exempted from levy. Accordingly, a refund of Rs. 1993 was granted to the Company 
during the financial year 2018-19, which was considered as Other Income in the Balance Sheet of the said financial year. 
Hon’ble Supreme Court vide its Judgement dated 06th December, 2019 in another case held that when a parƟcular kind 
of duty is exempted, other types of duty or cess imposed by different legislaƟon for a different purpose cannot be said 
to have been exempted and therefore, has over ruled the above Judgement dated 10th November,2017. Pursuant to this 
judgement the Company has now recognized liability of Rs.1993 on account of EducaƟon Cess and Higher EducaƟon Cess, 
which was earlier refunded during the financial year 2018-19 by reversal of Income and charging it off as expense in this 
year’s accounts. Other costs associated with this, being indeterminate, will be considered in these accounts on finality.
A further refund of Rs. 421 was received during the financial year 2019-20 which was also recognised as a liability.
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39. During the last quarter of the financial year, lockdown was declared as per the direcƟves of both the Central and 
State Governments in the wake of COVID-19 pandemic. Consequently, our manufacturing operaƟons at GuwahaƟ 
in Assam and at Patancheru in Telengana has been adversely impacted due to such lockdown during the period 
from 23.03.2020 to 31.03.2020. The operaƟons have since commenced in a phased manner since May’2020 
conforming to the guidelines of regulatory authoriƟes. The Company has been taking various precauƟonary measures 
to protect employees and their families from COVID-19. Our sales and profitability were adversely impacted 
due to the current global pandemic as demand has slowed down and prices are under pressure. In addiƟon, 
costs have gone up on all fronts, as well as directly on account of necessary arrangements to tackle COVID-19.
In light of the current global pandemic, the Company has considered the possible effects that may result from COVID-19 
on the carrying amounts of financial assets, inventory, receivables, advances, property plant and equipment, Intangibles, 
etc. as well as liabiliƟes accrued. Having reviewed the underlying data and based on current esƟmates, the Company 
expects the carrying amount of these assets will be recovered and there is no significant impact on liabiliƟes accrued. The 
impact of COVID-19 on the Company’s financial statements may differ from that esƟmated as at the date of approval of 
these financial statements and the Company will conƟnue to closely monitor any material changes to future economic 
condiƟons.

40 EXPENDITURE ON CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY ΈCSRΉ :

For the year ended 
31 Mar 2020

For the year ended 
31 Mar 2019

(a) Gross amount required to be spent  1,120  792 
(b) Amount spent :
(i)  ConstrucƟon / acquisiƟon of any asset  -    -   
(ii) On purpose other than (i) above  1,181  1,000 
(c) AdministraƟve Expenses  -    -   

41. Figures of the previous year have been re-arranged / regrouped wherever necessary in order to conform to the current 
year’s classificaƟon.

42. In order to expand the operaƟons of the Company and to explore the prospects of its products in the foreign markets, the 
Company incorporated a Wholly Owned Subsidiary Company in United Kingdom during the year ended 31st March 2020 in 
the name and style of Assam Carbon Products UK Limited (ACUK). The Company  has agreed to subscribe to the enƟre share 
capital of the ACUK comprising of 100 ordinary shares of £1 each at the Ɵme of incorporaƟon. Pending opening of the Bank 
Account and in view of the prevailing pandemic (Covid-19), the Company was unable to remit GBP 100 towards subscripƟon 
of the equity shares of ACUK. Also, ACUK was unable to commence any acƟvity and has not entered into any transacƟon 
since incorporaƟon. Further, the COVID-19 pandemic, apart from the health hazard, created an unprecedented disrupƟon 
to the Indian as well as world economy. Due to the uncertainƟes surrounding the business environment and also due to travel 
restricƟons, ACUK may not be able to commence the commercial operaƟons in the near future. The Board has, therefore, 
resolved vide its meeƟng dated 25.06.20, elected to treat the ACUK as a “dormant company” under the UK Company Law.  
In view of the above and since no investment (financial commitment) was made as on 31st March 2020, the Company was 
not required to prepare consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020.
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43. The income-tax expenses for the year can be reconcilied to the accounƟng profit as follows :

For the year ended 
31 Mar 2020

For the year ended 
31 Mar 2019

Profit before tax  1,07,968  63,411 
Income tax expenses calculated @ 29.12% (2019 - 20.39%)  31,440  12,930 
Impact of DepreciaƟon Difference between Income-tax and Accounts  (2,079)  (1,398)
Impact of employee benefit provisions, not funded  (93)  1,763 
Impact of Bad Debt provisions and bad debts wriƩen off  (5,171)  -   
Impact of Bonus provisions and payments  417  32 
Impact of MAT credit taken  (6,246)  (432)
Impact of Other Adjustments  (59)  -   
Total  18,209  12,895 
Adjustment recognised in the current year in relaƟon to the deferred 
tax

 11,267  -   

Income tax recognised in Profit & Loss  29,476  12,895 
    

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March, 2020 (Contd.)
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As per our report of even date attached 
For D. Basu & Co. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
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Ashis Ranjan Maitra Rakesh Himatsingka K. K. Bhattacharya S. K. Lhila
Partner Chairman Managing Director Director
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Place: Kolkata Subhendu Chakraborty Pijush Bysack
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